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You’ll notice our teams physically distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic throughout 
this report. Some of the images featured were taken prior to the COVID pandemic. 

Midwest Community Alcohol and Drug Service.
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The WA Country Health Service acknowledges the Aboriginal people of the many traditional lands and language groups of Western Australia.  
We acknowledge the wisdom of Aboriginal Elders past and present and pay respect to Aboriginal communities of today.

Within Western Australia, the term Aboriginal is used in preference to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander, in recognition that Aboriginal people are  
the original inhabitants of Western Australia. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander may be referred to in the national context and Indigenous may be  
referred to in the international context. No disrespect is intended to our Torres Strait Islander colleagues and community.

Aboriginal people should be aware that this publication may contain images or names of deceased persons in photographs or printed material.
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Hon Roger Cook MLA
Minister for Health

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby  
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of 
the WA Country Health Service for the reporting period ended 30 June 2020.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.

Statement of compliance
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

About this report
This annual report describes the performance and operation of the  
WA Country Health Service during 2019–20. The report has been  
prepared according to parliamentary reporting and legislative 
requirements and is arranged as follows:
• Overview
 An introduction to the WA Country Health Service vision, reports by our  

Chair and Chief Executive and key highlights from 2019-20.

• Governance
 Information about our structure, legislative environment, Board and  

Executive members.

• Agency performance
	 Summarises	our	performance	against	agreed	financial	and	service	delivery	

outcomes.	This	section	includes	financial	statements	and	key	performance	
indicators along with clinical performance information.

•	 Significant	issues
	 Key	issues	for	the	WA	Country	Health	Service	this	financial	year.

• Disclosure and compliance
	 Reports	on	governance,	public	accountability,	financial	management,	

information management, people management and equity and diversity.

• Appendices
 Additional information and data to supplement the report.

Landscape photographs: Courtesy of Tourism Western Australia.

Dr Neale Fong
Board Chair
WA Country Health Service
25 September 2020

Mr Alan Ferris
Board Member 
WA Country Health Service
25 September 2020
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Our	finalists	for	the	WA	Nursing	and	Midwifery	Excellence	Awards	2020.
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On behalf of myself and the WA Country Health 
Service Board, I am extremely proud to present 
the WA Country Health Service 2019-20 Annual 
Report. It has been a year that has presented 
unprecedented challenges for healthcare in 
Western Australia and throughout the world. 
The commitment and investment we have made in the 
implementation of digital technology, including in telehealth 
and service delivery coordination has assisted us in 
meeting these challenges at each step of the way.

Our organisational values of innovation and curiosity have 
driven advancements in digital health technologies and we 
have	seen	the	benefits	of	this	focus	realised.	We	are	
fortunate to be building upon an already well-developed 
foundation in telehealth, being delivered via the extensive 
infrastructure program progressed over the past decade of 
investment in country hospitals. 

Throughout 2019-20 Board members and I have been 
fortunate to share in the remarkable work our staff do 
every day as we continue our regional engagement across 

the state. We have seen the 
absolute best of our health service 
in our immediate response to 
ensuring service continuity 
throughout the pandemic to date, 
but also in assisting our 
counterparts across the state and 
the country in their time of need. 

I wish to thank my colleagues on 
the Board in 2019-20 - Ms Wendy 
Newman our Deputy Chair, and Board members:  
Mr Alan Ferris; Mr Paul Fitzpatrick; Dr Daniel Heredia;  
Ms Kelly Howlett; Dr Kim Isaacs; Dr Diane Mohen;  
Mrs Mary Anne Stephens; Ms Meredith Waters and 
outgoing member this year Mr Michael Hardy. We all 
share in thanking all of the WA Country Health Service 
staff, and especially our leadership teams led by  
Chief Executive Jeff Moffet, who have worked hard  
behind the scenes and on the frontline this year.

In closing, I would also like to thank the communities and 
our service partners in regional and remote Western 
Australia for their ongoing support in delivering the very 
best healthcare to country communities.

Dr Neale Fong
Board Chair

Foreword
Board Chair, Dr Neale Fong

Board Chair Dr Neale Fong, with Board member Mary Anne Stephens and members of the Executive, visiting with the 
Country Health Connection team.
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The WA Country Health Service has a workforce 
of thousands of dedicated and professional 
people who deliver healthcare every hour of 
every day. The developments throughout 2019-20 
have shone a light on the vital role our services 
play in maintaining the health and wellbeing of 
country communities. The innovation, leadership 
and commitment to service that our staff have 
demonstrated from all corners of our vast state is 
testament to the values that we live by.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations 
throughout 2019-20 and going forward cannot be 

understated.	We	continue	to	test,	refine	and	enhance	our	
preparedness plans across all sites to ensure we are 
able to respond appropriately should the need arise here 
in Western Australia. In this year’s Annual Report we 
have outlined just a handful of the innovative programs 
and initiatives we have put in place throughout the year 
and more recently throughout the pandemic response.
In 2019 we formally launched our Command Centre;  
an innovative approach to integrating our telehealth 
services to improve safety, quality and access to 
specialist care for country people. As you will read in this 
report, we have made innovation and digital services 
support a key focus and the Command Centre has 
played a key part in this.
Whilst in this report we celebrate staff awarded formal 
accolades, we know that thousands of our colleagues 
are working to deliver patient centred care every day.  
At the 2019 WA Health Excellence Awards we were 
proud	to	see	the	Goldfields	Population	Health	team	take	
out Category three, Achieving better health outcomes for 
Aboriginal people with their project: ‘Screening and 
Treating Young Aboriginal Children for Ear Disease.’ 
They have been reducing the instances of ear disease in 
Aboriginal children by offering ear health screenings as 
along with childhood immunisation.
Similarly, the Bunbury Chronic Care Coordination Service 
team was awarded in the category Developing 
sustainable solutions for out-of-hospital healthcare with 
their project: ‘Improving the Delivery of Care for Patients 
with Chronic Conditions,’ which aims to help patients with 
chronic conditions to remain healthier and avoid the need 
to visit hospital.

Among the many staff who  
have received personal 
recognition throughout the year,  
I congratulate Kylie Bosich, 
Director of WA Country Health 
Service’s Command Centre, who 
was announced as the winner of 
the Jill Porteous Memorial Award 
for Safety and Quality. 
I also extend my congratulations 
to our team in the Kimberley for 
their innovative program that brought young people and 
Elders from Fitzroy Crossing together and resulted in a 
hip-hop song about suicide prevention. This has won a 
top Australasian mental health award. The WA Country 
Health Service-led ‘Standing Strong’ program was also 
awarded in the category of Mental Health Promotion or 
Mental Illness Prevention at the annual Mental Health 
Service Awards of Australia and New Zealand.
In closing, our teams regionally have enjoyed engaging 
with our Board members and highlighting the services, 
facilities and rewards of delivering health services in the 
country and discussing the key challenges and 
opportunities we face in these communities. We look 
forward to continuing these conversations in 2020-21 
and beyond.

Jeffrey Moffet
Chief Executive

Foreword
Chief Executive, Jeffrey Moffet

Jeff Moffet with the Minister for Health and Puntukurnu Aboriginal 
Medical Service (PAMS) staff at the opening of the new PAMS clinic 
in Newman. (L-R Des Martin, ACHWA CEO, Margi Faulkner 
Regional Director WACHS Pilbara, Jeff Moffet Chief Executive 
WACHS, Melvin Farmer PAMS Chair, Lyn Craigie East Pilbara Shire 
President, Robby Chibawe PAMS CEO, Hon Roger Cook MLA, Chris 
Cottier, Manager Communities WA BHP, Mr Kevin Michel MLA).
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It’s our privilege to provide outstanding, patient 
centred healthcare to people living in country WA, 
and to be the ones who regional communities 
trust to take care of them in times of need.  
WA Country Health Service employs more than 
10,000 people working across more than 100 
facilities, ranging from regional centres to small 
health centres in some of WA’s most remote and 
sparsely populated towns.
In 2019-20, our teams across the state provided quality 
healthcare to over 400,000 emergency patients, 
facilitated more than 130,000 hospital admissions and 
discharges and helped to deliver over 4,500 babies. 

We know that providing the best possible health care 
doesn’t just impact on people’s day-to-day health.  
It also has a positive impact on the economic and 
social sustainability of our country communities. 

Access to quality healthcare can be a major factor 
affecting people’s decision to live in regional WA.  
It can also mean the difference between life and death 
for tourists and travellers who run into trouble. 

We are often the largest employer in most of the towns 
in which we operate and we take seriously our 

responsibility to the communities of which we are  
a part.

Our commitment to providing the best possible 
healthcare	can	be	seen	in	the	significant	achievements	
we are proud to acknowledge in 2019-20. 

Executive summary
WA Country Health Service at a glance

In 2019-20, our teams  
across the state provided  
quality healthcare to over  
400,000 emergency patients.
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EMERGENCY AND 
HOSPITAL SERVICES

DRUG AND 
ALCOHOL SERVICES

POPULATION AND 
PUBLIC HEALTHCARE

CHILD, COMMUNITY 
AND SCHOOL 
HEALTHCARE

ABORIGINAL 
HEALTH SERVICES

EMERGENCY 
TELEHEALTH 

SERVICE

 MENTAL HEALTH 
SERVICES

RESIDENTIAL AND 
COMMUNITY AGED 

CARE SERVICES

WHAT WE PROVIDE
Our services span across an area of more than 2.5 million square kilometres, from Kalumburu  
in the Kimberley to Albany in the Great Southern providing: 



From nursing posts and outreach services, to 
child health clinics and bustling regional 
hospitals, the WA Country Health Service 
plays an important role in the lives of people in 
country communities.  

Across the state we have six large regional 
hospitals, 15 medium sized district hospitals and  
48 small hospitals. Along with this there are  
31 health centres and nursing posts, four dedicated 
mental health inpatient units and 24 dedicated 
mental health services which also provide outreach 
services to more remote locations, and over  
170 other facilities where population health teams 
are based.

According to the latest available Australian Bureau 
of Statistics Estimated Resident Population data 
(2018), the population of our catchment area is 
530,802 people. Almost 11 per cent of these people 
(57,215) identify as Aboriginal.

The population we service is diverse and 
geographically dispersed and as a result has widely 
varying health needs. People living in rural and 
remote areas experience poorer general health 
than those in metropolitan areas and 
Aboriginal health and life expectancy  
is	significantly	lower	than	that	of	 
non-Aboriginal people.

Government funding and some industry 
investment over recent years has brought 
about a transformation of country 
healthcare through major and minor capital 
works. More towns now have contemporary 
infrastructure including expanded hospitals, 
greater emergency service capacity and 
more modern facilities and equipment. 
Coupled with technological and service 
innovations such as Telehealth, the  
WA Country Health Service is now delivering 
health care closer to home for more country 
Western Australians than ever before.

Note: See Appendix 3 for Data Sources

Executive summary
WA Country Health Service at a glance

Esperance

Kununurra

Halls Creek

Karratha

Busselton
Narrogin

PERTH
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In 2019, 

130,900+ 
HOSPITAL STAYS, 
of which 29% were  
Aboriginal people

13,990+ 
patients seen in 2019-20 

who were on the 
ELECTIVE SURGERY 

WAITING LIST

4,517 
BABIES BORN 
in country 
hospitals in 2019

During 2019-20 

404,771 times 
PEOPLE WERE TREATED in a 
country emergency department. 
Equivalent to 1108 people a day

474,524 
OUTPATIENT 

APPOINTMENTS 
ATTENDED 

in 2019-20



On behalf of the WA Country 
Health Service, we say thank 
you to our nurses and midwives 
for your leadership, innovation 
and dedication to people across 
country Western Australia and 
we join in your celebration of 
the International Year of the 
Nurse and Midwife.
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Country nurses  
celebrated

Est. 1869 Price   6d

ILLUSTRATED WEEKLY NEWSPAPER

Nurses and midwives play a vital 
role in providing health services in 
country Western Australia. They 
have been at the frontline from the 
early days of the gold rush, cared 
for injured soldiers in times of war, 
have been at the forefront of our 
response to emergencies such as 
bushfires,	cyclones	and	pandemics.	
Making up almost half of the WA Country 
Health Service workforce, our nurses and 
midwives	are	often	the	first	point	of	care	
for regional and remote communities. 

Our dedicated nurses and midwives are 
highly professional people who, throughout 
the history of country healthcare, have 
championed clinical innovation and 
modelled agility in times of great 
challenge. This year particularly, we have 
seen leadership displayed by our frontline 
staff and the considerable impact they 
have on the health and vitality of our 
country communities. 

Our staff have gone above and beyond 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic with 
many willing to be deployed at short notice 
to other locations throughout country WA 
to ensure that local communities can seek 
medical assistance at a time where 

maintaining their health and wellbeing is 
more crucial than ever.  Even for those 
staff not deployed elsewhere, home sites 
and teams have stepped up in the 
absence of their redeployed colleagues 
and demonstrated a spirit of collaboration 
we are proud of.

In 2020 the world celebrates the 
International Year of the Nurse and 
Midwife. The celebration coincides with the 
200th anniversary of the birth of Florence 
Nightingale	and	recognises	the	significant	
contribution that nurses and midwives 
make to the experience of care we receive 
at the beginning of life, at the end of life 
and on our journey in between.

Coolgardie Hospital staff, 1897. (Hobbs, V. 1980).

Graduates of Government Hospital Kalgoorlie, 1937. (Hobbs, V. 1980) 

INTERNATIONAL YEAR OF THE NURSE AND MIDWIFE

International Year of the Nurse and Midwife

The early Coolgardie Hospital, 1894. (Hobbs, V. 1980)



Country nurses celebrated
Est. 1869 Price   6d

ILLUSTRATED WEEKLY NEWSPAPER

INTERNATIONAL YEAR OF THE NURSE AND MIDWIFE

Tara Lambert and Michele Lambert at the Bunbury 
COVID Clinic, 2020.

For more information about the nurses featured here see Appendix 3
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Andrea Rieusset, Nurse Practitioner with Klade 
Thomas at Fitzroy Crossing, 2018. 

Pearl Ashwin (now 
Baumgarten), 
Meekatharra Hospital, 
1958. This photo was 
taken shortly after Pearl 
was awarded the Daisy 
Bates Award for Civic 
Achievement. Pearl 
worked as a Nurse’s 
Assistant in Meekatharra 
and worked at Carnarvon 
Hospital. Pearl came 
home to Meekatharra 
late in her life to be 
cared for on country. 
SLWA BA368/6/275 

Matron of the 21st Australian General Hospital at 
Merredin, Major E. A Fall (left) and Captain E. B. 
in front of the Office of the Matron In Charge, 
1943. AWM 053101

Nurses quarters Coolgardie Hospital, 1898. 
(Hobbs, V. 1980) 

Nurses arrive by train from Perth at the Merredin Army Hospital 
Site, 1943. The 21st Australian General Hospital was relocated 
from Gaza Ridge near Tobruck to Merredin to care for injured 
and recuperating soldiers. Located in Merredin for strategic 
reasons and because a reliable supply of fresh water was 
available. AWM 052742

Sister McPherson with the 
landrover in which she drove 
from Perth to Fitzroy Crossing 
(date unknown). NAA A1200, 
L54090

Geraldton midwives Hamish Darby and Bradley 
Mackintosh with new arrival Olivar Foster, 2019.

Halls Creek nursing and administration staff, 1989. 
SLWA BA1343/8/7



Executive summary
Connecting care to country WA
Rapidly changing technology 
creates new opportunities to 
drastically improve health care, 
particularly in country WA where 
vast distances, smaller populations 
and diverse community needs create 
unique challenges for healthcare 
provision. 
In 2019 we launched our Command 
Centre which brings together new and 
existing emergency and specialty 
services in a 24/7 virtual clinical hub. 
Using videoconferencing and high-tech 
information technologies, the Command 
Centre is expanding the range of timely 

specialist advice and support available 
to frontline clinicians caring for country 
patients. 

The award winning Command Centre,  
a WA Country Health Service Digital 
Innovation Strategy priority, delivers a 
digitally	enabled,	flexible	and	dedicated	
specialist clinical workforce available to 
WA Country Health Service hospitals 
and nursing posts in real-time, 
supporting country doctors and nurses, 
improving outcomes for patients and 
keeping care closer to home.

Emergency 
Telehealth 

Service
Supports WA’s country 
doctors and nurses 
caring for patients by 
providing 24/7 access 
to specialist 
emergency clinicians 
by videoconference.

Acute Specialist 
Telehealth 

Service
Provides country 
clinicians and their 
patients with access to 
a range of specialists 
using three-way 
videoconferencing 
facilities.

Acute Patient 
Transport 

Coordination
A coordination centre 
that oversees safe, 
timely and efficient 
patient transport to and 
from regional and 
metropolitan hospitals 
for admitted country 
patients. 

Advanced Patient  
Monitoring  

System
A monitoring centre that 
uses advanced 
technologies and real-time 
information to support 
doctors and nurses in 
detecting and responding 
to unwell patients in 
country hospitals and 
nursing posts.  

Inpatient  
Telehealth 

Service
Provides virtual ward 
rounds to patients 
admitted to our country 
hospitals when the 
local GP is unavailable.

Mental Health
Emergency 

Telehealth Service
Provides WA country 
doctors and nurses with 
access to specialist 
mental health nurses 
and psychiatrists, to 
assist in caring for 
people presenting to 
our hospitals and 
nursing posts.

The Command Centre 
brings together new and 
existing emergency and 
specialty services in a  
24/7 virtual clinical hub.

WA Country Health Service Command Centre staff with their AIM Pinnacle Award for 
Innovation Excellence. 
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To read about the groundbreaking 
new WA Country Health Service 
Command Centre - click here

http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/fileadmin/sections/publications/Publications_by_topic_type/Corporate_documents/WACHS_Strategic_Plan_2019-24.PDF
http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/index.php?id=commandcentre


Emergency Telehealth Service impacts 115,000 lives

115,000 people – that’s how many 
people have accessed care via our 
Emergency Telehealth Service since 
the	service	was	first	established	in	
2012.

The Emergency Telehealth Service has 
assisted on the ground clinicians to treat 
115,000 people across 82 sites. Patients 
who	find	themselves	in	emergency	and	
often life-threatening situations are able 
to access specialist care in a matter of 
seconds	via	high	definition	
videoconferencing technology. 

The service has grown by over  
20 per cent in recent years with almost 
100 clinicians who have experience 
working in country locations now 
engaged to provide services through our 
Command Centre. 

Many people have contributed to this 
achievement and the ongoing success 
of the Emergency Telehealth Service. 
This triumph demonstrates our 
continued dedication to innovation and 
improving health outcomes for people in 
country communities.

Right: Clinical Nurse Jill Maitland 
dialled in with Donna Rogers,  

A/Director at the WACHS 
Command Centre.

115,000 people have  
accessed care via our Emergency 
Telehealth Service since 2012.
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Visit our YouTube channel to see how 
emergency telehealth has helped over 
115,000 country Western Australians. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=348SQZF5xK4


Executive summary
Connecting care to country WA
The Inpatient Telehealth Service continues to provide 
virtual ward rounds to patients admitted to our country 
hospitals when the local General Practitioner (GP) is 
unavailable. 

Often these patients only require a short stay in 
hospital, but if the local GP is away, they may have 
needed to be transferred to another facility for 
monitoring. The Inpatient Telehealth Service can help 
avoid the need to transfer inpatients long distances for 
short inpatient stays allowing them to be admitted to 
their local hospital and closer to home. 

Since the introduction of the Inpatient Telehealth 
Service in country WA in 2018, around 89 per cent of 
inpatients have avoided the need to be transferred at 
any time during their hospital stay. 

393 
PATIENTS KEPT 
CLOSER TO HOME
since January 2018

Telehealth is really  
good for us, saves travel and  
time and I don’t have to be  
away from my kids.

89% 
OF INPATIENTS 
AVOIDED TRANSFER

Annual Report
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INPATIENT 
TELEHEALTH 
SERVICE SITES 
STATEWIDE58



Executive summary
Connecting care to country WA
Country patients can face challenges in accessing 
appropriate and timely support to manage acute mental 
health, alcohol and drug conditions, particularly after 
hours. The Mental Health Emergency Telehealth 
Service, established in July 2019 provides WA country 
doctors and nurses with access to specialist clinicians 
via video conference, to assist in caring for people 
presenting to one of our sites with acute mental health, 
drug and alcohol conditions. 

Through the Command Centre the service supports 
rural and remote clinicians to care for people of all 
ages experiencing a mental health crisis or drug and 
alcohol issues. Connected across 83 sites spanning  
2.2 million square kilometres, the 24/7 service has 
supported frontline clinicians to care for more than 
1100 patients in 2019-20. Of these cases, more than 
84 per cent have been able to receive care in their 
local area, close to family, friends and broader support 
networks. 

1275  MENTAL HEALTH 
EMERGENCY TELEHEALTH 
SERVICE OCCASIONS OF 
SERVICE delivered in 2019-20

There are more  
than 20 mental health  

professionals manning the  
Mental Health Emergency Telehealth 

Service. Their work and that of our 
frontline clinicians has undoubtedly 

seen positive outcomes for  
residents of country WA.  

OF PATIENTS 
AVOIDED TRANSFER
in 2019-20
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Executive summary
Connecting care to country WA
The WA Country Health Service has continued to 
significantly	increase	access	to	care	closer	to	home	for	
country communities through a suite of digital 
innovations. This enabled our rapid response during 
the COVID-19 pandemic by ensuring provision of 
essential healthcare through an increase in the use of 
telehealth delivered services.

We have increased our technical telehealth capabilities 
by 45 per cent and prioritised the delivery of essential 
outpatient appointments via telehealth to in-home. This 
resulted in a 200 per cent increase in the number of 
WA Country Health Service outpatient appointments 

provided via telehealth during March to April 2020 
compared to the same period in 2019. 
Regional consumer evaluation demonstrates a very 
high level of consumer satisfaction regarding their 
telehealth experience and we continue to work with 
consumers to build on this success.

Below: Bunbury resident David McNair and senior 
occupational therapist Kit Lucas in a virtual consult.

It was good quality, we  
could see and hear the doctor  
really well, it was just as good as 
seeing them in person,” says a 
telehealth patient from the Kimberley.  
“This is our second time being able 
to use telehealth and we’d be really 
happy to use again.

Chart 1: WACHS outpatient telehealth activity  
2018-19 and 2019-20
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To read about the Bunbury outpatient 
stroke team providing rehabilitation 
programs via Video Call - click here.

http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/index.php?id=661&tx_ttnews%5Btt_news%5D=749&cHash=1695a730557893108e19f28174350af0


Executive summary
Connecting care to country WA
Receiving a cancer diagnosis is physically and 
emotionally challenging and navigating the health 
system can be overwhelming. In September 2019, 
Karratha Health	Campus	became	the	first	site	in	Western	

Australia to launch a TeleChemotherapy service, 
enabling some cancer patients who are receiving low 
risk treatments to have their treatment closer to home 
with support from specialists in Perth via telehealth. 

TeleChemotherapy is now also available at Broome 
Hospital and Narrogin Health Campus for eligible 
patients and is improving the treatment experience for 
country patients by reducing the need to be away from 
home during low-risk cancer treatments.

Left: First ever TeleChemotherapy patient  
Joanne King receives her cancer treatment locally  
at Karratha Health Campus.

Making appointments  
to see multiple specialists,  

getting tests, surgeries, chemo 
treatment and then adding the 

need to arrange travel, it’s stressful, 
so being able to receive treatment 

in my home town helps relieve some 
of that stress,” says Joanne King  
“ it’s just nicer to be in your own 

home when you’re feeling crook.
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Executive summary
Connecting care to country WA

I’ve told my cousins about  
it too, their kids have ear problems  
as well so I told them to ask if  
they can see the doctor on the  
TV instead of Kununurra.

Children living in remote communities have some of 
the highest rates of chronic ear disease in the world. 
To enable better access to care closer to home in 
remote Kimberley communities an intraregional Ear, 
Nose and Throat outpatient service model delivered 
by telehealth (TeleENT) was established in 
partnership with local Aboriginal Medical Services.

The model utilises live video otoscopy enabling the 
ENT visualisation of the patients’ ear remotely. The 
first	clinic	was	launched	in	March	2019	between	
Kununurra and Halls Creek. The model was expanded 
in 2020 with clinics established between Kununurra 
and Balgo, and Derby and Kupungarri. 

Below: TeleENT patient Letizah and her mum Jackie McDonald with Practice Nurse Jenny Vink and Telehealth Project Officer Jess McNeil.

 Telehealth is good for our community.
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Western Australia is working with the Commonwealth, and  
with state and territory governments to respond to coronavirus 
(COVID-19). 
The challenges set for us in ensuring the safety of country Western 
Australians	have	been	significant	and	we	continue	to	work	to	test,	 
refine	and	enhance	our	preparedness	plans	beyond	the	2019-20	year.	
The health, safety and wellbeing of our staff and the communities we 
serve remains our top priority. 

Case numbers of COVID-19 in country Western Australia to the end of 
the	2019-20	year	remained	low.	This	is	a	significant	achievement	and	
we have been heartened by the support and dedication shown by 
country Western Australians to reducing the spread of the virus. The 
fight	against	COVID-19	is	not	over	yet,	however	with	your	support	and	
with the dedication of our staff across the state there have been some 
significant	achievements	made	during	our	emergency	response	to	be	
celebrated.

340 
PATIENTS, FAMILY, 
SPECIMENS AND 
PRODUCTS MOVED 
ACROSS THE STATE 
(11 April – 6 July 2020)

15,000+ 
COVID EDUCATION 

SESSIONS  
COMPLETED  

BY STAFF (as at June 2020)

34,500+ 
COVID TESTS 
ADMINISTERED 
in regional and remote 
Western Australia 

DEDICATED COVID CLINICS 
ESTABLISHED in  

Broome, Bunbury and  
Kununurra to enhance  

infection prevention

260+ STAFF STEPPED INTO 
SPECIFIC EMERGENCY 

RESPONSE ROLES 
(within Regional or  
Central Emergency  

Operations Centres)

We have been heartened  
by the support and dedication  

shown by Country Western Australians 
to reducing the spread of the virus.
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Our COVID response

Visit our Facebook page to watch 
‘How to wash your marra’ with the 
Wheatbelt Aboriginal Health Service.

https://www.facebook.com/wacountryhealthservice/videos/how-to-wash-your-marra-hands-with-the-wheatbelt-aboriginal-health-service/550558562547693/?__so__=permalink&__rv__=related_videos
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30 JANUARY
World Health 
Organisation (WHO) 
declare outbreak 
Public Health 
Emergency of 
International Concern

27 FEBRUARY
One WA case 
acquired on cruise 
ship

11 MARCH
WHO declares 
COVID-19 a 
Pandemic

16 MARCH
Non-essential 
gatherings 
banned

19 MARCH
First positive 
country WA 
COVID-19 cases 
recorded

28 MARCH
All people entering 
Australia to 
self-quarantine at 
port of arrival

4 APRIL
Peak in active 
cases in 
country WA 
(60)

11 APRIL
Establish  
WACHS WINGS to 
transport people 
and products in 
lieu of regular air 
transport networks

27 APRIL
Phase 1 WA 
recovery begins, 
gatherings up to 
ten people

7 JULY
No new cases for 
83 days in 
country WA and 
no active cases 
in regional WA

3 MARCH
WA Country Health 
Service Emergency 
Operations Centre 
established

15 MARCH
State and Public 
Health Emergency 
declared. All 
overseas arrivals to 
isolate for 14 days

18 MARCH
Restrictions on 
indoor gatherings

20 MARCH
Travel restrictions 
put in place, 
including travel to 
remote 
communities

3 APRIL
Rapid Response 
Teams deployed 
to the Kimberley

5 APRIL
WA border 
closure

11 APRIL
Rapid Response 
Team deployed to 
Goldfields

18 MAY
Phase 2 WA 
recovery begins, 
cafes open and 
some regional 
borders opened

0

Our COVID response
A brief timeline



Our COVID response
Delivering on our strategy during COVID
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Click through to see some of the ways we’ve been working further strengthen our services throughout the pandemic.



Our COVID response
Delivering on our strategy during COVID

Leading innovation and technology
Travel restrictions during COVID, particularly to the Kimberley, have made the 
availability of TeleChemotherapy to some local cancer patients vital. At a time 
when staying local is more important than ever, the TeleChemotherapy model 
of care enables Pilbara, Kimberley and Wheatbelt cancer patients who meet 
medical eligibility criteria to receive chemotherapy treatment close to home, 
fully supported by specialists via telehealth and skilled local staff.

Addressing disadvantage and inequity
Around 21 per cent of the Western Australian population (530,802 people) 
reside within regional Western Australia. Of this number, almost 11 per cent 
(57,215 people) identify as Aboriginal. Aboriginal people continue to 
experience poorer health outcomes than non-Aboriginal people. The risk of 
COVID	-19	to	Aboriginal	people	across	the	state	is	significant	and	we	are	
working with communities, Aboriginal Medical Services and elders to get the 

word out to Aboriginal people about 
how they can keep themselves and 
their families safe from COVID-19. 
In the Wheatbelt we were honoured 
to work with local elders and the 
Whealtbelt Aboriginal Medical 
Service to share their message to 
local people about how they can 
stay safe from COVID. 

In the north we had our friend  
Mary G send a message to the  
mob up there about keeping on  
top of their health during COVID.

Broome Patient Noel Swart receives his chemo treatment via telehealth with 
TeleChemotherapy Nurses Monique Fitzpatrick and Jesmyne Galanti and Medical 
Oncologist Dr Wei-Sen Lam on screen.

Maria Nickels, Delys Dick and Wendy 
Kickett at the Wheatbelt Aboriginal 
Medical Service.
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Read about TeleChemotherapy 
commencing in Narrogin and Broome 

To hear from elders in the 
Wheatbelt – click here

To see Mary G’s message 
– click here

http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/index.php?id=661&tx_ttnews%5Btt_news%5D=743&cHash=d2b37ae71ff2bdef5633837296be57f9
https://www.facebook.com/MyHealthyWheatbelt/videos/3252690474957092/?__so__=channel_tab&__rv__=all_videos_card
https://www.facebook.com/960892300751721/posts/1578045409036404/?sfnsn=mo&d=n&vh=e


Our COVID response
Delivering on our strategy during COVID

Delivering value and sustainability
For	the	first	time,	patients	in	Bidyadanga	-	Western	Australia’s	largest	remote	
Aboriginal community - have access to emergency medical specialists in the 
metropolitan area at the touch of a button. 
The 12-month trial is expected to provide a better understanding of the logistics, 
benefits	and	costs	of	delivering	digital	health	services	into	more	remote	 
WA	communities.	With	medical	specialists	on	high-definition	speed	dial,	local	
frontline clinicians can deliver healthcare when and where it is needed, keeping 
patients within their communities and closer to family and support. 

Caring for our patients
Sometimes, it’s the little things that make the biggest difference. Our country 
healthcare workers know now, more than ever, it’s important they keep 
patients connected to family and friends despite the need to physically 
distance.
When Nannup aged care resident, Fran, thought she would be spending her 
birthday without a visit from her loved ones this year, Assistant in Nursing, 
Jackie, gave her the gift of a videoconference birthday party so she could 
celebrate with her children.

                 Happy Birthday Fran!

Hon. Roger Cook MLA, Minister for Health at the WACHS Command Centre speaking 
with clinicians in Bidyadanga.
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To take a peek inside our Command Centre, 
where we are using telehealth to connect with 
patients almost 2,000kms away – click here

https://www.facebook.com/960892300751721/posts/1584115381762740/?sfnsn=mo&d=n&vh=e


Our COVID response
Delivering on our strategy during COVID

Building healthy thriving communities 
Population and Public Health teams across our seven regions have been 
working hard to trace any transmission of COVID-19 and to promote healthy 
practices in the process. In partnership with WA Primary Health Alliance we are 
finding	new	and	innovative	ways	to	support	vulnerable	patients	who	are	at	an	
increased risk of complication if they were to contract the virus. 
The COVID-19 Chronic Conditions Outreach Support program helps patients 
manage their existing condition and stay out of hospital, while providing a 
support network as they isolate at home. The teams have been proactively 
reaching out to patients via telephone to help them navigate the complicated 
health guidelines and work through any problems related to their existing 
condition.
On the ground local teams continue to work with communities to boost the 
health	of	country	people.	In	Albany,	the	local	disease	control	team	identified	an	

opportunity	to	provide	flu	
vaccinations to some of 
their community’s most 
vulnerable members. In 
collaboration with the 
Albany and Regional 
Volunteer Service’s 
Breakfast in the Park 
program and the Albany 
Youth Support Association, 
‘drop	in’	flu	vaccination	
clinics were made 
available to people 
currently experiencing 
homelessness.

Enabling our staff
All Western Australians will appreciate that the pandemic situation has been 
rapidly changing. To keep our staff safe and armed with the most up to date 
information we have developed a range of procedures, guidelines and training 
videos. 
COVID-19 training simulations have been made available to staff across all 
sites via the Emergency Telehealth Service and essential training programs 
such as hand hygiene and infection control training programs have been 
updated	with	COVID	specific	information.	
Our staff are also putting themselves on the frontline and we are committed to 
supporting them.  We have released a range of wellbeing support resources 
for staff to access should they 
need to seek help. Our Employee 
Assistance Program (EAP) also 
provides	free,	confidential	
professional counselling and 
support. 

We are also absolutely committed 
to ensuring ongoing access to the 
protective items our staff require. 
We are pleased that our hospitals 
and health services have been 
boosted by the provision of 
additional protective equipment to 
ensure	they	can	continue	our	fight	
against COVID-19 as safely as 
possible.Albany Disease Control team at the outreach flu 

vaccination clinic.
Hannah Bellottie, Allied Health Assistant in 
Geraldton.
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Our COVID response
Delivering on our strategy during COVID

Collaborating with our partners 
When travel restrictions suddenly meant that commercial airlines and logistics 
carriers	ceased	flying	to	regional	WA,	a	specialist	WINGS	unit	was	established.	
The 24/7 back up ensured that 
patients, staff, specimens and 
products, like blood, got to where 
they were needed. The unit 
worked with BHP, Rio Tinto,  
Mt Gibson Iron, Woodside, Shell, 
FMG and Roy Hill, as well as our 
friends at Pathwest, the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service, the 
Department of Transport, the 
Department of Premier and 
Cabinet, other health service 
providers and the community, to 
make sure that country people 
could be connected to the 
services they needed just in time.
We’ve also been fortunate 
throughout the pandemic to  
have the ongoing support of 
volunteers. While we have had to 
change the way some of our 
volunteers access our hospitals 
and health services, we 
immensely value their  
contribution. 

Penny from the Sunflowers Volunteer Program 
at Albany Health Campus, providing dementia 
patients with company and support. Some of the Pilbara team deployed to assist in the Kimberley, Colleen Crabtree, Chantelle Pears 

and Ian Nugent.
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Check out our frontline in the air: WACHS WINGS keeping 
patients and health supplies moving during COVID-19.

http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/index.php?id=661&tx_ttnews%5Btt_news%5D=753&cHash=75a8721b35521aa59831a80dfaa8c4b0


Our COVID response
We’re in this together
“You don’t need a cape to be a hero.”  
That’s just one of the many messages of thanks 
our frontline workers have received from kids 
across Western Australia. 
Hanging in our Emergency Operations Centre is a  
collage of the well wishes we’ve received from the 
community throughout COVID-19.

Below: WACHS Board members with a collage of thank you 
letters our healthcare workers have received.
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Click to see our Albany staff say thanks to Mrs Briscoe’s 
year one class at Flinders Park Primary School for their 
hand made messages of thanks 

https://www.facebook.com/520994308247561/videos/157648965532076


03 Governance
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The WA health system consists of the Department of Health, seven  
board-governed health service providers and the Quadriplegic Centre.  
The Department of Health, led by the Director General, provides leadership  
and management of the health system as a whole, ensuring the delivery of 
high quality, safe and timely health services. 
Each health service provider is governed by a Board appointed by the Minister for 
Health.	Board	members	bring	a	wealth	of	experience	in	a	range	of	fields	such	as	health	
care,	finance,	law,	and	community	and	consumer	engagement.	

Health service providers are responsible and accountable for the delivery of safe, high 
quality,	efficient	and	economical	health	services	to	their	local	areas	and	communities.	
They are Pathwest, Health Support Services, Child and Adolescent Health Service, 
East Metropolitan Health Service, North Metropolitan Health Service, South 
Metropolitan Health Service and the WA Country Health Service. While we are the 
State Government healthcare provider for country patients, we work in partnership with 
the Department of Health and other health service providers to ensure country patients 
have coordinated care when needed. 

Governance
Our place in the wider health system

Figure 1: Organisational structure

Finance 
Committee

Audit and Risk
Committee

Safety, Quality  
and Performance 

Committee

WACHS 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

WACHS 
Executive

DIRECTOR
GENERAL

MINISTER FOR 
HEALTH

WACHS 
BOARD
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Minister
The WA Country Health Service is responsible to the 
Minister for Health, the Honourable Roger Cook MLA.

Accountable Authority
The WA Country Health Service is a board governed 
statutory authority, where the Board is directly 
accountable to the public and the Minister for Health, 
working with the Director General of the Department of 
Health.

The	Board	Chair	Dr	Neale	Fong	is	the	reporting	officer	
for the WA Country Health Service in 2019-20.

Enabling Legislation
The WA Country Health Service was established as a 
board governed health service provider by the Health 
Services (Health Service Provider) Order 2016 made 
by the Minister under section 32 of the Health Services 
Act 2016. The WA Country Health Service is 
responsible to the Minister for Health and the 
Department CEO of the Department of Health (System 
Manager)	for	the	efficient	and	effective	management	of	
the agency.

Governance

Strategic Plan
The WA Country Health Service Strategic Plan  
2019-2024 outlines the strategic direction of the 
organisation	for	the	next	five	years,	set	against	a	fifteen	
year horizon. While our core focus is always improving 
the quality of care we deliver to country communities in 
the here and now, we are planning for the future, a future 
where we realise the transformative potential of new and 
emerging technologies in healthcare.

Our plan outlines seven priority areas where we will 
focus	our	energy	and	investment,	along	with	specific	
actions we will take and how we will measure our 
success	over	the	next	five	years.
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To read more about our Strategic Plan 
and the priorities and actions that will 
help us get there - click here

http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/fileadmin/sections/publications/Publications_by_topic_type/Corporate_documents/WACHS_Strategic_Plan_2019-24.PDF


The WA Country Health Service is a State 
Government statutory authority under the 
Health Services Act 2016. The legislation 
establishes the WA Country Health Service 
Board as being the responsible and 
accountable governing body for delivering 
safe,	high-quality,	efficient	and	economical	
health services to country Western Australian 
communities. 

The organisation’s Board is comprised of highly 
capable and committed professionals with a diverse 
range	of	experience	across	the	fields	of	medicine	and	
healthcare,	business,	finance,	law	and	community	and	
consumer engagement. 

The Board is supported by three committees; the Audit 
and Risk Committee; Finance Committee; and Safety, 
Quality and Performance Committee. These bodies 

assist the Board to perform its functions and provide 
support and advice to the Board in exercising its 
authority. Each committee is directly responsible and 
accountable to the Board for the exercise of its duties 
and responsibilities.

Note: Committees comprise Board members only and 
are not formally registered.

Left: The WA Country Health Service Board  
visit Chittering Health Centre.

WA Country Health Service Board

The Board works closely with 
the Chief Executive, who manages 

the day-to-day operations to 
deliver safe, high-quality and 

efficient health services to 
communities across regional 

Western Australia. 
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To read more about the WA Country 
Health Service Board here  - click here

http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/fileadmin/sections/publications/Publications_by_topic_type/Corporate_documents/WACHS_Strategic_Plan_2019-24.PDF
http://www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au/index.php?id=456


DR NEALE FONG (CHAIR) 
Dr Neale Fong is a registered medical 
practitioner with over  
35 years’ experience in a wide range of 
leadership roles in the private and public 
hospital systems.
He	is	currently	Chief	Executive	Officer	
and Executive Director of Bethesda 
Health Care, Professor of Healthcare 
Leadership at Curtin University, and a 
director of several health companies. 
He is President of the Australasian College of Health 
Service Management, and Chair of the International 
Hospital Federation Global Healthcare Management Special 
Interest Group. He was Project Lead to the Australian 
Health	Ministers	Council	in	developing	Australia’s	first	
Health Leadership Development Capability Framework.
Dr Fong has been the Director General of the  
WA Department of Health, CEO of St John of God Hospital 
Subiaco and Director of the Curtin Health Innovation 
Research Institute at Curtin University.
Dr Fong was the Chairman and Commissioner for 12 years 
of the WA Football Commission, and was Chaplain to the 
West Coast Eagles Football Club for 22 years.
He has Bachelor’s degrees in medicine and surgery, a 
Masters in Theological Studies and a Masters of Business 
Administration. 
Dr Fong was awarded the Gold Medal of Australasian 
College of Health Service Management in 2019, named a 
finalist	in	the	2010	WA	Citizen	of	the	Year	Awards	and	
awarded a Centenary Medal in 2011 for services to 
healthcare by the Australian Government.

MS WENDY NEWMAN (DEPUTY CHAIR)
Wendy has extensive experience 
in individual, organisational and 
regional development and in 
addition to her role as Deputy 
Chair of the WA Country Health 
Service Board, is on the Board of 
Regional Development Australia, 
Wheatbelt and Deputy Chair of 
Directions Workforce Solutions. 

Wendy has extensive experience in working at all 
levels of government to develop strategy and drive 
reform. More recently, this effort has been applied to 
driving collaboration across local government 
boundaries on priority development issues, assisting 
in the development of sustainable child care services 
and developing and delivering innovative models for 
aged care in regional settings. 

Wendy has a Masters in Commerce (Management), a 
Bachelor of Education and is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

MR ALAN FERRIS
Alan Ferris is the Director of 
Corporate Services at the City of 
Melville. Alan has also had his 
own consulting business and led 
the consulting team at BDO, a 
large	accounting	firm.	He	has	
significant	experience	in	
Government	and	not-for-profit	
sectors. He has worked in the Senior Executive 
Service of the State Government in positions including 
General Manager of the Perth Theatre Trust and 
Director General of the Department of Culture and the 
Arts. He also held the position of Chief Financial 
Officer	in	Culture	and	the	Arts	for	seven	years.

Alan is the Chair of the Palmerston Association 
Incorporated,	a	not	for	profit	provider	of	drug	and	
alcohol counselling services. Besides working at the 
City of Melville, Alan’s previous experience in local 
government was as Mayor of the Town of East 
Fremantle for six years and a Councillor for eight 
years. Alan holds Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting 
and	Information	Systems),	is	a	Certified	Practising	
Accountant and also a Fellow of Leadership WA. 

Outside	of	the	finance	industry,	Alan	enjoys	all	sports,	
especially soccer and golf, and spending time with his 
wife and two daughters.

Alan chairs the WA Country Health Service Board 
Finance Committee.

WA Country Health Service Board
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MR PAUL FITZPATRICK
Paul Fitzpatrick was a partner of 
Clayton Utz between 1 July 1985 
and 30 September 2019 and 
practised in the areas of 
commercial litigation, competition 
law, national competition policy, 
international and domestic 
arbitration and sports law. 

Paul	is	a	former	partner	in	charge	of	the	Perth	Office	
of Clayton Utz, and has conducted a wide range of 
complex litigation, including contractual disputes and 
cases relating to the Competition and Consumer Act, 
the Corporations Law, professional negligence, and 
intellectual property. 

Paul was named Competition Lawyer of the Year, 
Perth in 2013 by Best Lawyers Australia, and has 
been named by Best Lawyers as one of Australia’s 
Best Lawyers in litigation, competition and alternative 
dispute resolution.

Paul was a legal advisor to the Western Australian 
Football Commission and the West Australian Institute 
of Sport (WAIS), is a former director of WAIS, current 
director of the Wally Foreman Foundation Inc. and the 
Deputy Chairman of the West Coast Eagles.

* New Board Member appointed on 14 April 2020.

MR MICHAEL HARDY
Michael Hardy is a lawyer who 
practiced for 40 years in a large 
national	firm,	a	boutique	firm	and	
as a sole practitioner. Michael’s 
principal areas of practice were 
administrative, contract, 
planning, environmental and 
property law. 

Michael was formerly a member of the Contaminated 
Sites Committee and the Metro Central Joint 
Development Assessment Panel. Michael was also 
the former Chairman and non-executive director of 
Fleetwood Limited.

*Retiring Board Member as at 15 October 2019.

DR DANIEL HEREDIA 
Dr Daniel Heredia is the Deputy 
CEO and Medical Director at 
Hollywood Private Hospital, the 
largest private hospital in WA. 
He has previously worked as a 
Medical Advisor to Medicare 
Australia and prior to this, 
worked in clinical medicine at 
various hospitals in WA. Daniel 
chairs the registration committee for the Medical 
Board of Australia and is a former Director of the 
Australian Medical Association of Western Australia. 

Daniel has completed a Bachelor of Medicine and 
Bachelor of Surgery with Honours, an MBA with 
Distinction, and a Diploma of Public Health. He is a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, Fellow of the Royal Australasian College of 
Medical Administrators and Fellow of the Australasian 
College of Health Service Management.  

Daniel is passionate about developing the next 
generation of leaders in the healthcare system. 
Outside of work Daniel enjoys traveling and spending 
time with his young family.

Daniel chairs the WA Country Health Service Board 
Safety and Quality Committee.

WA Country Health Service Board
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MS KELLY HOWLETT
Kelly Howlett is currently the 
Chief	Executive	Officer	of	Pilbara	
charity, Bloodwood Tree 
Association Inc. Bloodwood Tree 
is a wholly Aboriginal controlled 
organisation that provides 
services to those in need, 
disadvantaged, unemployed and 
affected by alcohol and drugs in 
the Port/South Hedland and broader Pilbara area.

Kelly has made her life and career in the Pilbara, and 
most notably served as Mayor of the Town of Port 
Hedland for almost seven years until 2016.

Kelly was inducted into the Western Australian 
Women’s Hall of Fame in March 2018 in recognition of 
her lengthy contribution to the Pilbara environment and 
community. Kelly has extensive governance 
experience and a keen interest in the social, natural 
environment and sustainability. Kelly has a Bachelor 
Science (Environment) / Bachelor Forest Science 
(Honours) and is a graduate of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

DR KIM ISAACS 
Dr Kim Isaacs is a Broome based 
General Practitioner who is 
a Fellow of the Royal Australian 
College of General Practitioners 
and a Fellow of the Australian 
Rural Leadership Foundation.

A Yaruwu, Karajarri and Noongar 
woman, Kim has a strong 
background working in rural and remote medicine and 
Aboriginal primary health care.

Kim is a WAGPET Medical Educator for GP Registrars 
and Medical Lecturer at the University of Notre Dame 
Australia. Kim also has a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree with a major in Accounting and Finance from 
the University of WA.

Kim is passionate about mentoring and training 
doctors, and has a strong interest in child and 
maternal health, mental health and wellbeing. From 
her experience working as a remote GP in northern 
WA she continues to advocate to improve the health 
and wellbeing of country patients and the health 
service delivery for rural and remote communities.

DR DIANE MOHEN
Dr Diane Mohen was the former 
Medical Director of the State-
wide Obstetric Support Unit and 
former WA Country Health 
Service clinical lead in obstetrics 
and gynaecology. She has had a 
career spanning more than  
30 years, initially in general 
practice and then as a specialist 
obstetrician and gynaecologist and has worked 
tirelessly to improve the health of rural women and 
babies in Western Australia. 

Diane was awarded the Public Service Medal in 2016 
and was joint winner of the Western Australian 
Minister for Health’s Award in 2017. In addition to her 
role on the WA Country Health Service Board, she is 
a Consultant Obstetrician and Gynaecologist.

WA Country Health Service Board
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MS MEREDITH WATERS
Meredith Waters arrived in the Esperance 
region 21 years ago from Melbourne, and 
quickly grew to love life in this regional 
community. With a background in the 
justice system as a Clerk of Courts in 
Victoria, Meredith commenced with the 
Esperance Court House in 2000. Later, 
still with the Department of Justice, 
Meredith later took up work as an adult 
corrections	officer.	During	a	gap	in	paid	work	to	spend	time	
caring for her three sons, Meredith held the role of 
coordinator with the adult literacy program Read Write Now.

Since 2010, Meredith has held a variety of roles in the 
community and volunteer sector including: Service Manager 
of	BOICO,	a	local	not-for-profit	organisation	supporting	
people	with	mental	illness	and	their	carers,	Project	Officer	
with the Esperance Volunteer Resource Centre, secretary of 
Esperance Care Services, and Area Chaplain with 
YouthCARE in the Kalgoorlie-Esperance region. 

Meredith is currently a member of Esperance Alcohol & 
Other Drug Harm Reduction Group, a member of the 
Esperance Shire Recovery Community Committee, a board 
member with Esperance Community Arts, a community 
drum circle facilitator with Esperance Drumming Group, and 
the Chairperson of the South East District Health Advisory 
Council with WA Country Health Service. Loving a new 
challenge, she is an active volunteer and board member 
with 103.9HopeFM community radio.

MS MARY ANNE STEPHENS 
Mary Anne is a senior executive 
with more than 25 years’ 
experience leading teams within 
the	financial	services,	IT,	Aged	
Care	and	Not-for-profit	sectors.	
She has extensive experience in 
strategy,	finance,	risk	
management, audit and 
governance. Mary Anne’s most 
recent	executive	position	was	Chief	Financial	Officer	for	
Amana Living Incorporated.

Mary Anne is Chair of Diabetes WA, a Board Member of 
Venues West, a Non-Executive Director of Council on the 
Ageing (COTA) WA, and an external member of the 
Football West Finance and Audit Sub-committee. 

She holds a Master of Accounting degree, is a Fellow of 
CPA Australia, a Fellow of the Institute of Public 
Accountants, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management (WA) and a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 

Mary Anne is passionate about the need to continually 
improve health outcomes within the WA community. Her 
goal is to leverage her skills and experience to contribute 
in a positive way to the WA Country Health Service.

Mary Anne chairs the WA Country Health Service Board 
Audit and Risk Committee.

Katanning Hospital Mural, taken on a Board visit to the 
Great Southern. The mural celebrates the town’s rich 
history.

WA Country Health Service Board
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Table 1: Board meeting attendance for 2019–20
Name Number of meetings Meetings attended
Full Board Meeting
Dr Neale Fong 11 11
Wendy Newman 11 10
Dr Daniel Heredia 11 11
Dr Kim Isaacs 11 10
Michael Hardy 3 3
Mary Anne Stephens 11 11
Meredith Waters 11 11
Alan Ferris 11 11
Kelly Howlett 11 11
Dr Diane Mohen 11 11
Paul Fitzpatrick 2 2
Finance Committee
Alan Ferris (Chair) 9 9
Wendy Newman 9 8
Mary Anne Stephens 9 9
Audit and Risk Committee
Michael Hardy (Ceased to be Chair as at 15 October 2019) 3 1
Mary Anne Stephens (Commenced as Chair as at 15 October 2019) 9 8
Meredith Waters 9 9
Kelly Howlett 9 9
Paul Fitzpatrick 1 1
Safety, Quality and Performance Committee
Dr Daniel Heredia (Chair) 6 5
Dr Kim Isaacs 6 6
Meredith Waters 6 6
Dr Diane Mohen 6 6

WA Country Health Service Board
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The WA Country Health Service Executive is the principal advisory body to the Chief Executive of the WA Country Health Service and assists with the 
management of the organisation by providing advice to the Chief Executive on strategic, service and policy issues.
The Executive provides an important unifying link between executive management across organisational divisions.

WACHS BOARD

WACHS CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Chief	Operating	OfficerExecutive 
Director People, 

Capability & 
Culture

Executive 
Director  

Strategy & 
Change

Executive
Director
Health

Programs

Director 
Aboriginal 

Health  
Strategy

Executive 
Director  
Medical  
Services

Executive 
Director  
Mental  
Health

Executive  
Director Nursing  

& Midwifery 
Services

Executive 
Director 

Business 
Services

Chief  
Financial  
Officer

Executive 
Director 

Innovation & 
Development

Director  
Office	of	the	 

Chief  
Executive

Executive  
Director 

Infrastructure & 
Environment

Regional
Director
Pilbara

Regional
Director

Wheatbelt

Regional
Director
Goldfields

Regional
Director

Great  
Southern

Regional
Director

Kimberley

Regional
Director
Midwest

Regional
Director

South West

WA Country Health Service Executive

Note: Senior Officers and their area of responsibility for the 2019-20 year are listed in Other Legal Requirements on page 136.
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Leadership at all levels

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we have 
seen leadership displayed at every level of the 
organisation. Our staff have responded to 
extraordinary circumstances with 
professionalism and care not only for our 
consumers, but also for one another. 
Opportunities to build leadership skills and 
experience are not always formal and during 
the response to the pandemic we have seen 
leadership qualities emerge and grow at every 
level of the organisation.
We are committed to our journey to a sustainable 
regional workforce built on ‘growing our own,’ more 
formally too. This will take time, but we recognise that on 
our journey, internal training and development pathways 
will support a continuous learning culture that enables 
our local staff to achieve their growth potential. A number 
of programs are already underway to help build and 
nurture our own medical, nursing and management 
workforce so that leadership opportunities are available 
to staff in the bush, and also to promote the many 
benefits	of	living	and	working	in	regional	WA.	

In 2019-20 our staff have participated in formal 
leadership programs at a state-wide level through the 
Institute of Healthy Leadership and programs such as the 
Emerging Leaders Program and Leading Great Care. 
Likewise, we have undertaken a range of formal 
leadership skills development programs in the regions. 
Our medical internships and graduate nursing programs 
continue to be highly successful in ensuring we bring 
new talent to the bush. The results of those programs 

have	confirmed	that	providing	opportunities	to	experience	
working in regional areas has a strong translation to 
graduates and junior doctors taking up more permanent 
roles living and working in country WA. We are also keen 
to ensure that our regional staff have access to 
opportunities that further develop their skills. 

Launched in 2018, the organisation has established a 
customised Future Leaders’ Program designed to build 
our leadership team now and for the future. By 
developing the skills and expertise of our own staff we 
are ensuring that we are developing the potential of our 
future leaders in country WA. In 2019-20 the thirteen 
inaugural participants of the program have been hard at 
work completing their academic components and 
participating in development opportunities including the 

Asia-Pacific	Health	Leadership	Congress	in	Queensland	
in October 2019. Many of the programs’ participants 
have also stepped up to take on emergency roles as part 
of our central and regional Emergency Operations 
Centres leading our COVID response for country WA.

The Future Leaders Program consists of an academic 
component, professional development, mentoring and 
coaching support, along with workplace rotations in other 
roles or regions, to give participants exposure to both the 
theory and real world practice in health service 
leadership	roles.	This	program	is	a	WACHS	first	and	has	
been designed to challenge and extend participants, 
inspiring them to embrace leadership opportunities and 
contribute to the future leadership of health care in 
regional and remote WA.

Some of our Future Leaders Program participants at the Asia-Pacific Health Leadership Congress, pictured with Chris Mitchell CEO Health 
Workforce Queensland, Lisa Davies Jones Chief Executive North West Hospital and Health Services, Stuart Gordon CEO Western Queensland 
Primary Health Network and Dee Mahon National Education Programs Manager Australasian College of Health Service Management.
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To comply with its legislative obligation as a 
Western Australian government agency, the 
WA Country Health Service operates under 
the WA Health Outcome Based Management 
(OBM) Framework. 

The framework describes how outcomes, services 
and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are used to 
measure agency performance towards achieving the 
relevant overarching whole-of-government goal.  
WA Health’s KPIs measure the effectiveness and 
efficiency	of	the	WA	Country	Health	Service	in	
achieving the following outcomes: 

• Outcome 1: Public hospital based services that 
enable effective treatment and restorative 
healthcare for Western Australians.

• Outcome 2: Prevention, health promotion and 
aged and continuing care services that help 
Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives.

KPIs and services delivered by the WA Country 
Health Service to achieve WA Health outcomes are 
outlined in Table 2 (next page). 
Performance against these outcomes and activities 
are summarised in the Summary of KPIs section on 
page 47 and described in detail in the KPI section 
starting on page 98.

Performance Management Framework
Outcome based management framework

Wheatbelt Tackling Indigenous Smoking team. L-R: William Narrier, Matthew Mcintosh, Connie Yarran, Vennessa McGuire, 
Alyssa Thompson and Zoe Ashby- Deering. 
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Performance Management Framework
Table 2: KPIs and services delivered by WACHS to achieve WA Health outcomes

WA Government Goal: Strong Communities Safe communities and supported families.

WA	Health	Agency	Goal:	Delivery	of	safe,	quality,	financially	sustainable	and	accountable	healthcare	for	all	Western	Australians.
Outcome 1:  
Public hospital based services that enable effective treatment and restorative healthcare for  
Western Australians.

Outcome 2:  
Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help Western Australians 
to live healthy and safe lives.

Services delivered to achieve Outcome 1:
1. Public hospital admitted services  3. Public hospital non-admitted services
2. Public hospital emergency services 4. Mental health services

Services delivered to achieve Outcome 2*:
5. Aged and continuing care services  9. Small rural hospital services
6. Public and community health services   

Key Performance Indicators for Outcome 1 Key Performance Indicators for Outcome 2
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ica

to
rs

Unplanned hospital readmissions for public hospital patients within 28 days for  
selected surgical procedures.

Ef
fec

tiv
en

es
s 

Ind
ica

to
rs

Response times for emergency air-based patient transport services (Percentage of 
emergency air-based inter-hospital transfers meeting the state-wide contract target response 
time for priority 1 calls)

Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for reportable procedures Percentage of patients who access emergency services at a small rural or remote  
Western Australian hospital and are subsequently discharged home

Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections (HA-SABSI) per 10,000 
occupied bed-days

Ef
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cy
	In
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ato

rs

Average	cost	per	bed-day	for	specialised	residential	care	facilities,	flexible	care	(hostels)	 
and nursing home type residents

Survival rates for sentinel conditions Average cost per person of delivering population health programs by population health units

Percentage of patients who discharged against medical advice Cost per trip of patient emergency air-based transport, based on the total accrued costs of 
these services for the total number of trips

Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less than 7 at 5 minutes post delivery Average cost per trip of Patient Assisted Travel Scheme (PATS)
Readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient services within 28 days of discharge Average cost per rural and remote population (selected small rural hospitals)
Percentage of post discharge community care within seven days following discharge from acute 
specialised mental health inpatient services

Ef
fic
ien

cy
	

Ind
ica

to
rs

Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit
Average Emergency Department cost per weighted activity unit
Average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit
Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient services
Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by mental health services
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Performance Management Framework
Collaborating with our partners
Partnerships are critical to establishing a 
sustainable health system that enables all 
country Western Australians to have access to 
safe and high quality healthcare. Health service 
provision across Western Australia requires a 
range of service providers working in partnership 
throughout the patient journey to deliver high 
quality, safe and integrated healthcare. In 
regional and remote Western Australia, providing 
integrated care for patients is even more complex. 
The WA Country Health Service shares responsibility 
for delivering care with a range of other state agencies 
including, but not limited to, Health Service Providers, 
the Mental Health Commission, WA Police, the 
Department of Corrective Services and the Department 
of Communities’ Disability Service and Child Protection 

and Family Support divisions. We also work closely 
with general practitioners, the WA Primary Health 
Alliance, Aboriginal community-controlled health 
services; local shires, and other care and service 
providers in regional and remote communities across 
the state.

We have a key partnership with the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service to provide country patients who are 
living, working or travelling in regional Western 
Australia to have access to vital health services if they 
need them. The Royal Flying Doctor Service provides 

inter-hospital patient transfer services across the state 
for transfer of patients between WA Country Health 
Service hospitals or to metropolitan tertiary hospitals.

Similarly, we also have a vital partner in St John 
Ambulance WA to support the safe transfer of  
country patients by road from either the place of their 
emergency, or between hospitals or health sites. 
Achieved through a combined model of volunteer 
ambulance	officers,	community	paramedics	and	 
paid paramedic services, there are more than  
160 ambulance locations operating in country WA. 

A total of 6,789 patients 
accessed the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service in 2019-20 through the 
Inter-Hospital Patient Transport 
Service. 

Image courtesy of St John Ambulance WA
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04 Agency Performance
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Financial summary
The	total	cost	of	providing	health	services	to	rural	and	regional	areas	in	Western	Australia	in	2019-20	was	$1.988	billion.	Results	for	2019–20	against	agreed	financial	targets	 
(based on Budget statements) are presented in Table 3.
Full	details	of	the	WA	Country	Health	Service’s	financial	performance	during	2019-20	are	provided	in	the	financial	statements	section	of	this	report.

Table 3: Actual results versus budget targets for WA Country Health Service
2019-20 Target 
($'000) (FTE)

2019-20 Actual 
($'000) (FTE)

Variation 
+/- ($000) (FTE)

Explanation of Variance
Key factors

Total cost of services 1,834,204 1,987,522 153,318 • Expenditure on continuing and new services for which funding had not been included 
in the initial target but were the subject of budget adjustments throughout the year 
and at Mid-Year Review.

• Impact of asset revaluation decrements.

Net cost of services 1,133,429 1,237,049 103,620 • Expenditure on continuing and new services for which funding had not been included 
in the initial target but were the subject of budget adjustments throughout the year 
and at Mid-Year Review.

• Commonwealth and Other Grants received for services not included in the initial 
target but were the subject of budget adjustments throughout the year and at 
Mid-Year Review.

• Impact of asset revaluation decrements.

Total equity 2,655,773 2,478,430 (177,343) • Revised timelines for completion of various capital projects, including impacts from 
COVID-19 travel restrictions.

• Impact of asset revaluation decrements.

Approved full-time equivalent  
staff level (salary associated  
with FTE)

8,267.5 8,339.4 (71.9)
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Summary of key performance indicators
Key performance indicators (KPIs) assist the WA Country Health Service to assess 
and monitor the extent to which State Government outcomes are being achieved. 
•	 Effectiveness indicators provide information that aids in the assessment of the 

extent to which outcomes have been achieved through the resourcing and delivery 
of services to the community. 

•	 Efficiency	indicators	monitor	the	relationship	between	the	service	delivered	and	the	
resources used to provide the service.

Key performance indicators also provide a means to communicate to the community 
how the WA Country Health Service is performing. A summary of the WA Country 
Health Service key performance indicators’ performance against targets is given in 
Table 4. 

Note: Table 4 should be read in conjunction with detailed information on each key 
performance indicator found in the disclosure and compliance section of this report 
starting on page 98. The KPIs are prepared based on the latest available information. 

Table 4: Actual results versus KPI targets for WA Country Health Service

Key performance indicator Target Actual

Outcome 1:  Public Hospital Based Services that enable effective treatment and restorative healthcare for Western Australians

Unplanned hospital readmissions for patients within 28 days for selected surgical procedures

Knee replacement ≤26.2 29.9      

Hip replacement ≤17.1 35.6

Tonsillectomy & Adenoidectomy ≤61.0 57.2

Hysterectomy ≤41.3 36.6

Prostatectomy ≤38.8 70.7

Cataract surgery ≤1.1 3.6

Appendicectomy ≤25.7 39.2

Percentage of elective waitlist patients waiting over boundary for reportable procedures:

% Category 1 over 30 days 0% 5.8% 

% Category 2 over 90 days 0% 6.1% 

% Category 2 over 365 days 0% 1.5% 

Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections (HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days ≤1.0 0.33
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Table 4: Actual results versus KPI targets for WA Country Health Service  (continued)

Key performance indicator Target Actual 
Survival rates for sentinel conditions:

Stroke
0-49 years ≥	94.4% 95.8%
50-59 years ≥	93.4% 98.7%
60-69 years ≥	93.5% 96.2%
70-79 years ≥	91.3% 92.8%
80+ years ≥	83.2% 84.8%

Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI)
0-49 years ≥	99.0% 100%
50-59 years ≥	98.9% 100%
60-69 years ≥	98.0% 99.0%
70-79 years ≥	96.5% 98.0%
80+ years ≥	92.2% 90.0%

Fractured Neck of Femur (FNOF)
70-79 years ≥	98.9% 97.7%
80+ years ≥	96.1% 96.7%

Percentage of patients who discharged against 
medical advice

a. Aboriginal patients
b. Non-Aboriginal patients

≤0.77%
≤0.77%

4.7%
0.7%

Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar 
score of less than 7 at 5 minutes post delivery ≤1.8% 1.4%

Readmissions to acute specialised mental health 
inpatient services within 28 days of discharge ≤12% 17.8%

 

Key performance indicator Target Actual

Percentage of post discharge community care within 7 days following 
discharge from acute specialised mental health inpatient services ≥75% 79.2%

Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit $7,026 $6,789
Average Emergency Department cost per weighted activity unit $7,071 $6,986
Average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit $6,992 $5,872
Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient 
services $1,942 $2,128

Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by 
mental health services $539 $542

Outcome 2:   Prevention. Health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help  
Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives

Response times for emergency air-based patient transport services 
(Percentage of emergency air-based inter-hospital transfers meeting 
the state-wide contract target response time for priority 1 calls)

≥80% 77.2%

Percentage of patients who access emergency services at a small 
rural or remote Western Australian hospital and are subsequently 
discharged home

91.2% 85.0%

Average cost per bed-day for specialised residential care facilities, 
flexible	care	(hostels)	and	nursing	home	type	residents $315 $582

Average cost per person of delivering population health programs by 
population health units $238 $289

Cost per trip of patient emergency air-based transport, based on the 
total accrued costs of these services per the total number of trips $7,624 $6,882

Average cost per trip of Patient Assisted Travel Scheme (PATS) $463 $482
Average cost per rural and remote population (selected small rural 
hospitals) $422 $443

Summary of key performance indicators
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Summary of key performance indicators
Improvements towards emergency department access
Emergency departments are specialist multidisciplinary units with expertise 
in	managing	acutely	unwell	patients	for	their	first	few	hours	in	hospital.	
With an increasing demand on emergency departments and health services, 
it is imperative that health service provision is continually monitored to 
ensure	the	effective	and	efficient	delivery	of	safe	high-quality	care.

PERCENTAGE OF EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT PATIENTS  
SEEN WITHIN RECOMMENDED TIMES
When	patients	first	enter	an	emergency	department	they	are	assessed	by	specially	
trained nursing staff to determine how urgently treatment is required. The aim of this 
process, known as triage, is to ensure treatment is given in the appropriate time and 
should prevent adverse conditions arising from deterioration in the patient’s condition. 

The triage process and scores are recognised by the Australasian College for 
Emergency Medicine and are recommended for prioritising those who present to an 
emergency department. A patient is allocated a triage score between 1 (immediate) 
and 5 (least urgent) that indicates their treatment acuity. Treatment should commence 
within the recommended time of the triage category allocated (see Table 5).

Table 5: Triage category, treatment acuity and WA performance targets
Triage 

Category Description Treatment Activity Target

1 Immediate life-threatening Immediate 
(≤2 minutes)

100

2 Imminently life-threatening ≤10 minutes 80

3 Potentially life-threatening or important 
time-critical treatment or severe pain

≤30 minutes 75

4 Potentially life-serious or situational 
urgency	or	significant	complexity

≤60 minutes 70

5 Less urgent ≤120 minutes 70

By measuring this indicator, changes over time can be monitored that assist in managing 
the demand on emergency department services and the effectiveness of service 
provision. This in turn can enable the development of improvement strategies that ensure 
optimal restoration to health for patients.
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In 2019-20, the proportion of WA patients in major rural hospital emergency 
departments who were seen within recommended time was above the minimum 
benchmarks	for	four	out	of	five	triage	categories	(see	Table	6).	

Emergency	Department	performance	is	reflective	of	challenges	in	rural	hospitals	to	
manage increased demand across emergency and admitted care services.

Table 6: Percentage of hospital emergency department patients seen within 
recommended times by triage category for 2018-19 and 2019-20.

Triage Category
2018–19 

Performance (%)
2019–20 

Performance (%) Target (%)

1 100 100 100

2 82.7 81 80

3 73.2 73.7 75

4 78.4 79.3 70

5 94 93.5 70

PERCENTAGE OF EMERGENCY ATTENDANCES WITH  
A TRIAGE SCORE OF 4 AND 5 NOT ADMITTED
Typically, patients who are clinically assessed as Australasian Triage Score (ATS)  
4 and 5 at presentation to an emergency department are attending as lower acuity and 
are subsequently treated within the emergency department but may not require 
admission to an inpatient ward. 

For	a	large	number	of	country	hospitals,	triage	4	and	5	attendances	may	reflect	the	
availability of primary care services and out-of-hours general practice options in that 
community. Where these services are unavailable or restrictive, community members 
may need to attend a rural hospital emergency department or service for treatment. 

In 2019-20, the percentage of emergency department attendances triaged as category 
4 and 5 and not admitted can be seen in Table 7.

Table 7: Percentage of hospital emergency attendances with a triage score of 4 and 5  
not admitted

Triage Category
2018–19 

Performance (%)
2019–20 

Performance (%) Target (%)

4 – 
Semi Urgent

91.1 91.7 92.0

5 – 
Non-Urgent

97.7 97.8 97.9

Summary of key performance indicators
Improvements towards emergency department access
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Clinical governance and performance
Quality and standards
Robust systems and standards are essential for 
high quality health care. Independent assessment 
and testing of these systems and standards is 
important for assurance and improvement. 
Clinical governance describes the system through which 
health organisations are accountable for continuously 
improving the quality of their services and safeguarding 
high standards of care. This is achieved by creating an 
environment where there is transparent responsibility 
and accountability for maintaining standards and by 
striving for excellence in clinical care. The WA Country 
Health Service Clinical Governance Framework, 
endorsed in early 2018 has now been implemented 
across all WA Country Health Service regions to ensure 
that patients receive safe and high quality healthcare 
and that there are effective organisational safety and 
quality systems in place to achieve this.

QUALITY AND STANDARDS
The Australian Health Service Safety and Quality 
Accreditation (AHSSQA) Scheme provides the national 
requirements of accreditation processes required of 
Australian health services. AHSSQA has developed the 
National Safety and Quality Health Standards (NSQHS) 
to guide health service organisations and Boards in their 
responsibility and obligation for clinical governance of 
their organisation. 

Accreditation under the NSQHS Standards and 
assessment against the National Standards for Mental 
Health Services, a Chief Psychiatrist requirement, forms 
part of this assurance. The 2nd edition of the NSQHS 
Standards came into effect 1 January 2019.  In 2019-20 
the Great Southern, Midwest and South West regions 
were awarded accreditation by the Australian Council on 
Health Care Standards (ACHS) as meeting the NSQHS 
Standard requirements. All three regions also received a 
Certificate	of	Recognition	from	the	ACHS	for	the	
service’s incorporation of the National Standards for 
Mental Health Services into their practices within the 

framework of the National Safety and Quality Health 
Service Standards. The remaining four regions are 
scheduled to be assessed in 2021.

The ACHS also provides accreditation for corporate 
services with oversight of healthcare facilities under their 
National Corporate Program. Corporate accreditation, a 
voluntary process, includes the eight NSQHS Standards 
and is a comprehensive accreditation and quality 
improvement program that facilitates alignment between 
the corporate service and its health facilities. The 
application of the same standards across the 
organisation promotes high quality and safe care for 
consumers by ensuring that there are standard practices 
between	our	corporate	offices	and	all	of	our	hospitals	
and community based services.

WA Country Health Service was scheduled to complete 
its second corporate accreditation assessment in 2020 
but this has been deferred due to the COVID-19 
pandemic response and will be conducted in 2021. 
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Clinical governance and performance
Learning from clinical incidents
The WA Country Health Service employs people 
who are dedicated to working with consumers 
and provide compassionate high quality care in 
complex circumstances to the best of their ability. 
They strive to reduce avoidable patient harm but 
there are a small proportion of occasions where 
the system fails and patient harm occurs, or could 
have occurred.
In these circumstances we are fully committed to 
honest and open communication with the patient and 
their family or carer. Our systems support proactive 
reporting, review and analysis of clinical incidents and 
we are committed to learning from what went wrong to 
reduce elements of unreliability and prevent harm.

Notwithstanding	the	significant	effort	we	invest	in	
ensuring safe and high quality care for our patients, 
sometimes the health care does not go to plan. In 
these instances clinical incidents are reported and 
assigned a Severity Assessment Code (SAC) rating 
that guides the level of investigation that is to take 
place.

SAC 1 clinical incidents are the most serious category 
resulting in serious harm or death that are, or could be, 
specifically	caused	by	healthcare	rather	than	the	
patient’s underlying condition or illness. All SAC 1 
clinical incidents are investigated in line with the WA 
Health Clinical Incident Management Policy. We have a 

robust approach to the review of these clinical incidents 
that includes oversight by our Board Safety and Quality 
Committee.

During 2019-20, there were 117 SAC 1 clinical 
incidents reported in WA Country Health Service. 
These incidents represent a very small proportion of 
over 150,000 annual admissions, over 550,000 
outpatient appointments and over 400,000 patients who 
presented to our emergency departments. Of these,  
31 incidents are examples of ‘near miss’ incidents 
where serious harm or death was averted. 

Of the 117 SAC 1 incidents, the patient outcome was 
noted as follows:

Patient outcome Number

Death 44

Serious harm 42

No harm (near miss that may have but 
did not cause harm, either by chance 
or through timely intervention)

31

Total 117

WA Country Health Service applies a low threshold for 
reporting clinical incidents with over a quarter of 
reported SAC1 incidents resulting in no harm. 
Consistent with this approach, there were also 19 
incidents that were originally reported as SAC 1 where, 
following	investigation	and	findings	that	the	healthcare	
provided was determined not to have contributed to the 
poor patient outcome, the Department of Health 
approved	declassification.	

Two SAC 1 clinical incidents reported in 2019-20 met 
the criteria for reporting as a national sentinel event; 
Medication error resulting in serious harm or death and 
suspected suicide of a patient in an acute psychiatric 
unit or acute psychiatric ward. National sentinel events 
are a discrete set of infrequently occurring SAC 1 
events that are considered wholly preventable and 
caused serious harm or death to a patient.

A review of door hardware in all acute psychiatric 
wards has been undertaken as a result of the incident 
in the acute psychiatric unit.

As a result of the medication incident, clinical handover 
processes between palliative and inpatient services 
have been strengthened. Palliative care and medication 
management governance has also been improved.
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Clinical governance and performance
Falls and pressure injuries
Along with healthcare associated infections, 
falls and pressure injuries are common causes 
of harm in healthcare. 
WA Country Health Service has processes that are 
consistent with the National Safety and Quality Health 
Service Standards to reduce the risk to patients and 
residents falling or developing a pressure injury. Falls 
and pressure injury data is discussed routinely at 
quarterly regional Business Performance Meetings 
demonstrating recognition of the impact to a patient, 
their carer and community.

FALLS
The WA Country Health Service Falls Management 
Committee plays a key role in promoting improvements 
in the prevention and management of falls across our 
sites. The committee enables the sharing of regional 
quality	improvement	activities,	reflecting	local	responses	
to falls risk that vary between our regions based on 
population characteristics. One of these initiatives is the 
‘Falls Huddles’ at Geraldton Hospital in the Midwest 
region which was presented at the 2019 WA Grassroots 
Falls Festival. The ‘huddle’ involves a short, focused 
gathering of the multidisciplinary team and where 
possible the patient, carer or family to review the 
strategies that are put in place for a patient who has 
experienced a fall or is at risk of falls. 

The WA Country Health Service inpatient rate of falls is 
below the Australian Council of Healthcare Services 
inpatient rate for 2018, as outlined in Chart 2.

PRESSURE INJURIES
A pressure injury is a localised injury to the skin and/or 
underlying tissue, usually over a bony prominence, as a 
result of pressure or pressure in combination with 
shear. Pressure injuries are largely considered 
avoidable and have the potential to be life threatening. 

They also have consequences for quality of life, 
infection, pain, alteration to sleep and mood, delayed 
healing and the provision of services.

WA Country Health Service has comprehensive 
evidence-based systems in place for assessing and 
preventing pressure injuries.

The WA Country Health Service inpatient rate of 
pressure injuries is mostly below the Australian Council 
of Healthcare Services inpatient rate for 2018, as 
outlined in Chart 3.

Chart 2: Rate of inpatient falls 2017-18 to 2019-20
Chart 3: Rate of inpatients who develop one or more 
pressure injury 2017-18 to 2019-20
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Clinical governance and performance
Preventing healthcare associated infections
Healthcare-associated infections are the most 
common complication affecting patients in 
hospitals. They cause patients pain and suffering, 
prolong	hospital	stays	and	can	cause	significant	
morbidity and mortality. 
At least half of healthcare-associated infections are thought 
to be preventable with infection prevention and control 
practices and all healthcare facilities should aim to 
eliminate these infections. 
Effective hand hygiene, through hand washing or applying 
alcohol-based hand rub, is the single most effective action 
to reduce healthcare-associated infections.
Over the last decade the National Hand Hygiene Initiative 
has been operating with the aim to improve hand hygiene 

compliance among healthcare workers and includes 
auditing of hand hygiene compliance nationally three times 
a	year.	A	significant	achievement	in	2019-20	was	the	
improvement in hand hygiene practices by medical staff 
which	exceeded	80	per	cent	for	the	first	time.	Overall	hand	
hygiene results for WA Country Health Service was close to 
90 per cent, well above the national hand hygiene 
benchmark of 80 per cent set by the Australian Health 
Ministers’ Advisory Council.
Staphylococcus aureus is a type of bacteria, often found on 
the skin of healthy people that can cause an infection of the 
bloodstream after a patient receives medical care or 
treatment in hospital. Contracting a Staphylococcus aureus 
bloodstream infection while in hospital can be life threatening. 

Figure 2: WACHS rate of hand hygiene compliance 
2019-20

The WA Country Health Service contributes to the 
surveillance of Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus 
aureus bloodstream infections (HA-SABSI) through the 
Department of Health Healthcare Infection Surveillance 
Western Australia (HISWA) program.
Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream 
infection rates at WA Country Health Service hospitals have 
been on decline since Q2 2018/19. On average, WA Country 

Health Service – SABSI rate (Q1 17/18 – Q3 19/20) is  
0.6 infections per 10,000 bed days, well below the HISWA 
maximum of a single infection per 10,000 days.
The reduction in infections may in part be attributable to 
improvements overseen by the WA Country Health Service 
Infection Prevention and Control Committee including 
prompts for clinical staff to remove intravenous devices 
when no longer required or replace them. The Great 
Southern region are trialing a criteria-based system to 
ensure the need for intravenous devices is reviewed. If 
successful, this system will be considered for implementation 
across all WA Country Health Service regions. 

Chart 4: Rate of SABSI per 10,000 bed days  
2017-18 to 2019-20, Q3.
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Care Opinion is an independent web-based 
consumer feedback platform that allows the 
people who use our services, their families and 
carers to comment on their experiences. The 
platform allows people to communicate with 
health services quickly, via their phone or other 
electronic device, and provides a channel for us 
to keep in touch with people regarding the 
outcome of their feedback and what action we 
have taken.

The site is independently moderated and is intended to 
supplement and enhance existing feedback and 
complaints systems by providing a more informal and 
real-time avenue for consumers to be heard. The 
platform has steadily gained momentum with consumers 
sharing their stories via the website regularly across the 
state. District health advisory councils continue to help 
promote the feedback platform in the community and to 
encourage people to share their stories.

Consistent with our annual patient survey results, the 
majority of stories shared on Care Opinion have been 

complimentary of our dedicated and caring staff. These 
stories are shared with the relevant staff and teams to 
highlight and celebrate their achievements, recognise 
and reinforce positive behaviours, and increase staff 
engagement. This contributes to building a strong, 
positive and person-centred service culture, which in 
turn, provides for positive and caring experiences for 
the people who use our services. 

Over the course of 2019-20, we received 643 stories, 
and as of 30 June 2020 those stories have been viewed 
on Care Opinion 167,344 times. These posts generate 
a process of feedback to staff and review of systems to 
help improve day to day care. They also allow us to 
acknowledge staff that have been commended for their 
care and dedication. Positive or complimentary stories 
made up 66 per cent of the stories added this year. A 
number of these stories have also led to the 
implementation of a material change in the way we 
provide our service. Feedback and responses are 
openly logged for everyone to view, including our 
Executive and Board members. 

The platform continues to be strongly supported by the 
district health advisory councils and Health Consumers 
Council WA, and the site is monitored by both local 
health service staff, as well as local district health 
advisory council members and our Board and Executive 
receive regular reporting on our performance. In 
2019-20, 91 of the story authors who chose to indicate 
whether the response they received was helpful, agreed 
with that statement. 

Patient experience and satisfaction
Care Opinion

The amazing provision of  
physical and mental health care 

provided to my teenager. It is difficult 
being a parent of teenagers in the 
modern world. The support I have 

received has been invaluable.  
I wouldn’t have known what to do if 

this service was not available.
A parent in Bunbury
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To go to the Care Opinion 
website – click here

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=x52VMCHf-b4
https://www.aihw.gov.au/myhospitals
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eXVThBNgPEA&t=2s
https://www.aihw.gov.au/myhospitals
www.careopinion.org.au


Patient experience and satisfaction
Care Opinion

We strive to provide the highest quality of health care to our 
patients, their carers and loved ones. However, we acknowledge 
there are times we may unintentionally fall short of delivering the 
standard of care that we aspire to. Not all of the feedback we 
receive	is	complimentary.	By	listening	to	and	reflecting	upon	the	
feedback of our consumers we work to improve the services we 
deliver. Platforms like Care Opinion are vital in helping us hear more 
feedback from the people we serve.

What we heard:

What we did:

It was very sad that all of the doctors we saw, I felt not one of them could 
pick up the most obvious diabetes/dka signs. I believe there needs to be more 
diabetes training at Bunbury Hospital. A patient in Bunbury

I wanted to provide you with an update on the changes we said we would 
put in place at Bunbury Hospital. Staff from our Emergency and Paediatrics 
departments have worked with the Diabetic Educator Team at Perth Children’s 
Hospital (PCH) to provide training and resources for diabetes to our staff in 
emergency department and paediatrics here in Bunbury. This was done via 
video conference with the Diabetic Educators from PCH.

Response provided on Care Opinion to the author

I was in hospital for a week. I’ve only ever been to hospital in the past to 
have babies. I was astounded by the level of care and kindness I experienced at the 
Emergency Department, then the Day Surgery Ward and then to the General Ward. 
It is one thing to do your job competently but another to show such compassion to 
patients. I had my gallbladder removed. It was a very painful experience and I was very 
grateful to the staff for their understanding and for the way I was treated!

A patient at Geraldton Hospital

Collie staff join local consumers for a ‘conversation over a cuppa’ at the Collie Consumer 
Engagement Cafe.
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My mother is in Sandalwood House Aged Care at York Hospital and I am very 
grateful that she is the recipient of such beautiful care. With the COVID restrictions 
implemented to keep everyone safe, we have not visited mum.
Mum is unable to use a telephone however through the thoughtfulness of staff we have 
kept our contact with her. From the cleaning staff, Cooks, to PCs and Nurses they are very 
mindful of all mum’s needs… To have the knowledge that Mum is well taken care of puts 
our family at great ease. I believe the staff we deal with are selfless, highly trained and 
genuinely caring. We will be forever grateful to them.

A York Health Service Patient’s family

Patient experience and satisfaction
Care Opinion

My relative started attending a social group in the Rehabilitation Ward at Albany 
Hospital. What we witnessed was awesome. There were three sick people including my 
relative in similar conditions in the room. There were 2-3 staff members and one older 
helper in the room when we arrived. They were all busy playing, building and talking.
The main guy was getting ready to make some food and we have asked my relative if 
they wanted to help. Within seconds, my relative was flipping the sausages and engaging 
in a light conversation with the carer. Music was playing and we mentioned to the guy 
in charge that my relative loved Cat Stevens and Elton John. 5 minutes later, Cat Stevens 
was playing and my relative was singing along, eyes moist. They really came alive. 
We were very touched and grateful.

A relative of a patient at Albany Health Campus

I took my young toddler to our local drop-in speech pathology clinic when I 
noticed they weren’t talking like I was expecting for their age. We had a brief session 
at the clinic where the speech pathologist heard my concerns and observed my child 
playing… I was impressed to get some correspondence quite quickly confirming that we 
had been referred and to expect an appointment time soon… I was pleased to receive a 
phone call while we were away so I could make an appointment for quite soon after we 
returned to Broome.

Overall my child’s speech has improved dramatically in the time that I have been 
communicating with the staff member and I’m sure that a lot of it is thanks to her support 
and guidance. I was continually impressed and grateful for her efforts and keeping in 
contact with me and her encouragement of how my child was, and is, progressing with 
their speech.

A parent in Broome

Clinical Nurse Manager Candice Hatch with residents Daisy Heslington, Jacquelyn Price and 
family member Jenny Caunt making flower arrangements at Canarvon.
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The Patient Evaluation of Health Services survey 
is conducted annually to gauge patient 
satisfaction levels with WA Country Health Service 
hospitals. In 2019–20, the Department of Health 
surveyed 2,930 people who attended our hospitals 
asking them about their health care experiences 
during their stay in hospital. 
Responses from these questions are used to calculate 
the:

• Overall indicator of satisfaction	–	reflects	how	
patients rate the experience of their hospital stay  
(i.e. getting into hospital; the time and attention spent 
on patient care; co-ordination and consistency of 
care; meeting personal as well as clinical needs; 
information and communication; involvement in 
decisions about care and treatment; and residential 
aspects), weighted by the relative importance 
patients place on these aspects.

• Outcome score –	reflects	how	patients	rate	the	
outcome of their hospital stay (i.e. the impact on 
physical health and wellbeing).

In this year’s annual report, admitted patients (children 
aged 0-15 years and adults aged 16-74 years) who 
were in hospital from 0-34 nights are presented for  
WA Country Health Service. The survey participation 
rate was 95 per cent, with 2,076 admitted adult patients 
and 854 admitted child* patients interviewed.

Chart 5 shows for both admitted child and adult patients 
the patient rated Outcome of their visit is higher than 
their Overall Indicator of Satisfaction. This suggests that 
although	patients	were	satisfied	with	their	experience	in	
our	hospitals,	they	were	even	more	satisfied	with	the	
outcome of their hospital visit and the improvement    
in their condition. Additionally, for adult patients the 
Overall Indicator of Satisfaction was	significantly	higher	
for WA Country Health Service when compared with the 
state score.

Chart 5: Patient-rated overall satisfaction with health care 
compared to their satisfaction of the outcome, WACHS 
and State admitted child and adult patients, 2019–20

* Note: Interviews for children 0–15 years are completed by 
a parent or carer on behalf of the child. 
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05 Significant Issues
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Pandemic response 

Western Australia is working with the 
Commonwealth, state and territory governments 
to respond to coronavirus (COVID-19).
Implementing established emergency management 
protocols to respond to the COVID pandemic was 
fundamental to ensuring the safety of staff, patients and 
visitors.

In response to the declaration of a State Emergency 
under the Emergency Management Act (EMA) 2005; 
and a Public Health Emergency under Public Health Act 
(PHA) 2016, on 15 March 2020 and in accordance with 
Emergency Management arrangements and Standards, 
the WA Country Health Service established a central 
Emergency Operations Centre and Regional Emergency 
Operations Centres in each region.

Most emergencies can be managed and de-escalated 
quickly. Our organisation is well placed to respond to 
emergencies and routinely responds to scenarios such 
as	bushfire	and	cyclones	which	test	and	strengthen	our	
emergency management procedures. However, in large, 
prolonged and complex incidents there may be a 
requirement to provide high level coordination of 
resources in an Incident Management Team, and  
this has been achieved by the WA Country Health 
Service Emergency Operations Centre working in  
close consultation with the State Health Incident 
Coordination Centre and our Regional Emergency 
Operations Centres.

Over the course of the response the Emergency 
Operations Centre grew quickly to scale up to the 
necessary response with situational awareness and 
business	intelligence	capacity	advanced	quickly	to	fit	
the growing needs of the emergency response. As the 
situation becomes more controlled and the necessary 
processes have been established, the response team 
remains	in	place	and	can	flex	up	or	down	as	required,	
maintaining a level of agility to be able to respond to 
possible future outbreaks of the COVID-19 virus in 
country Western Australia over the foreseeable future. 

At	the	end	of	the	2019-20	financial	year	the	WA	Country	
Health Service is continuing to respond to the 
COVID-19 State Emergency with several cases having 
been	identified,	controlled	and	now	resolved	in	Western	
Australia’s regional areas. 

We are continuing to prepare for possible future 
outbreaks by ensuring we have plans in place should 
existing	resources	in	the	regions	be	insufficient	to	
maintain the level of care required for country 
communities.
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Your Voice in Health

WA Country Health Service staff make an 
essential contribution to the health of 
communities across country WA. We are proud of 
the care, commitment, and passion that our staff 
bring to their work. We want to attract and retain 
the best and brightest from country communities, 
the city and from outside WA. 
The Board and Executive are committed to the 
continued development of a positive workforce culture 

that embodies our values. The Minister for Health’s  
Your Voice in Health Survey, which commenced in 
2019, was again undertaken in 2020 to measure areas 
where we have improved.

At a high level the WA Country Health Service survey 
results were positive and showed that our staff feel 
positive about their work, are motivated to achieve our 
organisational objectives and are passionate and 
committed to service delivery and patient care. It was 

also clear that the work we have done in the past year 
to strengthen our engagement has been effective with 
creativity and innovation featuring as areas we have 
improved on since last year.

The survey highlighted several key areas for us to focus 
our improvement efforts including staff recognition, 
collaboration, communication and wellbeing. While the 
results showed that there has been a positive 
improvement across communication and engagement 
with leadership, there is still work to be done. 
Throughout the coming year we will continue working 
with staff to facilitate a collaborative approach to 
addressing the feedback that the ‘Your Voice in Health’ 
survey has facilitated. 

Left: Chief Executive Jeff Moffet addresses staff across the 
state at the Chief Executive (CE) Forum.

The WA Country Health Service 
survey results were positive and 

showed that our staff feel positive 
about their work.
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Strategies for sustainable service delivery

The new WA Country Health Service Strategic Plan 
2019 – 2024 which was released in early 2019, is 
closely aligned with the enduring strategies of the 
Sustainable Health Review. The Plan sets the 
direction	for	our	organisation	over	the	next	five	
years, laying the foundations to continue advancing 
country healthcare over the next 15 years.
To support the implementation of the Strategic Plan and 
priority areas in 2019-20 the WA Country Health 
Services has continued the development of key service-
based strategies that guide our decision making in 
priority	areas.	Each	strategy	has	undergone	significant	
consultation and describes the contemporary, innovative 
service delivery models required to meet our vision and 
improve service access for country communities. 

In 2019-20 the organisation has continued to develop 
and launch strategies in key priority areas including the 

Country Ambulance Strategy and our own Mental 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. These join our existing 
service strategies in the areas of Aboriginal Health, 
Maternal and Newborn Care, Cancer Services, 
Preventing and Managing Occupational Violence, Digital 
Innovation and Research and Innovation. Strategies for 
Pathology, Consumer Engagement, Health for Older 
People and Kidney Health are also in development.

Further to the development of our service strategies, we 
are working with the Department of Health’s Sustainable 
Health Implementation Support Unit to prioritise and 
progress the delivery of patient-centred, high quality 
and	financially	sustainable	healthcare,	in	accordance	
with the Sustainable Health Review Recommendations. 

WA Country Health Service has taken on a lead role in 
the advancement of Sustainable Health Review 
Recommendations 3a – ‘Reduce inequity in health 
outcomes and access to care with focus on Aboriginal 
people and families in line with the WA Aboriginal 
Health and Wellbeing Framework 2015-2030’ and 
Recommendation 12 – ‘Improve coordination and 
access for country patients by establishing formal links 
between regions and metropolitan health service 
providers for elective services including outpatients and 
telehealth, patient transfers, clinical support and 
education and training’, with the Chief Executive 
contributing as a member of the Sustainable Health 
Review’s Program Steering Committee.

This year we have  
continued to develop and launch 
strategies in key priority areas 
including the Country Ambulance 
Strategy and our own Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy.
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Certification of financial statements

WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE CERTIFICATION OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

The	accompanying	financial	statements	of	the	WA	Country	Health	Service	have	been	prepared	in	compliance	with	the	provisions	of	the	
Financial Management Act 2006 from	proper	accounts	and	records	to	represent	fairly	the	financial	transactions	for	the	reporting	period	
ending	30	June	2020	and	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2020.

At	the	date	of	signing	we	are	not	aware	of	any	circumstance	which	would	render	the	particulars	included	in	the	financial	statements	
misleading or inaccurate.
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Financial statements
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 30 June 2020

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
As at 30 June 2020

WA Country Health Service

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020

     Note 2020 2019
$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 3.1 1,125,671 1,056,963
Patient support costs 3.2 497,957 484,180
Finance costs 7.2 418 88
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 82,257 81,089
Asset revaluation decrement 5.1 49,429 21,661
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 5.1 272 371
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 3.3 51,679 46,216
Other expenses 3.3 179,839 175,615

Total cost of services 1,987,522 1,866,183

INCOME
Revenue

Patient charges 4.3 65,397 64,914
Commonwealth grants 4.2 557,884 517,430
Other grants 4.2 102,028 99,934
Donation revenue 428 495
Other revenue 4.4 24,736 20,756

Total revenue 750,473 703,529

Total income other than income from State Government 750,473 703,529

NET COST OF SERVICES 1,237,049 1,162,654

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 4.1 988,517 965,822
Assets assumed 4.1 13,948 (64)
Services received free of charge 4.1 63,576 55,286
Royalties for Regions Fund 4.1 101,559 96,970

Total income from State Government 1,167,600 1,118,014

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (69,449) (44,640)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation reserve -  -  
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity -  -  

Total other comprehensive income -  -  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD (69,449) (44,640)

Refer also to note 2.2 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

WA Country Health Service

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

Note 2020 2019
$000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7.4 25,593 20,434
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.4 37,865 25,751
Receivables 6.1 18,597 19,220
Right-of-use assets 5.2 18 -  
Other current assets 6.3 8,792 9,447

Total Current Assets 90,865 74,852

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.4 7,463 7,463
Amounts receivable for services 6.2 919,173 832,856
Property, plant and equipment 5.1 1,805,171 1,884,776
Right-of-use assets 5.2 16,433 -  
Intangible assets 5.3 16,340 18,842

Total Non-Current Assets 2,764,580 2,743,937

Total Assets 2,855,445 2,818,789

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 6.4 136,968 118,543
Contract liabilities 6.5 9,067 -  
Borrowings 7.1 -  1,865
Lease liabilities 7.3 5,490 -  
Provisions 3.1 168,171 154,151
Other current liabilities 332 363

Total Current Liabilities 320,028 274,922

Non-Current Liabilities
Contract liabilities 6.5 13,330 -  
Lease liabilities 7.3 10,088 -  
Provisions 3.1 33,569 30,147

Total Non-Current Liabilities 56,987 30,147

Total Liabilities 377,015 305,069

NET ASSETS 2,478,430 2,513,720

EQUITY
Contributed equity 9.11 2,679,558 2,628,458
Reserves -  -  
Accumulated deficit (201,128) (114,738)

TOTAL EQUITY 2,478,430 2,513,720

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial statements
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 30 June 2020

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 30 June 2020

WA Country Health Service

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

     Note 2020 2019
$000 $000

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 9.11
2,628,458 2,541,924

-  (564)
2,628,458 2,541,360

31,061 16,282
20,119 70,691

-  125
(80) -  

2,679,558 2,628,458

-  -  
-  -  

Balance at end of period -  -  

(114,738) (66,766)
-  (1,173)

(16,941) (2,159)
(131,679) (70,098)
(69,449) (44,640)

(201,128) (114,738)

2,513,720 2,475,158
-  (1,737)

(16,941) (2,159)
2,496,779 2,471,262

(69,449) (44,640)
51,100 87,098

2,478,430 2,513,720

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance at start of period

Comprehensive income/(loss) for the period

RESERVES

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Balance at end of period

Deficit for the period

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Balance at start of period

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards (Note 9.3)
Restated balance at start of period

Correction of prior period error (Note 9.2)

Correction of prior period errors (Note 9.2)

Balance at start of period

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations

Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners

Royalties for Regions Fund

Restated balance at start of period
Correction of prior period error (Note 9.2)

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

TOTAL EQUITY
Balance at start of period

Restated balance at start of period

WA Country Health Service

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2020

     Note 2020 2019
$000 $000

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
 Service appropriations 902,164 881,370
 Capital appropriations 29,196 14,503
 Royalties for Regions Fund 121,678 167,661

Net cash provided by State Government 1,053,038 1,063,534

Utilised as follows:

      CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

 Employee benefits (1,102,722) (1,041,413)
 Supplies and services (644,668) (626,995)
 Finance costs (388) -  

Receipts
 Receipts from customers 66,052 63,126
 Commonwealth grants 553,179 517,430
 Other grants 112,190 99,934
 Donations received 428 495
 Other receipts 24,751 19,612

Net cash used in operating activities 7.4 (991,178) (967,811)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (36,555) (93,053)
Net cash used in investing activities (36,555) (93,053)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Principal elements of lease (8,032) -  
Net cash used in financing activities (8,032) -  

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17,273 2,670

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 53,648 50,978

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 7.4 70,921 53,648

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WA Country Health Service

Summary of consolidated account appropriations
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Budget Estimate
Supplementary 

Funding Revised Budget Actual Variance
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Delivery of Services (a)

Net amount appropriated to deliver services 976,470 11,522 987,992 988,517 525

Section 25 Transfer of service appropriation -  -  -  -  -  

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 -  -  -  -  -  

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 976,470 11,522 987,992 988,517 525

Capital (b)

Capital appropriations 34,272 (12,218) 22,054 31,061 9,007

Administered Transactions

Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments -  -  -  -  -  

Administered capital appropriations -  -  -  -  -             
Total administered transactions -  -  -  -  -  

Grand Total 1,010,742 (696) 1,010,046 1,019,578 9,532

Refer to Note 9.13 for explanation of variances.

(a) Service appropriations are parliamentary appropriations to fund net cost of services delivered by WA Country Health Service. Refer to Statement of Comprehensive Income for detailed
breakdown.

(b) Capital appropriations are parliamentary appropriations to fund capital projects and lease payments.
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 1 Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with:

1)     The Financial Management Act 2006 
2)     The Treasurer's Instructions 
3)     Australian Accounting Standards including applicable interpretations
4)     Where appropriate, those Australian Accounting Standards paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied.

Basis of preparation

Judgements and estimates

Contributed equity

Note 2 WA Country Health Service outputs

How WA Country Health Service operates

Note
WA Country Health Service objectives 2.1
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 2.2

2.1 WA Country Health Service objectives

Mission

This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the WA Country Health Service receives and how this funding
is utilised to achieve its objectives. 

WA Country Health Service’s purpose is to improve country people’s health and wellbeing through access to quality services and
by supporting people to look after their own health.

WA Country Health Service is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate
parent.  It is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the 'Overview' which does not form
part of these financial statements.

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such transfers can be recognised
as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by
Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions take precedence over the Australian Accounting
Standards. Several Australian Accounting Standards are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure
format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The significant
judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts
affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional
judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the historical
cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case
the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($’000).

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2 WA Country Health Service outputs (continued)

2.1 WA Country Health Service objectives (continued)
Services

1. Public Hospital Admitted Services

2. Public Hospital Emergency Services

3. Public Hospital Non-admitted Services

4. Mental Health Services

5. Aged and Continuing Care Services

6. Public and Community Health Services

7. Small Rural Hospital Services

Provides emergency care & limited acute medical/minor surgical services in locations 'close to home' for country
residents/visitors, by small & rural hospitals classified as block funded. Include community care services aligning to local
community needs.

The provision of inpatient services where an admitted patient occupies a bed in a designated mental health facility or a
designated mental health unit in a hospital setting; and the provision of non-admitted services inclusive of community and
ambulatory specialised mental health programs such as prevention and promotion, community support services, community
treatment services, community bed based services and forensic services. This Service includes the provision of state-wide
mental health services such as perinatal mental health and eating disorder outreach programs as well as the provision of
assessment, treatment, management, care or rehabilitation of persons experiencing alcohol or other drug use problems or co-
occurring health issues. Mental Health Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health
service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to mental health or alcohol and
drug services. This service includes public patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health.

The key services of WA Country Health Service are:

The provision of healthcare services to patients in major rural hospitals that meet the criteria for admission and receive treatment
and/or care for a period of time, including public patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health. Admission to
hospital and the treatment provided may include access to acute and/or subacute inpatient services, as well as hospital in the
home services. Public Hospital Admitted Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public
health service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to admitted services. This
Service does not include any component of the Mental Health Services reported under Service four “Mental Health Services”.

The provision of services for the treatment of patients in emergency departments of major rural hospitals, inclusive of public
patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health. The services provided to patients are specifically designed to
provide emergency care, including a range of pre-admission, post-acute and other specialist medical, allied health, nursing and
ancillary services. Public Hospital Emergency Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public
health service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to emergency services.
This Service does not include any component of the Mental Health Services reported under Service four “Mental Health
Services”.

The provision of major rural hospital services to patients who do not undergo a formal admission process, inclusive of public
patients treated by private facilities under contract to WA Health. This Service includes services provided to patients in outpatient
clinics, community based clinics or in the home, procedures, medical consultation, allied health or treatment provided by clinical
nurse specialists. Public Hospital Non-Admitted Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the
public health service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to non-admitted
services. This Service does not include any component of the Mental Health Services reported under Service four “Mental Health
Services”.

The provision of aged and continuing care services and community based palliative care services. Aged and continuing care
services include programs that assess the care needs of older people, provide functional interim care or support for older, frail,
aged and younger people with disabilities to continue living independently in the community and maintain independence,
inclusive of the services provided by the WA Quadriplegic Centre. Aged and Continuing Care Services is inclusive of community
based palliative care services that are delivered by private facilities under contract to WA Health, which focus on the prevention
and relief of suffering, quality of life and the choice of care close to home for patients.

The provision of healthcare services and programs delivered to increase optimal health and wellbeing, encourage healthy
lifestyles, reduce the onset of disease and disability, reduce the risk of long-term illness as well as detect, protect and monitor
the incidence of disease in the population. Public and Community Health Services includes public health programs, Aboriginal
health programs, disaster management, environmental health, the provision of grants to non-government organisations for public
and community health purposes, emergency road and air ambulance services, services to assist rural based patients travel to
receive care, and statewide pathology services provided to external WA Agencies.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2 WA Country Health Service outputs (continued)

2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 408,594 391,081 179,560 169,658 70,197 62,869 99,580 94,258
Patient support costs 188,322 184,710 62,994 56,307 33,533 30,660 5,203 5,011
Finance costs 97 52 35 14 16 8 76 0
Depreciation and amortisation expense 33,027 33,425 10,288 10,612 5,073 5,350 1,158 198
Asset revaluation decrement 19,277 5,806 3,460 2,203 1,483 1,055 989 (4)
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 136 186 25 48 78 29 6 1
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 20,286 19,344 6,322 5,827 3,890 3,355 1,937 2,444
Other expenses 53,545 50,251 24,891 20,785 11,330 9,614 18,605 19,267

Total cost of services 723,284 684,855 287,575 265,454 125,600 112,940 127,554 121,175

Income
Patient charges 20,465 20,264 3,450 2,782 19,281 17,128 499 381
Commonwealth grants 221,144 212,681 71,874 66,450 46,651 42,161 30,481 28,226
Other grants 2,012 1,897 2,017 2,642 751 1,152 92,396 88,737
Donation revenue 181 321 33 35 6 6 8 17
Other revenue 11,051 7,983 3,249 2,757 2,788 2,329 438 991

Total income other than income from State Government 254,853 243,146 80,623 74,666 69,477 62,776 123,822 118,352

NET COST OF SERVICES 468,431 441,709 206,952 190,788 56,123 50,164 3,732 2,823

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 404,767 404,106 164,136 155,694 43,755 50,851 -  -  
Assets assumed 5,076 (16) 2,018 (15) 881 1 895 (3)
Services received free of charge 26,760 21,562 10,636 3,870 4,645 1,659 2,600 1,106
Royalties for Regions Fund 3,524 4,661 17,163 23,787 5,245 649 548 1,003

Total income from State Government 440,127 430,313 193,953 183,336 54,526 53,160 4,043 2,106

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (28,304) (11,396) (12,999) (7,452) (1,597) 2,996 311 (717)

(a) Includes services in addition to those provided under agreement with the Mental Health Commission for specialised admitted patients and community mental health.

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Public Hospital 
Admitted Services

Public Hospital 
Emergency Services

Public Hospital
Non-Admitted Services

Mental Health 
Services (a)
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Note 2 WA Country Health Service outputs (continued)

2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service (continued)

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 100,883 94,109 140,279 121,983 126,578 123,005 1,125,671 1,056,963
Patient support costs 11,503 13,798 148,366 145,059 48,036 48,635 497,957 484,180
Finance costs 31 0 106 -  57 14 418 88
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3,618 2,781 6,062 4,184 23,031 24,539 82,257 81,089
Asset revaluation decrement 494 (11) 7,414 (40) 16,312 12,652 49,429 21,661
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 12 34 -  17 15 56 272 371
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 2,891 1,975 4,946 3,727 11,407 9,544 51,679 46,216
Other expenses 16,496 16,195 29,417 32,645 25,555 26,858 179,839 175,615

Total cost of services 135,928 128,881 336,590 307,575 250,991 245,303 1,987,522 1,866,183

Income
Patient charges 11,676 11,897 6,235 8,934 3,791 3,528 65,397 64,914
Commonwealth grants 61,034 56,279 22,348 13,971 104,352 97,662 557,884 517,430
Other grants 92 703 4,580 4,297 180 506 102,028 99,934
Donation revenue 21 28 92 49 87 39 428 495
Other revenue 2,098 2,207 1,763 2,079 3,349 2,410 24,736 20,756

Total income other than income from State Government 74,921 71,114 35,018 29,330 111,759 104,145 750,473 703,529

NET COST OF SERVICES 61,007 57,767 301,572 278,245 139,232 141,158 1,237,049 1,162,654

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 52,403 48,587 229,195 203,319 94,261 103,265 988,517 965,822
Assets assumed 955 (11) 2,362 (9) 1,761 (11) 13,948 (64)
Services received free of charge 2,774 2,764 6,866 9,951 9,295 14,374 63,576 55,286
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,235 3,606 45,066 43,604 28,778 19,660 101,559 96,970

Total income from State Government 57,367 54,946 283,489 256,865 134,095 137,288 1,167,600 1,118,014

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (3,640) (2,821) (18,083) (21,380) (5,137) (3,870) (69,449) (44,640)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Small Rural
Hospital Services Total

Aged and Continuing 
Care Services

Public and Community
Health Services
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 3 Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Notes 2020 2019
$000 $000

Employee benefits expense 3.1(a) 1,125,671 1,056,963
Employee benefits provisions 3.1(b) 201,740 184,298
Patient support costs 3.2 497,957 484,180
Repairs, maintenance, consumable equipment and other expenses 3.3 231,518 221,831

3.1(a) Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages 1,042,635 978,250
83,036 78,713

1,125,671 1,056,963
2,162 -  
(893) -  

1,126,940 1,056,963

Superannuation expenses

AASB 16 Non-monerary benefits

3.1(b) Employee related provisions

2020 2019
$000 $000

Current

81,084 71,112
30,651 29,089
50,242 49,103
2,393 2,099
3,801 2,748

168,171 154,151
Non-current

32,779 29,427
790 720

33,569 30,147

201,740 184,298

Time off in lieu leave (a)

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries and wages, annual leave, time off in lieu leave and
long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are
delivered.

Long service leave (b)

Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave (b)
Gratuities (c)

Deferred salary scheme (d) 

This section provides additional information about how WA Country Health Service's funding is applied and the accounting
policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses
incurred by WA Country Health Service in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

Total employee benefits expense

Net employee benefits expense

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 

Salaries and wages comprise of all costs related to employment including the fringe benefits tax component, the value of
superannuation contribution component of leave entitlements and redundancy payments.

The superannuation expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contribution to the
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), the GESB Super Scheme
(GESBS), or other superannuation funds. 

Salaries and wages

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular
schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

Less: Employee Contribution towards leases within scope of AASB 16
Add: AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits

Employee benefits in the form of non-monetary benefits, such as the provision of motor vehicles or housing, are measured at
cost.

Gratuities (c)

Annual leave (a)
Employee benefits provisions

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 3 Use of our funding (continued)

3.1(b) Employee related provisions (continued)
2020 2019
$000 $000

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 89,258 81,345
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 22,477 18,856

111,735 100,201

13,663 13,646
69,358 64,884
83,021 78,530

2,307 1,027
1,494 1,721
3,801 2,748

   ●  Discount rates

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current
liabilities because WA Country Health Service has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

   ● Expected future payments

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the WA Country Health Service’s long service leave provision.
These include:

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits
expense.

   ●  Expected future salaries rates

   ● Employee retention rates; and 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as WA Country Health
Service does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in
relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are
estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, and
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows.

(d) The provision for the deferred salary scheme relates to WA Country Health Service's
employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional twelve months
leave to be taken in the fifth year of the agreement. Deferred salary scheme liabilities are
classified as current liabilities as WA Country Health Service does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

(a) Annual leave liabilities and time off in lieu leave liabilities are classified as current
liabilities as WA Country Health Service does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

(b) Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as WA
Country Health Service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(c) The provision for gratuity relates to WA Country Health Service's employees who 
become qualified for gratuity payment upon completion of continuous services as specified 
in industrial awards.  The payment will be made in the first pay period on or after the date 
the entitlement falls due.

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

The provision for annual leave and time off in lieu leave is calculated at the present value of
expected payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 3 Use of our funding (continued)

3.2 Patient support costs
2020 2019
$000 $000

Fees for visiting medical practitioners 94,798 93,354
Medical supplies and services 85,092 83,016
Domestic charges 12,842 11,065
Fuel, light and power 34,927 33,640
Food supplies 11,551 10,950
Patient transport costs 91,698 92,230
Aboriginal health services 40,039 38,126
Pathology services 45,063 43,188
Purchase of health care services 13,276 15,288
Purchase of outsourced medical services 31,718 29,842
Purchase of other outsourced services 31,908 27,872
Grant payments 5,045 5,609
Total patient support costs 497,957 484,180

3.3 Repairs, maintenance, consumable equipment and other expenses 

Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment
Repairs and maintenance 32,882 26,375
Consumable equipment 18,797 19,841
Total repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expenses 51,679 46,216

Other expenses
Communications 10,411 9,015
Computer services 3,938 2,761
Workers compensation insurance 13,897 14,066
Other employee related expenses 32,307 32,171
Insurance 6,340 6,285
Legal expenses 177 428
Motor vehicle expenses 5,318 5,800
Lease expenses (a) 20,089 27,185
Printing and stationery 4,688 4,521
Expected credit losses expense (b) 234 3,443
Purchase of outsourced services 20,945 20,985
Shared services costs (c) 40,389 31,824
Other 21,106 17,131
Total other expenses 179,839 175,615

(c) Shared services costs represent the value of services related to Information technology, Human resources, Supply and
Finance provided by the Health Support Services during the financial year. These services are provided free of charge and the
corresponding revenue is reflected under Services Received Free of Charge.

The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Patient support costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.  

Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a
significant component of an asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(b) Expected credit losses expense is recognised as the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses. Allowance for
expected credit losses of trade receivables is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. WA
Country Health service has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. Refer to note 6.1.1 'Movement in the allowance
for impairment of trade receivables'.

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Pathology services represent the value of pathology service provided by Pathwest. $23.0 million (2019: $23.3 million) of these
services are provided free of charge and the corresponding revenue is reflected under Services Received Free of Charge.

(a) Lease expenses include variable lease payments, short term and low value leases of up to $5,000. This excludes leases
with another wholly-owned public sector entitiy lessor agency.  Refer to note 5.2.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 4 Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

Notes 2020 2019
$000 $000

Income from State Government 4.1 1,167,600 1,118,014
Commonwealth grants 4.2.1 557,884 517,430
Other grants 4.2.2 102,028 99,934
Patient charges 4.3 65,397 64,914
Other revenue 4.4 24,736 20,756

4.1 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation (a) 988,517 965,822
988,517 965,822

     Medical equipment to Pathwest -  (53)
     Medical equipment from South Metropolitan Health Services -  34
     Furniture to North Metropolitan Health Services -  (45)
     Medical equipment to North Metropolitan Health Services (14) -  
     Land from Department of Health 8,351 -  
     Building from Department of Health 5,611 -  
Total assets transferred 13,948 (64)

     Department of Finance - government accommodation 166 148
     Pathwest (Note 3.2) 23,021 23,314
     Health Support Services (Note 3..3 (c)) 40,389 31,824
Total services received 63,576 55,286

Regional Community Services Account: (d)

Regional Workers Incentives Allowance Payments 8,622 7,879
Expand the ear bus program 937 999
Digital Innovation, Transport and Access to Care - Recurrent 26,927 15,875
Digital Innovation, Transport and Access to Care - Patient Assisted Travel Scheme 33,600 45,485
Valley View Aged Care Centre -  500
Renal Dialysis - Recurrent 4,832 443
Meet and Greet Service 346 280
Kimberley Mobile Dialysis Unit 300 -  
Remote Indigenous Health Clinics 423 -  

Regional Infrastructure Headworks Account: (d)

Pilbara Health Partnership 2,941 3,272
Residential Aged and Dementia Care Investment Program 688 1,915
District Medical Workforce Program 21,943 20,322

101,559 96,970

1,167,600 1,118,014

   ●  Cash component; and 
   ●  A receivable (asset).

The receivable (holding account – note 6.2) comprises the following:

   ●  The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; 
   ●  The budgeted lease depreciation expense for the year; and 
   ●  Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

Total income from State Government

(a) Service appropriations are recognised as revenue at fair value of consideration received in the period in which WA Country
Health Service gains control of the appropriated funds. WA Country Health Service gains control of appropriated funds at the
time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at
Treasury.

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income).
Appropriation revenue comprises  the following:

Royalties for Regions Fund:

Total Royalties for Regions Fund

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the period: 

Assets transferred from/(to) other State government agencies during the period: (b)

This section provides additional information about how WA Country Health Service obtains its funding and the relevant
accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by WA
Country Health Service and the relevant notes are:
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 4 Our funding sources (continued)

4.1 Income from State Government (continued)

4.2 Grants

4.2.1 Commonwealth grants 
2020 2019
$000 $000

Recurrent 

National Health Reform Agreement via the Department of Health 432,171 404,573
National Health Reform Agreement via the Mental Health Commission 29,557 27,545
Multi Purpose Service Units 34,479 28,161
Commonwealth Home Support Programme 11,799 15,322
Other 38,694 33,689

Capital

Bringing Renal Dialysis & Support Services Closer 11,184 5,000
Strengthening Regional Cancer Services -  2,480
Other -  660

557,884 517,430

4.2.2 Other grants 

Recurrent 

Mental Health Commission - service delivery agreement 80,442 74,538
Mental Health Commission - SSAMHS 3,501 6,791
Mental Health Commission - Community drug and alcohol service 5,324 5,155
Mental Health Commission - Other specific projects 934 468
Disability Services Commission - Community aids and equipment program 1,274 2,124
Other 10,123 10,858

Capital

Newman Hospital Redevelopment 430 -  

102,028 99,934

(c) Services received free of charge or for nominal cost, are recognised as revenues at the fair value of those services that can
be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. Services received free of charge from
Health Support Service are corporate services including Finance, Human Resources, Supply and Information Technology.
Pathwest provides some pathology services free of charge and the total pathology costs is recorded in Patient support costs

(b) Transfer of assets: Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State government agencies are 
reported under Income from State Government. 

(d) The Regional Community Services Account and the Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account are sub-funds within the 
over-arching Royalties for Regions Fund. Funding is committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

Refer to Note 4.2 for accounting policy to recognise grant revenue.

Capital grants are recognised as revenue when WA Country Health Service satisfies the obligations specified in the grant
agreements. When evaluating when WA Country Health Service satisfies its obligations, it relies on percentage of completion
confirmed by the project manager, Building Management and Works, Department of Finance.

Wherever applicable, revenue is recognised when WA Country Health Service satisfies sufficiently specific performance
obligations. Contract receivables and contract liabilies are recognised at stages to reflect entitlements and obligations within the
agreements. 

For funding agreements that do not contain sufficiently specific performance obligations, revenue is recognised when WA
Country Health Service gains control of the funds.

WA Country Health Service applies AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-
profit Entities from 1 July 2019. It has assessed funding agreements with grant providers to determine the accounting standard
that is applicable to individual funding streams.  Refer to Note 9.3(a).  

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 4 Our funding sources (continued)

4.3 Patient charges

2020 2019
$000 $000

Inpatient charges 24,233 26,063
Outpatient charges 41,164 38,851

65,397 64,914

4.4 Other revenue

7,566 6,713
Use of hospital facilities 2,495 2,425
Rent from commercial properties 1,129 1,103
Rent from residential properties 334 282
Employee contributions 6,328 6,453
Home and Community Care client fees 1,344 1,446
RiskCover insurance premium rebate 3,685 112
Other 1,855 2,222

24,736 20,756

Note 5 Key assets

Assets WA Country Health Service utilises for economic benefit or service potential

Notes 2020 2019
$000 $000

5.1 1,805,171 1,884,776
5.2 16,451 -  
5.3 16,340 18,842

1,837,962 1,903,618Total key assets

Services to external organisations

This section includes information regarding the key assets WA Country Health Service utilises to gain economic benefits or
provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance
of these assets:

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Revenue on provision of services or goods is recognised at a point of time when services or goods are transferred to 

Right-of-use assets

Patient charges at gazetted rates are recognised as revenue when health care is provided to patients.  

Riskcover insurance premium rebate is recognised when insurance premium liability is quenched by the rebate amount.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.1 Property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings

Buildings 
under 

constructions
Site 

Infrastructure
Leasehold 

improvements
Computer 

equipment
Furniture 

and fittings
Motor 

vehicles
Medical 

equipment

Other plant 
and 

equipment
Other works 
in progress Artworks Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Year ended 30 June 2020

Gross carrying amount 82,039 1,507,944 39,888 226,520 1,051 5,529 1,774 1,908 56,649 13,457 5,684 385 1,942,828
Accumulated depreciation -  -  -  (30,268) (620) (3,200) (505) (1,022) (18,956) (3,481) -  -  (58,052)
Carrying amount at start of period 82,039 1,507,944 39,888 196,252 431 2,329 1,269 886 37,693 9,976 5,684 385 1,884,776

Additions -  4,341 23,147 52 -  332 1,337 102 4,773 947 662 -  35,693
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities 8,271 4,500 -  1,111 -  -  -  -  (14) -  -  13,868
Transfers between asset classes 100 26,807 (28,779) 572 684 1,071 (1,272) -  699 3,369 (2,910) -  341
Other disposals -  -  -  (33) -  -  (9) -  (187) (36) (6) (271)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (1,433) (47,996) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (49,429)
Impairment losses -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Impairment losses reversed -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Depreciation -  (52,883) -  (10,297) (192) (1,326) (173) (346) (5,415) (1,848) -  (72,480)
Write-down of assets -  (5,946) -  (106) (13) -  (77) (3) (1,182) -  (7,327)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 88,977 1,442,713 28,310 187,657 923 2,300 1,139 642 37,472 12,405 2,254 379 1,805,171

Gross carrying amount 88,977 1,442,713 28,310 226,832 1,735 6,802 1,807 2,011 61,445 17,694 2,254 379 1,880,959
Accumulated depreciation -  -  -  (39,175) (812) (4,502) (668) (1,369) (23,973) (5,289) -  -  (75,788)

88,977 1,442,713 28,310 187,657 923 2,300 1,139 642 37,472 12,405 2,254 379 1,805,171

Year ended 30 June 2019

Gross carrying amount 82,282 1,285,768 318,515 196,987 1,176 5,627 2,478 1,363 46,161 9,844 5,017 75 1,955,293
Accumulated depreciation -  -  -  (20,102) (609) (2,031) (340) (771) (13,221) (2,005) -  -  (39,079)
Carrying amount at start of period 82,282 1,285,768 318,515 176,885 567 3,596 2,138 592 32,940 7,839 5,017 75 1,916,214

Additions -  284 60,837 83 -  453 683 499 7,364 1,805 5,436 315 77,759
Transfers from/(to) other reporting entities 125 -  -  -  -  (45) -  (19) -  -  -  61
Transfers between asset classes (50) 301,439 (334,466) 30,855 -  (508) (1,232) 46 3,640 1,863 (3,400) (5) (1,818)
Other disposals -  (9) -  -  (45) -  (40) -  (223) (54) -  -  (371)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (318) (21,343) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (21,661)
Impairment losses -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Impairment losses reversed -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Depreciation -  (58,195) -  (11,571) (91) (1,170) (180) (251) (5,958) (1,470) -  -  (78,886)
Write-down of assets -  -  (4,998) -  -  (42) (55) -  (51) (7) (1,369) -  (6,522)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 82,039 1,507,944 39,888 196,252 431 2,329 1,269 886 37,693 9,976 5,684 385 1,884,776

Gross carrying amount 82,039 1,507,944 39,888 226,520 1,051 5,529 1,774 1,908 56,649 13,457 5,684 385 1,942,828
Accumulated depreciation -  -  -  (30,268) (620) (3,200) (505) (1,022) (18,956) (3,481) -  -  (58,052)

82,039 1,507,944 39,888 196,252 431 2,329 1,269 886 37,693 9,976 5,684 385 1,884,776

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3

1 July 2019

1 July 2018
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Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

Revaluation model:

1. Fair value where market-based evidence is available: 

2. Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence:

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation and
Property Analytics). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2020 and recognised at 30 June 2020. In
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to the market value for land: $31.342 million (2019: $33.409
million) and buildings: $66.880 million (2019: $68.690 million). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined
on the basis of current replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence
for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings.

Buildings are specialised or where land is restricted: Fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. 

Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement
by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use
assets.

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset
is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and
equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Existing use buildings: Fair value is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits
embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. 

Land is carried at fair value and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the leasehold improvement.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and
Property Analytics) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair
value at the end of the reporting period.  

The fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference to recent
market transactions. 

Restricted use land: Fair value is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high
restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

When buildings are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the
net amount restated to the revalued amount.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment

Charge for the period 2020 2019
$000 $000

Depreciation

Buildings 52,883 58,195
Site Infrastructure 10,297 11,571
Leasehold improvements 192 91
Computer equipment 1,326 1,170
Furniture and fittings 173 180
Motor vehicles 347 251
Medical equipment 5,414 5,958
Other plant and equipment 1,848 1,470
Total depreciation for the period 72,480 78,886

Buildings 50 years
Site infrastructure 50 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term and useful life
Computer equipment 4 to 10 years
Furniture and fittings 10 to 20 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 10 years
Medical equipment 3 to 20 years
Other plant and equipment 4 to 30 years

Impairment

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable
amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment.

Please refer to note 5.3.1 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has been performed for intangible assets.

As WA Country Health Service is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is
anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

Land and artworks, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect
of these assets because their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually
to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement
through other comprehensive income. 

Finite useful lives

All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include assets held for sale,
land and investment properties.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over
its estimated useful life. Estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are:

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit or
loss. 

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable
amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period,
and adjustments made where appropriate. 
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Note 5 Key assets (continued)

2020 2019
$000 $000

5.1.2 Revaluation decrements

Land 1,432 318
Buildings 47,997 21,343

49,429 21,661

5.1.3 Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment -  -  

Carrying amount of non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 272 371

Net loss 272 371

Losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of
the asset and related selling expenses. Losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

Selling expenses (e.g. sales commissions netted from WA Country Health Service's receipts) are ordinarily immaterial. 

Realised and unrealised losses are usually recognised on a net basis. These include losses arising on the disposal of non-
current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.2 Right-of-use assets

Buildings - 
Accommodation

Buildings - Non-
accommodation Plant and equipment Motor vehicles Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Year ended 30 June 2020

At 30 Jun 2019
Opening net carrying amount -  -  -  -  -  
Recognition of right-of-use assets on initial application of AASB 16 2,451 2,706 293 12,185 17,635
Restated opening carrying amount 2,451 2,706 293 12,185 17,635

Gross carrying amount 2,451 2,706 293 12,185 17,635
Carrying amount at start of period 2,451 2,706 293 12,185 17,635

Additions 2,571 1,969 155 3,228 7,923
Disposals (28) (3) (66) (1,851) (1,948)
Depreciation (2,147) (1,029) (108) (3,875) (7,159)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 2,847 3,643 274 9,687 16,451

Gross carrying amount 4,896 4,629 382 12,991 22,898
Accumulated depreciation (2,049) (986) (108) (3,304) (6,447)

2,847 3,643 274 9,687 16,451

1 July 2019
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Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.2 Right-of-use assets (continued)

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

2020 2019
$000 $000

Current 18 -  
Non-current 16,433 -  

16,451 -  

2,147 -  
1,029 -  

108 -  
3,875 -  

388 -  
151 -  

9,458 -  
29 -  

(893) -  
16,292 -  

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:

  ●  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,
  ●  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received,
  ●  any initial direct cost, and
  ●  restoration costs, including dismatling and removing the underlying asset.

This includes all leased assets other than investment property ROU assets, which are measured in accordance with AASB 140
'Investment Property'.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of
the underlying assets.

WA Country Health Service has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding Agreements (MOU) with the Department of
Finance for the leasing of office accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 because of substitution rights held
by the Department of Finance and are accounted for as an expense as incurred.

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets

Lease interest expense
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in lease 
Short-term leases

    Buildings - Accommodation
    Buildings - Non-accommodation
    Plant and equipment
    Motor vehicles

Up to 30 June 2019, WA Country Health Service classified lease as either finance leases or operating leases.  From 1 July 2019, 
WA Country Health Service recognises leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in the Statement of
Financial Position.

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets are disclosed in note 7.3.

WA Country Health Service has leases for residential accommodation, office, clinics, vehicle and equipment.

Total Right-of-use assets

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income:

Low-value leases

Total amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019-20 was $17.91 million.

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets (Note 3.1(a))

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to WA Country Health Service at the end of the lease term or the costs reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in connection with
testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1

WA Country Health Service has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term lease (with a
lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with an underlying value of $5,000 or less) except where the lease is with
another wholly-owned public sector entity lessor agency. Lease payments associated with these leases are expensed over a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Key judgements to be made include identifying leases within contracts, determine whether there is reasonable certainity around
exercising extension and termination options, identifying whether payments are variable or fixed in substance and determining
the stand-alone selling prices for lease and non-lease components.

Estimation uncertainty that may arise is the estimation of the lease term, determination of the appropriate discount rate to
discount the lease payments and assessing whether the right-of-use assets needs to be impaired.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.3 Intangible assets

Computer 
software

Works in 
progress Total

$000 $000 $000
Year ended 30 June 2020

1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount 23,424 728 24,152
Accumulated amortisation (5,310) -  (5,310)
Carrying amount at start of period 18,114 728 18,842

Additions -  458 458
Transfers from work in progress 616 (957) (341)
Amortisation expense (2,618) -  (2,618)
Write-down of assets -  (1) (1)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 16,112 228 16,340

Year ended 30 June 2019

1 July 2018
Gross carrying amount 16,212 4,272 20,484
Accumulated depreciation (3,146) -  (3,146)
Carrying amount at start of period 13,066 4,272 17,338

Additions -  3,068 3,068
Transfers from work in progress 5,433 (5,433) -  
Transfers between asset classes 1,818 -  1,818
Amortisation expense (2,203) -  (2,203)
Write-down of assets -  (1,179) (1,179)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 18,114 728 18,842

Initial recognition

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $5,000 or more that
comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57, are capitalised. 

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at
the date of acquisition.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(c) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;

(e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

(f) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

(b) an intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
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Note 5 Key assets (continued)

5.3 Intangible assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

5.3.1 Amortisation and impairment

Charge for the period 2020 2019
$000 $000

Computer software 2,618 2,203
Total amortisation for the period 2,618 2,203

Computer software 5 - 10 years

Impairment

Computer software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

WA Country Health Service held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the
end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over its
estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by WA Country Health Service have a finite useful life and zero residual
value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually. 

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 6 Other assets and liabilities

Notes 2020 2019
$000 $000

Receivables 6.1 18,597 19,220
Amounts receivable for services 6.2 919,173 832,856
Other assets 6.3 8,792 9,447
Payables 6.4 136,968 118,543
Contract liabilities 6.5 22,397 -  

6.1 Receivables

Current

     Patient fee debtors 10,354 15,355
        Correction of prior period error -  (1,249)
        Restated patient fee debtors 10,354 14,106
     Non patient fee debtors 2,936 3,779
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (6,578) (10,063)
Other receivables 1,486 1,414
Contract receivables 700 -  
Accrued revenue 4,121 4,832
GST receivable 5,578 5,152

18,597 19,220

6.1.1. Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables:
Balance at start of period 10,063 4,428
Remeasurement under AASB 9 -  2,159
Restated balance at start of period 10,063 6,587
Expected credit losses expense 234 3,443
Amounts written off during the period (3,719) -  
Amounts recovered during the period -  33
Balance at end of period 6,578 10,063

6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Non-current 919,173 832,856
919,173 832,856

Amounts receivable for services are not considered to be impaired (that is there is no 
expected credit loss of the holding accounts).

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from WA Country Health Service's controlled operations and includes
other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

Trade receivables

Total receivables

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

Other receivables are mainly bond payments on leased properties and are recognised at
original value. These are not impaired as the bonds are expected to be refunded upon end
of leases.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for trade receivables
is the carrying amount of the asset inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the 
table at Note 8.1 (c) 'Credit risk exposure'.

WA Country Health Service does not hold any collateral as security or other credit
enhancements for trade receivables.

Balance at end of period

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement; payment of
leave liability; or funding depreciation expense for lease arrangements.

Contract receivables are recognised when specific performance obligations within funding
agreements are satisfied.  These are not impaired as payments are expected.
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 6 Other assets and liabilities (continued)

2020 2019
$000 $000

Current
Supply inventories 2,493 2,203
Pharmaceutical inventories 2,916 2,659
Other inventories 124 106
Prepayments 3,259 4,479

8,792 9,447

Current
Trade payables 35,955 14,244
        Correction of prior period error -  488
        Restated trade payables 35,955 14,732
Accrued expenses 77,987 86,659
Accrued salaries 23,026 17,147
Accrued interest -  5

136,968 118,543

Current 9,067 -  
Non-current 13,330 -  

22,397 -  

Reconciliation of changes in contract liabilities:
-  -  

3,190 -  
14,775 -  
17,965 -  
14,937 -  
(8,975) -  
(1,530) -  
22,397 -  

1 year 9,067 -  
1 to 5 years 13,330 -  
Over 5 years -  -  

22,397 -  

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting
period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period. WA Country
Health Service considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair
value.

Prepayments are payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of
expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in
which case they are measured at net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned
on a weighted average cost basis.

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when WA Country Health Service
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

6.5.1 Movement in contract liabilities

6.5 Contract liabilities

Total contract liabilities

6.3 Other assets

Balance at end of period

6.4 Payables

Balance at end of period

Funds returned to provider in the reporting period
Balance at end of period

6.5.2 Expected satisfaction of contract liabilities

Revenue recognition

Balance at start of period

Initial adoption of AASB 1058
Restated balance at start of period
Additions
Revenues recognised in the reporting period

Initial adoption of AASB 15

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 7 Financing

Notes

Borrowings 7.1
Finance costs 7.2
Lease liabilities 7.3
Cash and cash equivalents 7.4
Reconciliation of cash 7.4.1
Reconciliation of operating activities 7.4.2
Commitments 7.5
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 7.5.1
Capital commitments 7.5.2

2020 2019
$000 $000

Current
Department of Treasury loans (a) -  1,865

-  1,865

Lease interest expense 388 -  
Interest expense (a) 30 88

418 88

Current 5,490 -  
Non-current 10,088 -  

15,578 -  

   ●  Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

   ●  Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
   ●  The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be exercised); 

Subsequent measurement

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are dependent on sales are recognised by WA
Country Health Service in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which the condition that triggers those
payment occurs.

This section should be read in conjunction with note 5.2.

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring the carry amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

● Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement      

● Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects WA Country Health Service exercising an
option to terminate the lease.      

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any
future changes in variable lease payment (that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability
is assessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by WA Country Health Service if the
lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

Total lease liabilities

WA Country Health Service measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, WA Country Health Service uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury
Corporation.

Lease payments included by WA Country Health Service as part of the present value calculation of lease liability include:

7.3 Lease liabilities

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cashflows of WA Country Health
Service.

7.1 Borrowings

7.2 Finance costs

(a) All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received.  Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  Interest incurred are expensed as finance costs.
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Note 7 Financing (continued)

Notes 2020 2019
$000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 25,593 20,434
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (a) 8.1
     Royalties for Regions Fund 2,458 2,233
     Capital grant (b) 24,990 12,662
     Patient receipts under section 19 (2) of the Health Insurance Act 1973 4,324 4,389
     Bequests 647 746
     Mental Health Commission Funding (note 9.8) 790 260
     Other 4,656 5,461
     Accrued salaries suspense account (c) 7,463 7,463
Balance at end of period 70,921 53,648

Notes 2020 2019
$000 $000

Net cost of services 1,237,049 1,162,654 

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5.1.1, 5.2.1 (82,257) (81,089)
Asset revaluation decrement 5.1.2 (49,429) (21,661)
Loss from disposal of non-current assets 5.1.3 (272) (371)
Interest paid by Department of Health (35) (93)
Services received free of charge 4.1 (63,576) (55,286)
Write down of property, plant and equipment 5.1, 5.3 (7,328) (7,701)

Increase/(decrease) in assets
Receivables (a) (1,686) (1,019)
Other assets (655) (38)

(Increase)/decrease in liabilities
Payables (a) (18,833) (14,262)
Contract liabilities (4,877)
Current provisions (13,532) (10,750)
Non-current provisions (3,422) (2,262)
Other current liabilities 31 (311)

Net cash used in operating activities 991,178 967,811

(b) Unspent funds from the Commonwealth Government and private sector industry are committed to projects and programs in
WA regional areas.

7.4 Cash and cash equivalents

7.4.1 Reconciliation of cash

(a) Restricted cash and cash equivalents are assets, the uses of which are restricted, by specific legal or other externally
imposed requirements. 

(c) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting period that occurs every 11th year.
This account is classified as non current for 10 out of 11 years.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

7.4.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

(a) Note that the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling
items.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 7 Financing (continued)

2020 2019
$000 $000

7.5 Commitments

7.5.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Within 1 year -  13,550
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years -  17,599
Later than 5 years -  1,559

-  32,708

7.5.2 Capital commitments

Within 1 year 64,485 30,906
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 139,375 123,268
Later than 5 years -  -  

203,860 154,174

WACHS applies AASB 16 Leases  from 1 July 2019, recognsiing Right-of-Use assets and 
lease liabilities.  Refer to Note 5.2, 7.3 and 9.3(b).

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
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Note 8 Risks and Contingencies

Notes

Financial risk management 8.1
Contingent assets 8.2.1
Contingent liabilities 8.2.2
Fair value measurements 8.3

8.1 Financial risk management

(a) Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
$000 $000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 70,921 53,648
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (a) 932,192 846,924

1,003,113 900,572

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 152,546 120,408

152,546 120,408

Total financial assets

Total financial liability

(a) The amounts of Financial assets measured at amortised cost exclude GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Liquidity risk arises when the agency is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

WA Country Health Service is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

WA Country Health Service has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect WA Country
Health Service's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. WA Country Health Service does not trade in
foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. WA Country Health Service's exposure to market risk for
changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term debt obligations.

WA Country Health Service's borrowings are with the Department of Treasury and are at variable interest rates with varying
maturities. Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 8.1(e), WA Country Health Service is not
exposed to interest rate risk because the majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and
it has no borrowings other than the Treasurer’s loans and lease liabilities.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are:

Credit risk associated with WA Country Health Service's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than Government, WA Country Health Service trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. WA Country Health Service has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis with the result that WA Country Health Service's exposure to bad debts is minimal. Debt will be written off against the
allowance account when it is improbable or uneconomical to recover the debt. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of WA Country Health Service.

Financial instruments held by WA Country Health Service are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, payables, and borrowings. WA Country Health Service has limited exposure to financial risks. WA Country Health
Service's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of WA Country Health Service's receivables defaulting on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to WA Country Health Service.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 8 Risks and Contingencies

Notes

Financial risk management 8.1
Contingent assets 8.2.1
Contingent liabilities 8.2.2
Fair value measurements 8.3

8.1 Financial risk management

(a) Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
$000 $000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 70,921 53,648
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (a) 932,192 846,924

1,003,113 900,572

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 152,546 120,408

152,546 120,408

Total financial assets

Total financial liability

(a) The amounts of Financial assets measured at amortised cost exclude GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Liquidity risk arises when the agency is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

WA Country Health Service is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

WA Country Health Service has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect WA Country
Health Service's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. WA Country Health Service does not trade in
foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. WA Country Health Service's exposure to market risk for
changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term debt obligations.

WA Country Health Service's borrowings are with the Department of Treasury and are at variable interest rates with varying
maturities. Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 8.1(e), WA Country Health Service is not
exposed to interest rate risk because the majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and
it has no borrowings other than the Treasurer’s loans and lease liabilities.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are:

Credit risk associated with WA Country Health Service's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than Government, WA Country Health Service trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. WA Country Health Service has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis with the result that WA Country Health Service's exposure to bad debts is minimal. Debt will be written off against the
allowance account when it is improbable or uneconomical to recover the debt. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of WA Country Health Service.

Financial instruments held by WA Country Health Service are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, payables, and borrowings. WA Country Health Service has limited exposure to financial risks. WA Country Health
Service's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of WA Country Health Service's receivables defaulting on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to WA Country Health Service.
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Note 8 Risks and Contingencies

Notes

Financial risk management 8.1
Contingent assets 8.2.1
Contingent liabilities 8.2.2
Fair value measurements 8.3

8.1 Financial risk management

(a) Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
$000 $000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 70,921 53,648
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (a) 932,192 846,924

1,003,113 900,572

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 152,546 120,408

152,546 120,408

Total financial assets

Total financial liability

(a) The amounts of Financial assets measured at amortised cost exclude GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Liquidity risk arises when the agency is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

WA Country Health Service is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

WA Country Health Service has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect WA Country
Health Service's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. WA Country Health Service does not trade in
foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. WA Country Health Service's exposure to market risk for
changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term debt obligations.

WA Country Health Service's borrowings are with the Department of Treasury and are at variable interest rates with varying
maturities. Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 8.1(e), WA Country Health Service is not
exposed to interest rate risk because the majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and
it has no borrowings other than the Treasurer’s loans and lease liabilities.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are:

Credit risk associated with WA Country Health Service's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than Government, WA Country Health Service trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. WA Country Health Service has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis with the result that WA Country Health Service's exposure to bad debts is minimal. Debt will be written off against the
allowance account when it is improbable or uneconomical to recover the debt. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of WA Country Health Service.

Financial instruments held by WA Country Health Service are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, payables, and borrowings. WA Country Health Service has limited exposure to financial risks. WA Country Health
Service's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of WA Country Health Service's receivables defaulting on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to WA Country Health Service.
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 7 Financing (continued)

2020 2019
$000 $000

7.5 Commitments

7.5.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Within 1 year -  13,550
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years -  17,599
Later than 5 years -  1,559

-  32,708

7.5.2 Capital commitments

Within 1 year 64,485 30,906
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 139,375 123,268
Later than 5 years -  -  

203,860 154,174

WACHS applies AASB 16 Leases  from 1 July 2019, recognsiing Right-of-Use assets and 
lease liabilities.  Refer to Note 5.2, 7.3 and 9.3(b).

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Credit risk exposure

The following table details the credit risk exposure on WA Country Health Service's trade receivables using a provision matrix.

Total Current <30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days >91 days
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expected credit loss rate 6% 15% 35% 47% 72%
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 13,290 2,963 1,324 478 457 8,068
Expected credit losses (6,578) (186) (199) (168) (214) (5,811)

Expected credit loss rate 7% 10% 17% 34% 77%
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 19,134 3,611 1,745 977 876 11,925
Expected credit losses (10,063) (242) (179) (169) (297) (9,176)

30 June 2020

30 June 2019

Days past due
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

 
Weighted Fixed Variable Non-
average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 3 months to More than
effective amount rate rate bearing Amount 1 month 1-3 months  1 year 1-5 years 5 years

interest rate
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2020

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents -  70,921 -  -  70,921 70,921 70,921 -  -  -  -  
Receivables (a) -  13,019 -  -  13,019 13,019 13,019 -  -  -  -  
Amounts receivable for services -  919,173 -  -  919,173 919,173 -  -  -  -  919,173

1,003,113 -  -  1,003,113 1,003,113 83,940 -  -  -  919,173

Financial Liabilities
Payables -  136,968 -  -  136,968 136,968 136,968 -  -  -  -  
Lease liabilities 2.37% 15,578 15,578 -  -  17,133 643 1,244 4,766 9,829 651
Department of Treasury Loans -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

152,546 15,578 -  136,968 154,100 137,611 1,244 4,766 9,829 651

The following table details WA Country Health Service's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity
analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Maturity datesInterest rate exposure

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure (continued)

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

 
Weighted Fixed Variable Non-
average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 3 months to More than
effective amount rate rate bearing Amount 1 month 1-3 months  1 year 1-5 years 5 years

interest rate
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2019

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents -  53,648 -  -  53,648 53,648 53,648 -  -  -  
Receivables (a) -  14,068 -  -  14,068 14,068 14,068 -  -  -  -  
Amounts receivable for services -  832,856 -  -  832,856 832,856 -  -  -  -  832,856

900,572 -  -  900,572 900,572 67,716 -  -  -  832,856

Financial Liabilities
Payables -  118,543 -  -  118,543 118,543 118,543 -  -  -  
Lease liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  0 -  -  
Department of Treasury Loans 3.15% 1,865 -  1,865 -  1,922 160 320 1,442 -  

120,408 -  1,865 118,543 120,465 118,703 320 1,442 -  -  

Maturity datesInterest rate exposure

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

(e) Interest rate sensitivity analysis

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying
amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2020
Financial Liabilities
Department of Treasury Loans -  -  -  -  -  
Total Increase/(Decrease) -  -  -  -  

2019
Financial Liabilities
Department of Treasury Loans 1,865 19 19 (19) (19)
Total Increase/(Decrease) 19 19 (19) (19)

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of WA Country Health Service’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting
period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

8.2.1 Contingent assets

8.2.2 Contingent liabilities

2020 2019
$000 $000

Litigation in progress:

843 2,560 

Number of claims 4 10

Contaminated sites

-  -  

Hospital cladding

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if
quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

At the reporting date, WA Country Health Service is not aware of any contingent assets.

The following contingent liabilities are excluded from the liabilities included in the financial statements:

Pending litigation that are not recoverable from RiskCover insurance and may affect the
financial position of WA Country Health Service.

The Department of Health is continuing to coordinate a Cladding Audit and Remediation Program across all buildings within the
Health built asset portfolio. The purpose of the review is to establish if any building contains aluminium composite cladding (ACP)
that may present a fire risk under the amended National Construction Code 2016 and Australian Standard AS 5113:2016 Fire
propagation testing and classification of external walls of buildings. 

There are currently no envisaged works on any WA Country Health Service property, however these reviews are ongoing and as
such, at this time of reporting, the final extent of costs associated with activities relating to the remediation of identified aluminium
composite cladding is unable to be quantified.

Estimated cost to remediate contaminated and suspected contaminated sites reported to the
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation.

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, WA Country Health Service is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites
to the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the Act, DWER classifies these sites on the
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated –
remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, WA Country Health Service may have a liability in respect of
investigation or remediation expenses.

Significant infrastructure projects

WA Country Health Service has a number of significant infrastrucure projects that have reached or are reaching completion.  There 
may be claims that arise in relation to works or activities associated with such projects.  Claims will generally be subject to a period 
of negotiaiton and may either be withdrawn, settled at an agreed value, or proceed to some alternative process for resolution such 
as through legal action.  Where costs are negotiated and claims settled, these are reflected in the financial statements.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.3 Fair value measurement

(a) Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value at 

end of period
$000 $000 $000 $000

Assets measured at fair value 2020

Land
   Vacant land -  2,139 -  2,139
   Residential -  29,203 -  29,203
   Specialised -  -  57,635 57,635
Buildings
   Residential -  66,880 66,880
   Specialised -  -  1,375,833 1,375,833

-  98,222 1,433,468 1,531,690

Assets measured at fair value 2019

Land
   Vacant land -  2,680 -  2,680
   Residential -  30,729 -  30,729
   Specialised -  -  48,630 48,630
Buildings
   Residential -  68,690 -  68,690
   Specialised -  -  1,439,254 1,439,254

-  102,099 1,487,884 1,589,983

(b) Valuation technique to derive Level 2 fair values

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
Land Buildings
$000 $000

2020

Fair value at start of period 48,630 1,439,254 
Additions (including transfer from works in progress) 8,351 35,248 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss (962) (50,094)
Transfers from/(to) Level 2 (a) 1,696 2,985
Disposals (80) -  
Depreciation expense -  (51,560)
Fair value at end of period 57,635 1,375,833

2019

Fair value at start of period 50,948 1,217,164
Additions (including transfer from works in progress) 75 298,528 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss (459) (19,534)
Transfers from/(to) Level 2 (b) (1,934) (97)
Disposals -  (9)
Depreciation expenses -  (56,798)
Fair value at end of period 48,630 1,439,254

(a) Fair value measurements hierarchy changes from level 2 to level 3 represent land and buildings previously reflected at market
values for which a current use value was provided in 2019-20.

3) Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable input) (level 3).

Level 2 fair values of land and buildings are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land
and buildings in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

(b) Fair value measurements hierarchy changes from level 3 to level 2 represent land and buildings previously reflected at cost for
which market values were provided in 2018-19.

AASB 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

2) input other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly (level 2); and
1) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1). 
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.3 Fair value measurement (continued)

Valuation processes

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Buildings (Level 3 fair values)

Basis of valuation

Note 9 Other disclosures

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 9.1
Prior period adjustments 9.2
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 9.3
Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative 9.4
Key management personnel 9.5
Related party transactions 9.6
Related bodies 9.7
Affiliated bodies 9.8
Special purpose accounts 9.9
Remuneration of auditors 9.10
Equity 9.11
Supplementary financial information 9.12
Explanatory statement 9.13
Trust accounts 9.14

9.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

9.2 Prior period adjustments

(a) Superannuation shortfall on cashed out leave

(b) Patient charges incorrectly raised

Adjustment

2019 2019
$000 $000 $000

Receivables 20,469 (1,249) 19,220
Payables 118,055 488 118,543
Contributed equity 2,629,022 (564) 2,628,458
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (113,565) (1,173) (114,738)

There were no events occurring after the reporting period which had significant financial effects on these financial statements.

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these assets are valued at
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have
been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed
by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the
understanding of this financial report. 

Leave cashed out prior to establishment of WA Country Health Service under the Health Service Act 2016 was paid without
superannuation of $0.488 million.

Previously 
reported 
balance

Restated 
balance

Patient charges of $1.249 million were incorrectly raised of which $0.076 million was raised prior to establishment of WA Country
Health Service under the Health Service Act 2016.

Valuation using current replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The fair value
measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower
estimated fair values of buildings.

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to
the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications, adjusted
for obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, functional (technological) obsolescence and economic
(external) obsolescence.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).
The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations
and Property Analytics) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value
measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair
values of land.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 8 Risks and Contingencies (continued)

8.3 Fair value measurement (continued)

Valuation processes

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Buildings (Level 3 fair values)

Basis of valuation

Note 9 Other disclosures

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 9.1
Prior period adjustments 9.2
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 9.3
Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative 9.4
Key management personnel 9.5
Related party transactions 9.6
Related bodies 9.7
Affiliated bodies 9.8
Special purpose accounts 9.9
Remuneration of auditors 9.10
Equity 9.11
Supplementary financial information 9.12
Explanatory statement 9.13
Trust accounts 9.14

9.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

9.2 Prior period adjustments

(a) Superannuation shortfall on cashed out leave

(b) Patient charges incorrectly raised

Adjustment

2019 2019
$000 $000 $000

Receivables 20,469 (1,249) 19,220
Payables 118,055 488 118,543
Contributed equity 2,629,022 (564) 2,628,458
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (113,565) (1,173) (114,738)

There were no events occurring after the reporting period which had significant financial effects on these financial statements.

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these assets are valued at
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have
been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed
by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the
understanding of this financial report. 

Leave cashed out prior to establishment of WA Country Health Service under the Health Service Act 2016 was paid without
superannuation of $0.488 million.

Previously 
reported 
balance

Restated 
balance

Patient charges of $1.249 million were incorrectly raised of which $0.076 million was raised prior to establishment of WA Country
Health Service under the Health Service Act 2016.

Valuation using current replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The fair value
measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower
estimated fair values of buildings.

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to
the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications, adjusted
for obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, functional (technological) obsolescence and economic
(external) obsolescence.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).
The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations
and Property Analytics) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value
measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair
values of land.
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Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.3 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

(a) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-profit Entities

   ●  identifying contracts with customers; 
   ●  identifying separate performance obligations;
   ●  determining the transaction price of the contract; 
   ●  allocating the transaction price to each of the performance obligations; 
    ●  recognising revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.        

The effect of adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058 as at 1 July 2019 are, as follows:

Adjustments 1 July 2019
$000

Assets
Contract receivables (a) 1,024

Liabilities
Contract liabilities (a) 17,965

Total adjustments on Equity
Accumulated deficit (16,941)

30 June 2020 Adjustments 30 June 2020
under AASB

118 and 1004
$000 $000 $000

557,884 4,757 562,641
-

102,028 9,488 111,516
-

101,559 406 101,965

761,471 14,651 776,122

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118 Revenue for annual reporting periods on or after 1 January
2019. Under the new model, an entity shall recognise revenue when (or as) the entity staisfies a performance obligation by
transferring a promised good or services to a customer and is based upon the transfer of control rather than transfer of risks and
rewards.

AASB 15 focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised by applying the following
five steps:

Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct goods or services are separately identified and any
discounts or rebates in the contract price are allocated to the separate elements.

Royalties for Regions Fund

In addition, income other than from contracts with customers are subject to AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities . Income
recognition under AASB 1058 depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to liabilities or a contribution by owners related to
an asset (such as cash or another asset) recognised by WA Country Health Service.

WA Country Health Service adopts the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 15 and AASB 1058. No comparative
information is restated under this approach, and WA Country Health Service recognises the cumulative effect of initially applying the
Standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit at the date of initial application (1 July 2019).

In addition, WA Country Health Service has applied the practical expedient and elected to apply these standards retrospectively only
to contracts and transactions that were not completed contracts at the date of initial application (1 July 2019).

Refer to notes 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 for the revenue and income accounting policies adopted from 1 July 2019.

(a) Contract liabilities and Contract receivables relate to Commonwealth and other grants and Royalties for Regions to be accounted
for under AASB 15 and AASB 1058.  Revenue was previously accounted for upon receipt under AASB 1004 Contributions .

Commonwealth grant

Other grant

Net result

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.3 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards (continued)

(b) AASB 16 Leases

Measurement of lease liabilities $000

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 excluding GST 29,734

Less:  Short-term leases not recognised as liability (4,053)
            Leases out of scope for AASB 16 - with Department of Finance (11,445)

Add:    Leases not previously included as commitments 3,867
Leases qualifying under AASB 16 Leases 18,103

Less:  Discounting adjustment (468)
Lease liability recognised as 1 July 2019 17,635

Current lease liabilities 6,587
Non-current lease liabilities 11,048
1The WA Treasury Corporation incremental borrowing rate was used for the purposes of calculating the lease transition opening balance.

WA Country Health Service measures concessionary leases that are of low value terms and conditions at cost at inception. There is
no financial impact as WA Country Health Service is not in possession of any concessionary leases at the date of transition.

The right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment at the date of transition and WA Country Health Service has not identified any
impairments to its right-of-use assets.

On transition, WA Country Health Service has elected to apply the following practical expedients in the assessment of its leases that
were previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117:

b) WA Country Health Service has relied on its assessment of whether existing leases were onerous in applying AASB 137
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to
performing an impairment review. No adjustment to provisions for onerous leases is required in the Statement of Financial Position
as 30 June 2019.

c) Where the lease term at initial application ended within 12 months, WA Country Health Service has accounted for these as short-
term leases;

WA Country Health Service has not reassessed whether existing contracts are, or contained a lease at 1 July 2019. The
requirements of paragraphs 9-11 of AASB 16 are applied to contracts that came into existence post 1 July 2019.

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AAS 117 Leases and related interpretations. AASB 16 primarily affects lessee accounting and
provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements of both
lessees and lessors.

WA Country Health Service applies AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. As permitted
under the specific transition provisions, comparatives are not restated. The cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard is
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit.

The main changes introduced by this Standard include identification of lease within a contract and a new lease accounting model for
lessees that require lessees to recognise all leases (operating and finance leases) on the Statement of Financial Position as right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, except for short term leases (lease term of 12 months or less at commencement date) and low-value
assets (where the underlying asset is valued less than $5,000). The operating lease and finance lease distinction for lessees no
longer exists.

Under AASB 16, WA Country Health Service takes into consideration all operating leases that were off balance sheet under AASB
117 and recognises:

a) right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, initially measured at the present value of future lease 
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate on 1 July 2019.

b) depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the Statement of Comprehensive Income; and

c) the total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is presented in the cash flows from financing activities, and interest paid,
which is presented in the cash flows from operating activities, in the Statement of Cash Flows.

d) Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right-of-use assets;

e) Hindsight has been used to determine if the contracts contained options to extend or terminate the lease.

a) a single discount rate has been applied to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
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Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.4 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 

on/after

AASB 1059 01 Jan 2020

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Definition of a Business 01 Jan 2020

There is no financial impact.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Definition of Material 01 Jan 2020

There is no financial impact.

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Reference to the Conceptual Framework 01 Jan 2020

There is no financial impact.

AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Implementation of AASB 1059 01 Jan 2020

AASB 2020-1 01 Jan 2022

There is no financial impact.

The Standard makes amendments to AASB 16 and AASB 1059 to: (a) amend the modified
retrospective method set out in paragraph C4 of AASB 1059; (b) modify AASB 16 to provide a
practical expedient to grantors of service concession arrangements so that AASB 16 would not
need to be applied to assets that would be recognised as service concession assets under
AASB1059; and (c) include editorial amendments to the application guidance and
implementation guidance accompanying AASB 1059.

WA Country Health Service does not maintain any public private partnership that is within the
scope of the Standard.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

The Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities in the
statement of financial position as current or non-current.

WA Country Health Service does not manage any public private partnership that is within the
scope of the Standard.

The Standard amends AASB 3 to clarify the definition of a business, assisting entities to
determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or as an
asset acquisition.

WA Country Health Service cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable,
WA Country Health Service plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

The Standard principally amends AASB 101 and AASB 108. The amendments refine the
definition of material in AASB 101. The amendments clarify the definition of material and its
application by improving the wording and aligning the definition across AASB Standards and
other publications. The amendment also includes some supporting requirements in AASB 101 in
the definition to give it more prominence and clarifies the explanation accompanying the

f f

The Standard sets out amendments to Australian Standards, Interpretations and other
pronouncements to reflect the issuance of the Comceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(Conceptual Framework) by the AASB.

Service Concession Arrangement Grantors

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement (a type of public
private partnership) by a grantor that is a public sector agency by prescribing the accounting for
the arrangement from the grantor's perspective. Timing and measurement for the recognition of
a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the arrangement and the accounting for
associated liabilities is determined by whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the
public service provided.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.5 Key management personnel

2020 2019
Compensation Band 

$          0 - $ 10,000 1 -  
$  10,001 - $ 20,000 1 1
$  30,001 - $ 40,000 -  1
$  40,001 - $ 50,000 7 7
$  70,001 - $ 80,000 -  1
$  80,001 - $ 90,000 1 -  

10 10

2020 2019
$000 $000

Short-term employee benefits 382 389
Post-employment benefits 36 37
Other long-term benefits -  -  
Termination benefits -  -  
Total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 418 426

Compensation of Senior officers

2020 2019
Compensation Band ($)

$  50,001 - $  60,000                         1                        -   
$  60,001 - $  70,000                         1                         2 
$  70,001 - $  80,000                         1                        -   
$  90,001  -$100,000                         2                        -   
$100,001 - $110,000                        -                           1 
$110,001 - $120,000                        -                           1 
$120,001 - $130,000                         1                        -   
$130,001 - $140,000                         1                        -   
$150,001 - $160,000                        -                           1 
$160,001 - $170,000                        -                           1 
$170,001 - $180,000                         1                         2 
$180,001 - $190,000                         1                        -   
$190,001 - $200,000                         3                         1 
$200,001 - $210,000                         1                         1 
$210,001 - $220,000                         1                         5 
$220,001 - $230,000                         5                         2 
$230,001 - $240,000                        -                           4 
$240,001 - $250,000                         3                        -   
$280,001 - $290,000                         1                        -   
$330,001 - $340,000                        -                           1 
$410,001 - $420,000                        -                           1 
$440,001 - $450,000                         1                        -   
$450,001 - $460,000                         1                         1 
$500,001 - $510,000                         1                        -   

26 24

2020 2019
$000 $000

Short-term employee benefits 4,484 4,176
Post-employment benefits 477 434
Other long-term benefits 480 461
Termination benefits 98 -  
Total remuneration of senior officers 5,539 5,071

The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, whose total fees,
salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, falling within the following bands are:

The short-term employee benefits includes salary, motor vehicle benefits, district and travel allowances incurred by WA Country
Health Service in respect of senior officers. 

The short-term employee benefits includes salary and travel allowances incurred by WA Country Health Service in respect of the
accountable authority. 

WA Country Health Service has determined that key management personnel include cabinet ministers, board members and senior
officers of WA Country Health Service. WA Country Health Service does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those
disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances .

Compensation of members of the accountable authority
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Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.6 Related party transactions

Significant transactions with Government-related entities

2020 2019
$000 $000

Income from State Government - Service appropriations (Note 4.1) 988,517 965,822
Equity contribution (Note 9.11): 
     - capital appropriations from State Government 31,061 16,282
     - equity injections from Royalties for Regions Fund 20,119 70,691

     - corporate services from Health Support Services 40,389 31,824
     - pathology services from PathWest 23,021 23,314

101,559 96,970
Commonwealth grant funding received under the National Health Reform Agreement (Note 4.2): 
     - via the Department of Health 432,171 404,573
     - via Mental Health Commission 29,557 27,545

90,201 86,952
17,416 21,440
40,152 64,817

73,641 72,364

9.7 Related bodies

9.8 Affiliated bodies

WA Country Health Service had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.

An affiliated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from WA Country Health Service but is not
subject to operational control by WA Country Health Service.

A related body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from WA Country Health Service and is subject to
operational control by WA Country Health Service.

Transactions with key management personnel

• other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole of government consolidated
financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities);

• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and

Superannuation payments to GESB 

WA Country Health Service had no related bodies during the financial year.

Services received free of charge (Note 4.1):

In conducting its activities, WA Country Health Service is required to transact with the State and entities related to the State. These
transactions are generally based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all agencies.  Significant transactions include: 

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Other grant funding received from the Mental Health Commission (Note 4.2)

Income from Royalties for Regions Fund (Note 4.1)

Department of Finance (Capital construction, repair and maintenance, and fleet lease)
Insurance payments to the Insurance Commission and RiskCover fund 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with WA Country Health Service, there was no other related party transactions that 
involved key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

WA Country Health Service is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia. 

Related parties of WA Country Health Service include:

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities; 

• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

Material transactions with other related parties

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

2020 2019
$000 $000

9.9 Special purpose accounts

Mental Health Commission Fund (WA Country Health Service) Account

Balance at start of period 260 234 

Add Receipts:
   Service delivery agreement

State contributions 90,201 86,952
Commonwealth contributions 29,557 27,545

119,758 114,497

Less Payments (119,228) (114,471)
Balance at end of period 790 260 

9.10 Remuneration of auditors

588 588

9.11 Equity

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 2,628,458 2,541,924
Correction of prior period errors -  (564)
Restated balance at start of period 2,628,458 2,541,360

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriations (a) 31,061 16,282
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account 20,119 70,691
Transfer of net assets from other agencies (b):
     Land transferred from Department of Land -  125

51,180 87,098

Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies (b):
    Land transferred to the Health Ministerial Body (80) -  

(80) -  

Balance at end of period 2,679,558 2,628,458

The special purpose account has been established under section 16(1)(d) of the Financial Management Act 2006 .

Auditing the accounts, financial statements controls, and key performance indicators

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current
financial year is as follows:

The purpose of the special purpose account is to receive funds from the Mental Health Commission, to fund the provision of mental
health services as jointly endorsed by the Department of Health and the Mental Health Commission, in the WA Country Health
Service, in accordance with the annual Service Agreement and subsequent agreements.

TI 955 designates non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfers of net assets between state government agencies as contributions
by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038. Where the transferee agency accounts for a non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal transfer of net assets as a contribution by owners, the transferor agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to
owners.

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in WA Country Health Service on behalf of the community. Equity
represents the residual interest in the net assets of WA Country Health Service. 

(a) Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' designates capital
appropriations as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities '.

(b) AASB 1004 'Contributions' requires transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements to be
accounted for as contributions by owners and distributions to owners.
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Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.12 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs

2020 2019
$000 $000

The accountable authority 3,719 -  
The Minister -  -  
Executive Council -  -  

3,719 -  

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public money and property through theft or default -  -  
Amount recovered
Net losses -  -  

(c) Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by WA Country Health Service -  -  

During the financial year, $3.719 million (2019: nil) was written off WA Country Health Service's receivables under the authority of:

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement 

9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income variances

Variance Estimate Actual Actual
note 2020 2020 2019

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 1,040,935 1,125,671 1,056,963 84,736 68,708
Patient support costs 500,068 497,957 484,180 (2,111) 13,777
Finance costs (a) 11,189 418 88 (10,771) 330
Depreciation and amortisation expense (b) 99,499 82,257 81,089 (17,242) 1,168
Asset revaluation decrement (c) -  49,429 21,661 49,429 27,768
Loss on disposal of non-current assets -  272 371 272 (99)
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment (d) 36,342 51,679 46,216 15,337 5,463
Other expenses (e) 146,171 179,839 175,615 33,668 4,224
Total cost of services 1,834,204 1,987,522 1,866,183 153,318 121,339

Income
Patient charges 64,909 65,397 64,914 488 483
Commonwealth grants (f) 491,618 557,884 517,430 66,266 40,454
Other grants (g) 116,743 102,028 99,934 (14,715) 2,094
Donation revenue 371 428 495 57 (67)
Other revenue (h) 27,134 24,736 20,756 (2,398) 3,980
Total Revenue 700,775 750,473 703,529 49,698 46,944

Total income other than income from State Government 700,775 750,473 703,529 49,698 46,944

NET COST OF SERVICES 1,133,429 1,237,049 1,162,654 103,620 74,394

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 976,470 988,517 965,822 12,047 22,695
Assets assumed (i) -  13,948 (64) 13,948 14,012
Services received free of charge (j) 61,933 63,576 55,286 1,643 8,290
Royalties for Regions Fund 104,395 101,559 96,970 (2,836) 4,589
Total income from State Government 1,142,798 1,167,600 1,118,014 24,802 49,586

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD 9,369 (69,449) (44,640) (78,818) (24,809)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Total other comprehensive income -  -  -  -  -  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 9,369 (69,449) (44,640) (78,818) (24,809)

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 2020 and 2019 
are shown below.  Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are greater than 10% and $1 million for the Statements 
of Comprehensive Income, Cash Flows, and the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 and 
2019
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Financial statements
WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances

Variance Estimate Actual Actual
note 2020 2020 2019

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,711 25,593 20,434 8,882 5,159
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 25,751 37,865 25,751 12,114 12,114
Receivables 15,601 18,597 19,220 2,996 (623)
Right-of-Use Assets (k) 40,595 18 -  (40,577) 18
Other current assets 9,447 8,792 9,447 (655) (655)

Total Current Assets 108,105 90,865 74,852 (17,240) 16,013

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 11,187 7,463 7,463 (3,724) -  
Amounts receivable for services 932,355 919,173 832,856 (13,182) 86,317
Property, plant and equipment 1,923,459 1,805,171 1,884,776 (118,288) (79,605)
Right-of-Use Assets (k) 17,817 16,433 -  (1,384) 16,433
Intangible assets (l) 18,842 16,340 18,842 (2,502) (2,502)

Total Non-Current Assets 2,903,660 2,764,580 2,743,937 (139,080) 20,643

Total Assets 3,011,765 2,855,445 2,818,789 (156,320) 36,656

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 111,012 136,968 118,543 25,956 18,425
Contract liabilities (m) -  9,067 -  9,067 9,067
Borrowings (n) -  -  1,865 -  (1,865)
Lease liabilities (o) 44,509 5,490 -  (39,019) 5,490
Provisions (p) 152,475 168,171 154,151 15,696 14,020
Other current liabilities 363 332 363 (31) (31)

Total Current Liabilities 308,359 320,028 274,922 11,669 45,106

Non-Current Liabilities
Contract liabilities (m) -  13,330 -  13,330 13,330
Lease liabilities (o) 18,552 10,088 -  (8,464) 10,088
Provisions (p) 29,081 33,569 30,147 4,488 3,422

Total Non-Current Liabilities 47,633 56,987 30,147 9,354 26,840

Total Liabilities 355,992 377,015 305,069 21,023 71,946

NET ASSETS 2,655,773 2,478,430 2,513,720 (177,343) (35,290)

EQUITY
Contributed equity 2,755,052 2,679,558 2,628,458 (75,494) 51,100
Accumulated deficit (99,279) (201,128) (114,738) (101,849) (86,390)

TOTAL EQUITY 2,655,773 2,478,430 2,513,720 (177,343) (35,290)

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 and 
2019

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

9.13.3 Statement of Cash Flows variances

Variance Estimate Actual Actual
note 2020 2020 2019

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

 Service appropriations 876,931 902,164 881,370 25,233 20,794
 Capital appropriations (q) 34,272 29,196 14,503 (5,076) 14,693
 Royalties for Regions Fund (r) 194,287 121,678 167,661 (72,609) (45,983)

Net cash provided by State Government 1,105,490 1,053,038 1,063,534 (52,452) (10,496)

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

 Employee benefits (1,040,935) (1,102,722) (1,041,413) (61,787) (61,309)
 Supplies and services (620,648) (644,668) (626,995) (24,020) (17,673)
 Finance costs (a) (11,149) (388) -  10,761 (388)

Receipts
 Receipts from customers 64,909 66,052 63,126 1,143 2,926
 Commonwealth grants (s) 491,618 553,179 517,430 61,561 35,749
 Other grants (t) 116,743 112,190 99,934 (4,553) 12,256
 Donations received 371 428 495 57 (67)
 Other receipts (u) 27,134 24,751 19,612 (2,383) 5,139

Net cash used in operating activities (971,957) (991,178) (967,811) (19,221) (23,367)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (v) (119,161) (36,555) (93,053) 82,606 56,498
Net cash used in investing activities (119,161) (36,555) (93,053) 82,606 56,498

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Principal elements of lease (w) (14,372) (8,032) -  6,340 (8,032)
Net cash used in financing activities (14,372) (8,032) -  6,340 (8,032)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (0.00)            17,273 2,670 17,273 14,603

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 53,648 53,648 50,978 -  2,670

Cash and cash equivalents transferred from other sources -  -  -  -  -  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 53,648 70,921 53,648 17,273 17,273

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 and 
2019
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Financial statements
WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

Significant variances between estimates and actuals for 2020 and/or between actuals for 2020 and 2019

9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income variances

(a) Finance costs

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expense

(c) Asset revaluation decrement

(d) Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expense

(e) Other expenses

(f) Commonwealth grants

(g) Other grants

(h) Other revenue

(i) Assets assumed

(j) Services received free of charge

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances

(k) Right-of-Use assets

(l) Intangible assets

The increase in Other Revenues from 2018-19 to 2019-20 is largely related to non-recurrent Riskcover rebates for prior periods’ 
performance.  Details of Other Revenues are provided in Note 4.5. 

Budgeted capital grants for Newman Hospital, although received during the financial year, were unable to be recognised as revenue 
in 2019-20 as the works for which the funding was provided had not been completed by 30 June 2020 ($4.5m). Final grants for a 
number of other programs were lower than initial estimates due to changes in service levels or requirements both generally and 
during the Covid-19 restricted travel period. 

Primary factors contibuting to the increase in comparison with 2018-19 were the Priority Maintenance Program, Covid-19 
preparations and unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The increase over the initial estimates is largely related to the impact of revision to the Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease 
following advice from Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation 
leases were out of scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year ($20m). Other factors include expensed capital works 
program payments   ($6.6m) for which no operating budget was provided, and higher than initally estimated Health Support Services 
($6.3m) following further refinements to the HSS cost allocation methodologies during the year.

Capital grants for renal services and accommodation exceeded initial estimates due to changes in the timing of grant recognition as 
a result off changes to accounting standards ($7.4m). Recurrent grants exceeded initial estimates primarily where funding 
agreements for various new and ongoing services had not being finalised at the time of the 2019-20 State Budget, but were the 
subject of subsequent budget allocations throughout the year. These included Multi-Purpose Services (MPS, $34.5m), Indigenous 
Aboriginal Health Program ($7.6m), Health Innovation Fund Stage 1 Tele Mental Health ($3.9m), Transitional Care Program ($1.3m) 
and various other specific programs ($1.8m).  In addition, funding for ABF Hospital and Mental Health Services activity through the 
National Health Reform Agreement also increased in response to activity above initial estimates ($9.1m). 

Movements in Commonwealth Grants between the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years are detailed in Note 4.2. 

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease interest expense were revised following advice from 
Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation leases were out of 
scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year, and the actuals and lease interest payments reflect the change to the 
Accounting Standard AASB16. 

Initial estimates of depreciation associated with leases were revised during the financial year following advice from Treasury that 
periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were not required to be capitalised and 
depreciated under the provisions of AASB16, with budgets adjusted during the financial year ($9.2m).  The balance of the variance 
results from the combined impact of asset devaluations and delays in the completion of capital projects, of which progress for some 
projects were impacted due to community lockdown during COVID. 

As described in Note 5.1, land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 resulting in a revaluation decrement totalling $49.4m for 
2019-20, or $27.8m higher than the decrement in 2018-19. 

The increase in repairs and maintenance from the initial estimates is partly attributed to the expenditures from the Government’s 
Priority Maintenance Program announced in September 2019 ($1.5m) which had not been included in the initial 2019-20 estimates 
and expensing of payments from the capital works program for which no operating budget was provided ($7.3m).  Other factors 
included Covid-19 preparations, and higher than anticipated requirements for unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The variance to the initial estimate is due to lower than expected additions of intangible assets, resulting in a net reduction to the 
value of intangible assets after amortisation. The value of intangible assets reduced in 2019-20 compared to 2018-19 due to 
amortisation of assets held at 30 June 2019 ($2.6m), with no material additions or disposals occurring during 2019-20.  Detailed 
Information relating to intangible assets and movements between financial years is included in Note 5.3.

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on Right-of-Use Assets being revised during the financial year 
following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were out 
of scope.

Land and buildings at Grace Vaughan House in Shenton Park were transferred from the Department of Health to WA Country Health 
Service from 1 October 2019.

The increase in Services Received Free of Charge between 2018-19 and 2019-20 resulted from an $8.6m increase for services 
provided by Health Support Services, primarily as a consequence of revised cost allocation methodologies for 2019-20.  Further 
refinement of the revised methodlologies resulted in actual charges exceeding the inital budget by $6.3m, and was matched by a 
budget adjustment during the year.

Current and non current Right-of-Use Assets have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the 
accounting treatment for leases following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

Significant variances between estimates and actuals for 2020 and/or between actuals for 2020 and 2019

9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income variances

(a) Finance costs

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expense

(c) Asset revaluation decrement

(d) Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expense

(e) Other expenses

(f) Commonwealth grants

(g) Other grants

(h) Other revenue

(i) Assets assumed

(j) Services received free of charge

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances

(k) Right-of-Use assets

(l) Intangible assets

The increase in Other Revenues from 2018-19 to 2019-20 is largely related to non-recurrent Riskcover rebates for prior periods’ 
performance.  Details of Other Revenues are provided in Note 4.5. 

Budgeted capital grants for Newman Hospital, although received during the financial year, were unable to be recognised as revenue 
in 2019-20 as the works for which the funding was provided had not been completed by 30 June 2020 ($4.5m). Final grants for a 
number of other programs were lower than initial estimates due to changes in service levels or requirements both generally and 
during the Covid-19 restricted travel period. 

Primary factors contibuting to the increase in comparison with 2018-19 were the Priority Maintenance Program, Covid-19 
preparations and unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The increase over the initial estimates is largely related to the impact of revision to the Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease 
following advice from Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation 
leases were out of scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year ($20m). Other factors include expensed capital works 
program payments   ($6.6m) for which no operating budget was provided, and higher than initally estimated Health Support Services 
($6.3m) following further refinements to the HSS cost allocation methodologies during the year.

Capital grants for renal services and accommodation exceeded initial estimates due to changes in the timing of grant recognition as 
a result off changes to accounting standards ($7.4m). Recurrent grants exceeded initial estimates primarily where funding 
agreements for various new and ongoing services had not being finalised at the time of the 2019-20 State Budget, but were the 
subject of subsequent budget allocations throughout the year. These included Multi-Purpose Services (MPS, $34.5m), Indigenous 
Aboriginal Health Program ($7.6m), Health Innovation Fund Stage 1 Tele Mental Health ($3.9m), Transitional Care Program ($1.3m) 
and various other specific programs ($1.8m).  In addition, funding for ABF Hospital and Mental Health Services activity through the 
National Health Reform Agreement also increased in response to activity above initial estimates ($9.1m). 

Movements in Commonwealth Grants between the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years are detailed in Note 4.2. 

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease interest expense were revised following advice from 
Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation leases were out of 
scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year, and the actuals and lease interest payments reflect the change to the 
Accounting Standard AASB16. 

Initial estimates of depreciation associated with leases were revised during the financial year following advice from Treasury that 
periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were not required to be capitalised and 
depreciated under the provisions of AASB16, with budgets adjusted during the financial year ($9.2m).  The balance of the variance 
results from the combined impact of asset devaluations and delays in the completion of capital projects, of which progress for some 
projects were impacted due to community lockdown during COVID. 

As described in Note 5.1, land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 resulting in a revaluation decrement totalling $49.4m for 
2019-20, or $27.8m higher than the decrement in 2018-19. 

The increase in repairs and maintenance from the initial estimates is partly attributed to the expenditures from the Government’s 
Priority Maintenance Program announced in September 2019 ($1.5m) which had not been included in the initial 2019-20 estimates 
and expensing of payments from the capital works program for which no operating budget was provided ($7.3m).  Other factors 
included Covid-19 preparations, and higher than anticipated requirements for unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The variance to the initial estimate is due to lower than expected additions of intangible assets, resulting in a net reduction to the 
value of intangible assets after amortisation. The value of intangible assets reduced in 2019-20 compared to 2018-19 due to 
amortisation of assets held at 30 June 2019 ($2.6m), with no material additions or disposals occurring during 2019-20.  Detailed 
Information relating to intangible assets and movements between financial years is included in Note 5.3.

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on Right-of-Use Assets being revised during the financial year 
following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were out 
of scope.

Land and buildings at Grace Vaughan House in Shenton Park were transferred from the Department of Health to WA Country Health 
Service from 1 October 2019.

The increase in Services Received Free of Charge between 2018-19 and 2019-20 resulted from an $8.6m increase for services 
provided by Health Support Services, primarily as a consequence of revised cost allocation methodologies for 2019-20.  Further 
refinement of the revised methodlologies resulted in actual charges exceeding the inital budget by $6.3m, and was matched by a 
budget adjustment during the year.

Current and non current Right-of-Use Assets have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the 
accounting treatment for leases following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

Significant variances between estimates and actuals for 2020 and/or between actuals for 2020 and 2019

9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income variances

(a) Finance costs

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expense

(c) Asset revaluation decrement

(d) Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expense

(e) Other expenses

(f) Commonwealth grants

(g) Other grants

(h) Other revenue

(i) Assets assumed

(j) Services received free of charge

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances

(k) Right-of-Use assets

(l) Intangible assets

The increase in Other Revenues from 2018-19 to 2019-20 is largely related to non-recurrent Riskcover rebates for prior periods’ 
performance.  Details of Other Revenues are provided in Note 4.5. 

Budgeted capital grants for Newman Hospital, although received during the financial year, were unable to be recognised as revenue 
in 2019-20 as the works for which the funding was provided had not been completed by 30 June 2020 ($4.5m). Final grants for a 
number of other programs were lower than initial estimates due to changes in service levels or requirements both generally and 
during the Covid-19 restricted travel period. 

Primary factors contibuting to the increase in comparison with 2018-19 were the Priority Maintenance Program, Covid-19 
preparations and unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The increase over the initial estimates is largely related to the impact of revision to the Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease 
following advice from Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation 
leases were out of scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year ($20m). Other factors include expensed capital works 
program payments   ($6.6m) for which no operating budget was provided, and higher than initally estimated Health Support Services 
($6.3m) following further refinements to the HSS cost allocation methodologies during the year.

Capital grants for renal services and accommodation exceeded initial estimates due to changes in the timing of grant recognition as 
a result off changes to accounting standards ($7.4m). Recurrent grants exceeded initial estimates primarily where funding 
agreements for various new and ongoing services had not being finalised at the time of the 2019-20 State Budget, but were the 
subject of subsequent budget allocations throughout the year. These included Multi-Purpose Services (MPS, $34.5m), Indigenous 
Aboriginal Health Program ($7.6m), Health Innovation Fund Stage 1 Tele Mental Health ($3.9m), Transitional Care Program ($1.3m) 
and various other specific programs ($1.8m).  In addition, funding for ABF Hospital and Mental Health Services activity through the 
National Health Reform Agreement also increased in response to activity above initial estimates ($9.1m). 

Movements in Commonwealth Grants between the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years are detailed in Note 4.2. 

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease interest expense were revised following advice from 
Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation leases were out of 
scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year, and the actuals and lease interest payments reflect the change to the 
Accounting Standard AASB16. 

Initial estimates of depreciation associated with leases were revised during the financial year following advice from Treasury that 
periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were not required to be capitalised and 
depreciated under the provisions of AASB16, with budgets adjusted during the financial year ($9.2m).  The balance of the variance 
results from the combined impact of asset devaluations and delays in the completion of capital projects, of which progress for some 
projects were impacted due to community lockdown during COVID. 

As described in Note 5.1, land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 resulting in a revaluation decrement totalling $49.4m for 
2019-20, or $27.8m higher than the decrement in 2018-19. 

The increase in repairs and maintenance from the initial estimates is partly attributed to the expenditures from the Government’s 
Priority Maintenance Program announced in September 2019 ($1.5m) which had not been included in the initial 2019-20 estimates 
and expensing of payments from the capital works program for which no operating budget was provided ($7.3m).  Other factors 
included Covid-19 preparations, and higher than anticipated requirements for unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The variance to the initial estimate is due to lower than expected additions of intangible assets, resulting in a net reduction to the 
value of intangible assets after amortisation. The value of intangible assets reduced in 2019-20 compared to 2018-19 due to 
amortisation of assets held at 30 June 2019 ($2.6m), with no material additions or disposals occurring during 2019-20.  Detailed 
Information relating to intangible assets and movements between financial years is included in Note 5.3.

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on Right-of-Use Assets being revised during the financial year 
following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were out 
of scope.

Land and buildings at Grace Vaughan House in Shenton Park were transferred from the Department of Health to WA Country Health 
Service from 1 October 2019.

The increase in Services Received Free of Charge between 2018-19 and 2019-20 resulted from an $8.6m increase for services 
provided by Health Support Services, primarily as a consequence of revised cost allocation methodologies for 2019-20.  Further 
refinement of the revised methodlologies resulted in actual charges exceeding the inital budget by $6.3m, and was matched by a 
budget adjustment during the year.

Current and non current Right-of-Use Assets have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the 
accounting treatment for leases following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019.
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WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

Significant variances between estimates and actuals for 2020 and/or between actuals for 2020 and 2019 (continued)

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances (continued)

(m) Contract liabilities

(n) Borrowings

(o) Lease liabilities

(p) Provisions

9.13.3 Statement of Cash Flow variances

(q) Capital appropriations

(r) Royalties for regions fund

(s) Commonwealth grants

(t) Other grants

(u) Other receipts

(v) Purchase of non-current physical assets

(w) Principal elements of lease

Contract liabilities have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the accounting treatment for operating 
and capital grants following the introduction of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 and the requirement for recognition of revenue on 
satisfaction of obligations specified in the grant agreements rather than on receipt of funds.  Independent assessment and 
classification of 2019-20 grant agreements against the Accounting Standards had not been completed at the time inital estimates of 
financial operations were prepared. 

Final payments of principal and interest resulting in the clearance of all Treasury borrowings occurred during the 2019-20 financial 
year. 

Lease liabilities have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the accounting treatment for leases 
following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019. Initial estimates of Lease liabilities were revised during the financial year 
following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were out 
of scope.

The variance between current year estimate and actual inflows are attributable to dalays to various capital projects, in part due to 
Covid-19 related travel restrictions.  A number of projects have been formally recashflowed over the forward estimates, including the 
Newman Health Service Redevelopment Project ($21m), Primary Health Centres Redevelopment Program ($12.2m), Carnarvon 
Aged and Palliative Care Facility ($5.4m) and Small Hospital and Nursing Post Refurbishment Programs ($9.7m).

Decreases in Royalties for Regions inflows in comparison with 2018-19 are also the result of delays in capital projects, resulting in 
reduced drawdowns from the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development during 2019-20.  

Current and Non-Current employee benefit provisions have exceeded initial estimates primarily due to the combined effect of staffing 
increases and staff deferring leave due to travel restrictions and workload issues associated with COVID-19 management strategies. 
These factors, and changes to Award rates and parameter adjustments had also resulted in increases in Non-Current employee 
benefit provisions from June 2019 to June 2020.  

The variance from the initial estimates relates to reduction in State funded capital projects, for which some were recashflowed 
through the Mid-Year Review and 2020-21 Budget processes, including the Busselton Health campus project ($1.4m), Country 
Transport Initiative ($1.3m) and WACHS Picture Archiving and Communication System ($2.0m). 

Increases in capital appropriation inflows between 2018-19 and 2019-20 are largely related to the Geraldton Health Campus ($1.1m), 
Newman Health Service Redevelopment ($1.0m), Nickol Bay Hospital demolition ($5.3m) and for Renal Dialysis and Support 
Services ($4.0m). 

Recurrent grants exceeded initial estimates primarily where funding agreements for various new and ongoing services had not been 
finalised at the time of the 2019-20 State Budget, but were the subject of subsequent budget allocations throughout the year. These 
included Multi-Purpose Services (MPS, $34.5m), Indigenous Aboriginal Health Program ($7.6m), Health Innovation Fund Stage 1 
Tele Mental Health ($3.9m), Transitional Care Program ($1.3m) and various other specific programs ($1.8m).  In addition, funding for 
ABF Hospital and Mental Health Services activity through the National Health Reform Agreement increased in response to activity 
above initial estimates ($9.1m).

Decreases in outflows in comparison with 2018-19 are also the result of delays in capital projects, leading to recashflowing of 
projects over the forward estimates.  

Movements in Commonwealth Grants between the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years are also detailed in Note 4.2.

The increase in Other receipts from 2018-19 to 2019-20 is largely related to non-recurrent Riskcover rebates for prior periods’ 
performance ($3.6m). The remaining increases are due to higher recoveries and external recoups received during the financial year.

The variance between current year estimate and actual are attributable to a combination of delays to capital projects, in part due to 
Covid-19 related travel restrictions, and favourable tender outcomes as construction costs normalise following the resources boom.  
A number of projects have been recashflowed over the forward estimates, including the Newman Health Service Redevelopment 
Project ($21m), Primary Health Centres Redevelopment Program ($12.2m), Carnarvon Aged and Palliative Care Facility ($5.4m), 
Onslow Hospital ($3.7m), Kalgoorlie Health Campus MRI ($2.6m), District Hospital Investment program ($4.2m) and Small Hospital 
and Nursing Post Refurbishment Programs ($9.7m).

The increase in Other grants in comparison with 2018-19 is mainly due to the receipt of capital grants for Newman Hospital ($10m), 
which although received during the financial year, were unable to be recognised as revenue as the works for which the funding was 
provided had not been completed by 30 June 2020 ($4.5m). The remaining variance is due to additional funding received for Mental 
Health Services.

Repayment of Lease liabilities have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the accounting treatment for 
leases following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019. Initial estimates of lease payments were revised during the financial 
year following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation 
were out of scope.
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Financial statements
WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.14 Trust accounts

2020 2019
$000 $000

Balance at the start of period 1,100 1,003
Add Receipts 529 819

1,629 1,822

Less Payments (623) (722)
Balance at the end of period 1,006 1,100

A summary of the transactions for these trust accounts is as follows:

Funds held in these trust accounts are not controlled by WA Country Health Service and are therefore not recognised in the financial
statements.

WA Country Health Service administers trust accounts for the purpose of holding patients' private moneys.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2020

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

Significant variances between estimates and actuals for 2020 and/or between actuals for 2020 and 2019 (continued)

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances (continued)

(m) Contract liabilities

(n) Borrowings

(o) Lease liabilities

(p) Provisions

9.13.3 Statement of Cash Flow variances

(q) Capital appropriations

(r) Royalties for regions fund

(s) Commonwealth grants

(t) Other grants

(u) Other receipts

(v) Purchase of non-current physical assets

(w) Principal elements of lease

Contract liabilities have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the accounting treatment for operating 
and capital grants following the introduction of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 and the requirement for recognition of revenue on 
satisfaction of obligations specified in the grant agreements rather than on receipt of funds.  Independent assessment and 
classification of 2019-20 grant agreements against the Accounting Standards had not been completed at the time inital estimates of 
financial operations were prepared. 

Final payments of principal and interest resulting in the clearance of all Treasury borrowings occurred during the 2019-20 financial 
year. 

Lease liabilities have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the accounting treatment for leases 
following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019. Initial estimates of Lease liabilities were revised during the financial year 
following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were out 
of scope.

The variance between current year estimate and actual inflows are attributable to dalays to various capital projects, in part due to 
Covid-19 related travel restrictions.  A number of projects have been formally recashflowed over the forward estimates, including the 
Newman Health Service Redevelopment Project ($21m), Primary Health Centres Redevelopment Program ($12.2m), Carnarvon 
Aged and Palliative Care Facility ($5.4m) and Small Hospital and Nursing Post Refurbishment Programs ($9.7m).

Decreases in Royalties for Regions inflows in comparison with 2018-19 are also the result of delays in capital projects, resulting in 
reduced drawdowns from the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development during 2019-20.  

Current and Non-Current employee benefit provisions have exceeded initial estimates primarily due to the combined effect of staffing 
increases and staff deferring leave due to travel restrictions and workload issues associated with COVID-19 management strategies. 
These factors, and changes to Award rates and parameter adjustments had also resulted in increases in Non-Current employee 
benefit provisions from June 2019 to June 2020.  

The variance from the initial estimates relates to reduction in State funded capital projects, for which some were recashflowed 
through the Mid-Year Review and 2020-21 Budget processes, including the Busselton Health campus project ($1.4m), Country 
Transport Initiative ($1.3m) and WACHS Picture Archiving and Communication System ($2.0m). 

Increases in capital appropriation inflows between 2018-19 and 2019-20 are largely related to the Geraldton Health Campus ($1.1m), 
Newman Health Service Redevelopment ($1.0m), Nickol Bay Hospital demolition ($5.3m) and for Renal Dialysis and Support 
Services ($4.0m). 

Recurrent grants exceeded initial estimates primarily where funding agreements for various new and ongoing services had not been 
finalised at the time of the 2019-20 State Budget, but were the subject of subsequent budget allocations throughout the year. These 
included Multi-Purpose Services (MPS, $34.5m), Indigenous Aboriginal Health Program ($7.6m), Health Innovation Fund Stage 1 
Tele Mental Health ($3.9m), Transitional Care Program ($1.3m) and various other specific programs ($1.8m).  In addition, funding for 
ABF Hospital and Mental Health Services activity through the National Health Reform Agreement increased in response to activity 
above initial estimates ($9.1m).

Decreases in outflows in comparison with 2018-19 are also the result of delays in capital projects, leading to recashflowing of 
projects over the forward estimates.  

Movements in Commonwealth Grants between the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years are also detailed in Note 4.2.

The increase in Other receipts from 2018-19 to 2019-20 is largely related to non-recurrent Riskcover rebates for prior periods’ 
performance ($3.6m). The remaining increases are due to higher recoveries and external recoups received during the financial year.

The variance between current year estimate and actual are attributable to a combination of delays to capital projects, in part due to 
Covid-19 related travel restrictions, and favourable tender outcomes as construction costs normalise following the resources boom.  
A number of projects have been recashflowed over the forward estimates, including the Newman Health Service Redevelopment 
Project ($21m), Primary Health Centres Redevelopment Program ($12.2m), Carnarvon Aged and Palliative Care Facility ($5.4m), 
Onslow Hospital ($3.7m), Kalgoorlie Health Campus MRI ($2.6m), District Hospital Investment program ($4.2m) and Small Hospital 
and Nursing Post Refurbishment Programs ($9.7m).

The increase in Other grants in comparison with 2018-19 is mainly due to the receipt of capital grants for Newman Hospital ($10m), 
which although received during the financial year, were unable to be recognised as revenue as the works for which the funding was 
provided had not been completed by 30 June 2020 ($4.5m). The remaining variance is due to additional funding received for Mental 
Health Services.

Repayment of Lease liabilities have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the accounting treatment for 
leases following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019. Initial estimates of lease payments were revised during the financial 
year following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation 
were out of scope.

WA Country Health Service

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 9 Other disclosures (continued)

9.13 Explanatory statement (continued)

Significant variances between estimates and actuals for 2020 and/or between actuals for 2020 and 2019

9.13.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income variances

(a) Finance costs

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expense

(c) Asset revaluation decrement

(d) Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expense

(e) Other expenses

(f) Commonwealth grants

(g) Other grants

(h) Other revenue

(i) Assets assumed

(j) Services received free of charge

9.13.2 Statement of Financial Position variances

(k) Right-of-Use assets

(l) Intangible assets

The increase in Other Revenues from 2018-19 to 2019-20 is largely related to non-recurrent Riskcover rebates for prior periods’ 
performance.  Details of Other Revenues are provided in Note 4.5. 

Budgeted capital grants for Newman Hospital, although received during the financial year, were unable to be recognised as revenue 
in 2019-20 as the works for which the funding was provided had not been completed by 30 June 2020 ($4.5m). Final grants for a 
number of other programs were lower than initial estimates due to changes in service levels or requirements both generally and 
during the Covid-19 restricted travel period. 

Primary factors contibuting to the increase in comparison with 2018-19 were the Priority Maintenance Program, Covid-19 
preparations and unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The increase over the initial estimates is largely related to the impact of revision to the Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease 
following advice from Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation 
leases were out of scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year ($20m). Other factors include expensed capital works 
program payments   ($6.6m) for which no operating budget was provided, and higher than initally estimated Health Support Services 
($6.3m) following further refinements to the HSS cost allocation methodologies during the year.

Capital grants for renal services and accommodation exceeded initial estimates due to changes in the timing of grant recognition as 
a result off changes to accounting standards ($7.4m). Recurrent grants exceeded initial estimates primarily where funding 
agreements for various new and ongoing services had not being finalised at the time of the 2019-20 State Budget, but were the 
subject of subsequent budget allocations throughout the year. These included Multi-Purpose Services (MPS, $34.5m), Indigenous 
Aboriginal Health Program ($7.6m), Health Innovation Fund Stage 1 Tele Mental Health ($3.9m), Transitional Care Program ($1.3m) 
and various other specific programs ($1.8m).  In addition, funding for ABF Hospital and Mental Health Services activity through the 
National Health Reform Agreement also increased in response to activity above initial estimates ($9.1m). 

Movements in Commonwealth Grants between the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years are detailed in Note 4.2. 

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on lease interest expense were revised following advice from 
Treasury that periodic Government Regional Officer Housing leases and Government Office Accommodation leases were out of 
scope. The budgets were adjusted during the financial year, and the actuals and lease interest payments reflect the change to the 
Accounting Standard AASB16. 

Initial estimates of depreciation associated with leases were revised during the financial year following advice from Treasury that 
periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were not required to be capitalised and 
depreciated under the provisions of AASB16, with budgets adjusted during the financial year ($9.2m).  The balance of the variance 
results from the combined impact of asset devaluations and delays in the completion of capital projects, of which progress for some 
projects were impacted due to community lockdown during COVID. 

As described in Note 5.1, land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 resulting in a revaluation decrement totalling $49.4m for 
2019-20, or $27.8m higher than the decrement in 2018-19. 

The increase in repairs and maintenance from the initial estimates is partly attributed to the expenditures from the Government’s 
Priority Maintenance Program announced in September 2019 ($1.5m) which had not been included in the initial 2019-20 estimates 
and expensing of payments from the capital works program for which no operating budget was provided ($7.3m).  Other factors 
included Covid-19 preparations, and higher than anticipated requirements for unplanned repairs and maintenance.

The variance to the initial estimate is due to lower than expected additions of intangible assets, resulting in a net reduction to the 
value of intangible assets after amortisation. The value of intangible assets reduced in 2019-20 compared to 2018-19 due to 
amortisation of assets held at 30 June 2019 ($2.6m), with no material additions or disposals occurring during 2019-20.  Detailed 
Information relating to intangible assets and movements between financial years is included in Note 5.3.

Initial estimates of the impact of Accounting Standard AASB16 on Right-of-Use Assets being revised during the financial year 
following advice from Treasury that Periodic Government Regional Officer Housing and Government Office Accommodation were out 
of scope.

Land and buildings at Grace Vaughan House in Shenton Park were transferred from the Department of Health to WA Country Health 
Service from 1 October 2019.

The increase in Services Received Free of Charge between 2018-19 and 2019-20 resulted from an $8.6m increase for services 
provided by Health Support Services, primarily as a consequence of revised cost allocation methodologies for 2019-20.  Further 
refinement of the revised methodlologies resulted in actual charges exceeding the inital budget by $6.3m, and was matched by a 
budget adjustment during the year.

Current and non current Right-of-Use Assets have arisen for the first time in 2019-20 as a consequence of changes to the 
accounting treatment for leases following the introduction of AASB16 from 1 July 2019.
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Certification of key performance indicators

WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE CERTIFICATION OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

We hereby certify the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess  
the	WA	Country	Health	Service’s	performance	and	fairly	represent	the	performance	of	the	Health	Service	for	the	financial	year	ending	30	June	2020.

DR NEALE FONG
CHAIR
WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE BOARD
17 SEPTEMBER 2020

MR ALAN FERRIS
BOARD MEMBER 
WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE BOARD
17 SEPTEMBER 2020
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

UNPLANNED HOSPITAL READMISSIONS FOR PATIENTS  
WITHIN 28 DAYS FOR SELECTED SURGICAL PROCEDURES
Rationale

Higher hospital readmission rates may be the result of patients being discharged 
prematurely and/or ineffective discharge planning and communication. Many unplanned 
hospital readmissions are associated with the original reason for hospitalisation. These 
readmissions necessitate patients spending additional periods of time in hospital as 
well as utilising additional hospital resources.

Readmission rate is considered a global performance measure, as it potentially points 
to	deficiencies	in	the	functioning	of	the	overall	healthcare	system.	Along	with	provision	
of appropriate interventions, good discharge planning can help to decrease the 
likelihood of unplanned hospital readmissions by providing patients with the care 
instructions they need after a hospital stay and helping patients recognise symptoms 
that may require medical attention.

The surgeries selected to be measured by this indicator are based on the seven 
surgery types in the current National Health Agreement Unplanned Readmission 
performance indicator (NHA PI 23).

Target

The 2019 targets can be seen in the below table:

Surgical Procedure Target 
(per 1000)

Knee replacement ≤26.2

Hip replacement ≤17.1

Tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy ≤61.0

Hysterectomy ≤41.3

Prostatectomy ≤38.8

Cataract surgery ≤1.1

Appendicectomy ≤25.7
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators
Results

The 2019 rate of unplanned readmissions within 28 days to a country hospital for 
selected surgical procedures can be seen in Table 8.

Table 8: Unplanned hospital readmissions within 28 days for selected surgical 
procedures

Surgical Procedure
2016 

(per 1,000)
2017 

(per 1,000)
2018 

(per 1,000)
2019  

(per 1,000) Target

Knee replacement 22.6 37.9 37.7 29.9 ≤26.2

Hip replacement 36.7 21.8 23.5 35.6 ≤17.1

Tonsillectomy and 
adenoidectomy 46.2 61.6 86.6 57.2 ≤61.0

Hysterectomy 33.8 15.8 87.4 36.6 ≤41.3

Prostatectomy 89.3 40.4 44.2 70.7 ≤38.8

Cataract surgery 3.9 0.4 3.1 3.6 ≤1.1

Appendicectomy 41.2 39.2 50.3 39.2 ≤25.7

WA Country Health Service has not met target readmission rates except of 
hysterectomy, tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy. The low number of cases may lead to 
significant	fluctuation	in	year	on	year	results	as	evidenced	by	the	raw	numbers	of	
procedures followed by readmission:

• Knee Replacement = 10 readmissions from 334 procedures

• Hip Replacement = 12 readmissions from 337 procedures

• Tonsillectomy & adenoidectomy = 19 readmissions from 332 procedures

• Hysterectomy = 7 readmissions from 191 procedures

• Prostatectomy = 7 readmissions from 99 procedures

• Cataract surgery = 10 readmissions from 2,756 procedures

• Appendicectomy = 32 readmissions from 816 procedures

If patients experience issues or symptoms following surgery, readmission is often the 
safest option especially in rural or remote areas where the distance between a patient’s 
place of residence and access to health services can be considerable. All readmission 
cases are individually reviewed to ensure appropriate care was provided.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

PERCENTAGE OF ELECTIVE WAIT LIST PATIENTS  
WAITING OVER BOUNDARY FOR REPORTABLE PROCEDURES
Rationale

Elective surgical services delivered in the WA health system are those that can be 
booked in advance as a result of specialist assessment. These are deemed to be 
clinically necessary procedures, and potential negative impacts of excessive waiting 
times for these services include the likelihood of a worsening of the patient’s condition 
and/or quality of life or even death. Therefore, waiting lists must be actively managed 
by hospitals to ensure all patients are treated in clinically appropriate timeframes. 
Patients are prioritised based on their assigned clinical urgency category:

•	 Category 1 – procedures that are clinically indicated within 30 days

•	 Category 2 – procedures that are clinically indicated within 90 days

•	 Category 3 – procedures that are clinically indicated within 365 days 

For reportable procedures, the WA health system state wide performance target 
requires that no patients (0%) on the elective waiting lists wait longer than the 
clinically recommended time for their procedure, according to their urgency category.

Reportable	cases	are	defined	as	all	waiting	list	cases	that	are	not	listed	on	the	
Elective Services Wait List Data Collection (ESWLDC) Commonwealth  
Non-Reportable Procedures list. This list is consistent with the Australian Institute of 
Health and Welfare (AIHW) list of Code 2 (other) procedures that do not meet the 
definition	of	elective	surgery.	It	also	includes	additional	procedure	codes	that	are	
intended	to	better	reflect	the	procedures	identified	in	the	AIHW	Code	2	list.

Target

The 2019-20 target is 0% which is aligned to the WA state-wide performance target.

Results

In 2019-20, the percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for 
reportable procedures did not meet target in any category (see Table 9). 

Table 9: Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary  
for reportable procedures

Category 2017-18  
(%)

2018-19  
(%)

2019-20 
(%) Target (%)

Category 1 within 30 days 8.7 3.8 5.8 0

Category 2 within 90 days 9.4 3.0 6.1 0

Category 3 within 365 days 4.8 2.2 1.5 0

WA Country Health Service has implemented a number of strategies to address over 
boundary cases, including risk assessment and prioritisation of over boundary cases, 
consideration of alternate shift arrangements to increase theatre utilisation, closer 
liaison with clinical specialists (WACHS relies heavily on a visiting medical practitioner 
service	delivery	model	with	a	largely	fly-in,	fly-out	workforce),	and	leveraging	
arrangements with private providers to support timely delivery of care. During 2019-20, 
COVID-19 related surgery restrictions led to an increase in WACHS ESWL over 
boundary patients. Flight restrictions have further exacerbated the issue requiring list 
cancellations or re-allocations.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

HEALTHCARE-ASSOCIATED STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS 
BLOODSTREAM INFECTIONS (HA-SABSI) PER 10,000 OCCUPIED 
BED-DAYS
Rationale

Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infection is a serious infection that may be 
associated with the provision of healthcare. Staphylococcus aureus is a highly 
pathogenic organism and even with advanced medical care, infection caused by this 
organism is associated with prolonged hospital stays, increased healthcare costs and 
a marked increase in morbidity and mortality – mortality estimated at 20-25%.

HA-SABSI is generally considered to be a preventable adverse event associated with 
the provision of healthcare.

This KPI has been selected for inclusion as it is a robust measure of the safety and 
quality of WA public hospitals, and aligns to the principle of increased transparency 
and accountability of performance information provided to the public. A low or 
decreasing HA-SABSI rate is desirable and a target for WA based on historical data 
has been set.

Target

The	2019	(calendar	year)	target	is	≤	1.0	per	10,000	bed	days.	

Results

The rate of HA-SABSI Infection per 10,000 occupied bed days met target as seen in 
Table 10. 

Table 10: Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections  
(HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days

2017  
(per 10,000)

2018  
(per 10,000)

2019  
(per 10,000)

Target  
(per 10,000)

Infection Rate 0.64 0.97 0.33 ≤1.0

WA Country Health Service participates in the WA Health Healthcare Associated 
Infection Surveillance in Western Australia Healthcare Facilities (HISWA) program of 
mandatory surveillance of a range of healthcare associated infections (HAI), including 
HA-SABSI. All instances of HA-SABSI are thoroughly investigated to determine the 
cause of infection. The peak WA Country Health Service Infection Prevention and 
Control Committee has overseen the review of clinical practices related to the use of 
peripheral intravenous (IV) catheters which has contributed to the positive reduction in 
the rate of HA-SABSI infections.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

SURVIVAL RATES FOR SENTINEL CONDITIONS
Rationale
This indicator measures performance in relation to restoring the health of people who 
have	suffered	a	sentinel	condition	-	specifically	a	stroke,	acute	myocardial	infarction	
(AMI), or fractured neck of femur (FNOF).

These	three	conditions	have	been	chosen	as	they	are	particularly	significant	for	the	
health care of the community and are leading causes of death and hospitalisation in 
Australia. Patient survival after being admitted for one of these three sentinel 
conditions can be affected by many factors including the diagnosis, the treatment 
given or procedure performed, age, co-morbidities at the time of the admission and 
complications which may have developed while in hospital. However, survival is more 
likely when there is early intervention and appropriate care on presentation to an 
emergency department and on admission to hospital.

By reviewing and analysing survival rates, targeted strategies can be developed that 
aim to increase patient survival after being admitted for a sentinel condition. 
Therefore, this indicator can potentially assist hospitals in monitoring changes over 
time to facilitate effective restoration of patients’ health.

Target
The 2019 (calendar year) targets can be seen in the below table:

Age Group Stroke (%) AMI (%) FNOF (%)

0-49 Years 94.4 99.0 N/A
50-59 Years 93.4 98.9 N/A
60-69 Years 93.5 98.0 N/A
70-79 Years 91.3 96.5 98.9
80+ Years 83.2 92.2 96.1 

Results
During 2019, survival rates for stroke met target for all age cohorts (see Table 11).  
Low	number	of	cases	can	lead	to	significant	fluctuation	in	results.	Across	all	age	
cohorts, WA Country Health Service reported 53 deaths attributed to stroke out of  
619 episodes. This is an overall survival rate of 91.4%. 

Table 11: Survival rates for sentinel condition: Stroke

Age Group 2016 (%) 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

0-49 Years 95.8 100 97.5 95.8 ≥	94.4

50-59 Years 100 97.0 100 98.7 ≥	93.4

60-69 Years 92.3 95.9 97.4 96.2 ≥	93.5

70-79 Years 92.9 96.5 94.6 92.8 ≥	91.3

80+ Years 84.1 85.2 83.8 84.8 ≥	83.2

Note: Due to low number of cases within some age categories, care should be taken when 
considering fluctuations in results.

WA Country Health Service has implemented the WA Stroke Services rural clinical 
care pathway for stroke, developed in line with best practice standards and prompts 
for time critical escalation to quaternary stroke specialist services inclusive of 
telestroke consultations in larger regional centres, where applicable.  The proportion of 
eligible country stroke patients who have accessed clot retrieval (thrombectomy) has 
significantly	increased	over	the	past	four	years.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

SURVIVAL RATES FOR SENTINEL CONDITIONS (cont.)

Survival rates for Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI) for 2019 met target performance 
for all age cohorts, except the 80+ Years group (see Table 12). WA Country Health 
Service reported 15 deaths attributed to AMI out of 474 episodes, representing an 
overall survival rate of 96.8%.

Table 12: Survival rates for sentinel condition: Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI)

Age Group 2016 (%) 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

0-49 Years 100 100 100 100 ≥	99.0

50-59 Years 100 100 100 100 ≥	98.9

60-69 Years 94.7 100 98.2 99.0 ≥	98.0

70-79 Years 94.7 96.8 97.9 98.0 ≥	96.5

80+ Years 90.7 90.1 93.2 90.0 ≥	92.2

Note: Due to low number of cases within some age categories, care should be taken when 
considering fluctuations in results.

WA Country Health Service has a standardised chest pain pathway, designed in line 
with best practice clinical standards, which promotes sound escalation processes for 
patients diagnosed as having an acute myocardial infarction. This is particularly 
relevant for remote and regional services, where access to an intensive care unit 
(ICU) may not be immediately available.

Survival rates for Fractured Neck of Femur (FNOF) for 2019 did not meet target 
performance for the 70-79 Years group (see Table 13). WA Country Health Service 
reported 7 deaths attributed to FNOF out of 239 episodes, representing an overall 
survival rate of 97.1%.

Table 13: Survival rates for sentinel condition: Fractured Neck of Femur (FNOF)

Age Group 2016 (%) 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

70-79 Years 100 100 100 97.7 ≥	98.9

80+ Years 95.8 96.0 97.8 96.7 ≥	96.1

Note: Due to low number of cases within some age categories, care should be taken when 
considering fluctuations in results.

A WA Country Health Service Hip Fracture Clinical Care Practice Guideline has been 
developed to ensure best practice care for patients with a suspected hip fracture who 
present to a Multi-Purpose Service site or are admitted to a small hospital.  The 
guideline	will	be	finalised	in	2020-21	and	includes	refinements	to	clinical	decision	
pathways based on review of care outcomes for the 70 to 79 years patient cohort. 

Patients presenting with a fractured neck of femur are at greater risk of falling and 
developing delirium whilst in hospital.  WA Country Health Service implementation of a 
cognitive impairment strategy increases the awareness of delirium and improves the 
prevention and management of delirium in at risk patients, including through rigorous 
reporting approaches.  

WA Country Health Service continues to use a standardised Falls Risk Assessment 
and Management Plan (FRAMP) that guides the screening and assessment of a 
patient’s risk of falling, and appropriate strategies to reduce the likelihood of a fall.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

PERCENTAGE OF ADMITTED PATIENTS WHO DISCHARGED 
AGAINST MEDICAL ADVICE
Rationale

Discharge against medical advice (DAMA) refers to patients leaving hospital  
against the advice of their treating medical team or without advising hospital staff  
(i.e. absconding or missing and not found). 

Between May 2019 and April 2020 Aboriginal patients in WA were almost 11.7 times 
more likely than non-Aboriginal patients to discharge against medical advice, 
compared with ten times nationally.  This statistic indicates a need for improved 
responses by the health system to the needs of Aboriginal patients.

This indicator provides a measure of the safety and quality of inpatient care. Reporting 
the results by Aboriginality assists in measuring the effectiveness of initiatives within 
the WA health system to deliver culturally secure services to Aboriginal people and 
addressing underlying factors in achieving an equitable treatment outcome for 
Aboriginal patients compared with non-Aboriginal patients.

Target

The 2019 target is:
a)	Aboriginal	patients	≤0.77%.	
b)	Non-Aboriginal	patients	≤0.77%

Results

The 2019 Discharge Against Medical Advice (DAMA) rate did not meet target for the 
Aboriginal cohort, but met target for the Non-Aboriginal cohort (see Table 14).

Table 14: Percentage of admitted patients who discharged against medical advice 
(DAMA)

Cohort 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

Aboriginal 5.2 4.7 4.7 ≤0.77

Non-Aboriginal 0.8 0.6 0.7 ≤0.77

WA Country Health Service continues to implement the Discharge Against Medical 
Advice Policy. All WA Country Health Service Regions are developing local strategies 
to reduce rates of DAMA by Aboriginal people. Local strategies include the 
employment	of	additional	Aboriginal	Liaison	Officers	in	Emergency	Departments	to	
improve application of policy and procedure to identify at risk patients.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

PERCENTAGE OF LIVE-BORN TERM INFANTS WITH AN APGAR 
SCORE OF LESS THAN 7 AT 5 MINUTES POST DELIVERY
Rationale

This indicator of the condition of newborn infants immediately after birth provides an 
outcome measure of intrapartum care and newborn resuscitation.

The Apgar score is an assessment of an infant’s health at birth based on breathing, 
heart	rate,	colour,	muscle	tone	and	reflex	irritability.	An	Apgar	score	is	applied	at	one,	
five	and	(if	required	by	the	protocol)	ten	minutes	after	delivery	to	determine	how	well	
the infant is adapting outside the mother’s womb. Apgar scores range from zero to 
two	for	each	condition	with	a	maximum	final	total	score	of	ten.	The	higher	the	Apgar	
score the better the health of the newborn infant.

This outcome measure can lead to the development and delivery of improved care 
pathways and interventions to improve the health outcomes of Western Australian 
infants and aligns to the National Core Maternity Indicators (2018) Health, Standard 
06/09/2018.

Target

The	2019	target	is	≤1.8%.

Results

In 2019, the percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less than 7,  
5 minutes post-delivery met target, seen in Table 15. 

Table 15: Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of  
less than 7 at 5 minutes post delivery

2016 (%) 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

Liveborn Term Infants  
Apgar <7 at 5 minutes 1.5 1.6 1.4 1.4 ≤	1.8

WA Country Health Service revised the Induction of Labour Policy in 2019 to minimise 
timing of oxytocin rate increases in an effort to decrease the incident of uterine 
hyperstimulation which impacts on newborn adaption to extra-uterine life.

WA Country Health Service is developing a clinical audit tool to proactively review 
Apgar	outcomes	at	sites	recording	significant	deviations	from	the	Western	Australian	
average.

Further,	WA	Country	Health	Service	is	implementing	specific	Obstetric	Emergency	
Multi-disciplinary training and education at each maternity site every two years 
(PROMPT). The PROMPT program will be evaluated after 12 months against 
maternity clinical indicators to assess care improvements.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

READMISSIONS TO ACUTE SPECIALISED MENTAL HEALTH 
INPATIENT SERVICES WITHIN 28 DAYS OF DISCHARGE
Rationale

Readmission rate is considered to be a global performance measure as it potentially 
points	to	deficiencies	in	the	functioning	of	the	overall	mental	healthcare	system.

Internationally, readmission rates are often used as a litmus test of the performance of 
mental	health	systems.	International	literature	identifies	the	concept	of	one	month	as	
an	appropriate	defined	time	period	for	the	measurement	of	readmissions	following	
separation from an acute inpatient mental health service. Based on this a timeframe 
of 28 days for this indicator has been set and endorsed by the AHMAC Mental Health 
Information Strategy Standing Committee (as at 24 March 2011). It is important to 
understand	that	high	rates	may	point	to	deficiencies	in	hospital	treatment	or	
community follow up care, or a combination of the two. However, other factors may 
also	be	implicated	in	rapid	readmissions,	with	some	reflecting	the	episodic	nature	of	
mental illness.

This indicator is reported at the facility at which the initial admission occurred rather 
than the facility at which the patient was readmitted.  By measuring and monitoring 
this	indicator,	key	areas	for	improvement	can	be	identified.	This	in	turn	can	facilitate	
the development and delivery of targeted care pathways and interventions, which aim 
to improve mental health and quality of life of Western Australians.

Target

The	2019	target	is	≤12%.

Results

In 2019, the rate of total readmissions within 28 days to an acute designated mental 
health inpatient unit did not meet target (see Table 16).  

Table 16: Rate of readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient services 
within 28 days of discharge

2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

Total Hospital Readmissions 17.8 19.4 17.8 ≤12

WA	Country	Health	Service	has	identified	that	due	to	limited	options	and	access	to	
other primary or secondary care service providers and supported step down or  
sub-acute accommodation in rural and remote WA, readmissions may be the only 
option	for	some	patients.	Analysis	of	readmissions	for	this	period	have	identified	the	
majority cohort of people needing re-admission are people with an Emotionally 
Unstable Personality Disorder (also known as borderline personality disorder) and 
people affected by substance misuse with complex social problems.  These people 
experience repeated crises and as part of appropriate care and treatment are 
encouraged to return and receive short term re-admissions prior to the emotional 
crises escalating (which may otherwise result in increased self-harming behaviours). 

WA Country Health Service Mental Health ensures that readmissions are monitored 
closely	and	occur	where	clinically	appropriate	and	not	as	the	first	solution.	Intensive	
post discharge follow up continues to be offered to patients however re-admission will 
occur for highly complex patients, including those with a mood disorder and co-morbid 
substance misuse.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Effectiveness indicators

PERCENTAGE OF POST DISCHARGE COMMUNITY CARE WITHIN 
7 DAYS FOLLOWING DISCHARGE FROM ACUTE SPECIALISED 
MENTAL HEALTH INPATIENT SERVICES
Rationale

The Australian Bureau of Statistics National Health Survey 2017-18 estimated that  
1 in 5 (20%) Australian adults reported that they had a mental or behavioural condition 
during that twelve month period. The Young Minds Matter Survey 2013-14 reported 
13.9% of Children and Adolescents were assessed as experiencing mental health 
disorders in the previous twelve months. Therefore, it is crucial to ensure effective and 
appropriate care is provided not only in a hospital setting but also in the community.

Discharge from hospital is a critical transition point in the delivery of mental health 
care. People leaving hospital after an admission for an episode of mental illness have 
heightened levels of vulnerability and, without adequate follow up, may relapse or be 
readmitted. This KPI measures the performance of the overall health system in 
providing continuity of mental health care.

A responsive community support system for persons who have experienced a 
psychiatric episode requiring hospitalisation is essential to maintain their clinical and 
functional stability and to minimise the need for hospital readmissions. Patients 
leaving hospital after a psychiatric admission with a formal discharge plan, involving 
linkages with public community based services and support, are less likely to need 
avoidable readmission.

The standard underlying the measure is that continuity of care involves prompt 
community follow-up in the vulnerable period following discharge from hospital. 
Overall, the variation in post-discharge follow-up rates suggests important differences 
between mental health systems in terms of their practices.

Target

The	2019	target	is	≥75%.

Results

In 2019, contacts with community-based public mental health non-admitted services 
within 7 days post discharge from an acute public mental health inpatient unit met 
target (see Table 17).

Table 17: Percentage of post discharge community care within 7 days following 
discharge from acute specialised mental health inpatient services

2016 (%) 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Target (%)

Post-discharge  
community-based 
contacts 

67.5 75.6 79.1 79.2 ≥	75

Throughout the last twelve months the WA Country Health Service regions have 
consistently met the target of 75 percent. Improved communication between the 
Mental Health Inpatient Units and the Community Mental Health teams has 
contributed to increased rates of follow up. 

The Mental Health Services attempt to follow up all patients discharged but not all 
patients can be contacted within the seven day time frame.  Reasons for this include 
some consumers when discharged, do not want further contact and refuse to engage 
with the Mental Health Service, others may decline to attend or not show up for 
appointments. Other challenges include that consumers may have moved out of the 
area, or do not have mobile access to contact. 
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE ADMITTED COST PER WEIGHTED ACTIVITY UNIT
Rationale

This indicator is a measure of the cost per weighted activity unit compared 
with the state (aggregated) target, as approved by the Department of Treasury 
and published in the 2019-20 Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

The measure ensures a consistent methodology is applied to calculating and 
reporting the cost of delivering inpatient activity against the state’s funding 
allocation. As admitted services received nearly half of the overall 2019-20 
budget	allocation,	it	is	imperative	that	efficiency	of	this	service	delivery	is	
accurately monitored and reported.

Target

The 2019-20 target is $7,026 per weighted activity unit.

Results

In 2019-20, the average admitted cost per weighted activity unit (WAU) met 
target, as can be seen in Table 18. 

Table 18: Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit (WAU)

2017-18 2018-19 ($) 2019-20 Target ($)

Average admitted cost / WAU $6,119 $6,342 $6,789 $7,026

WA Country Health Service inpatient activity is generally less acute and specialised, as 
more complex patients are typically referred to metropolitan health services. This 
results in a lower cost per WAU result for inpatient activity.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT COST PER WEIGHTED 
ACTIVITY UNIT
Rationale

This indicator is a measure of the cost per WAU compared with the state (aggregated) 
target as approved by the Department of Treasury, which is published in the 2019-20 
Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

The measure ensures that a consistent methodology is applied to calculating and 
reporting the cost of delivering ED activity against the state’s funding allocation. With 
the increasing demand on EDs and health services, it is imperative that ED service 
provision	is	monitored	to	ensure	the	efficient	delivery	of	safe	and	high-quality	care.

Target

The 2019-20 target is $7,071 per weighted activity unit. 

Result

In 2019-20, the average emergency department cost per weighted activity unit (WAU) 
met target, as seen in Table 19. 

Table 19: Average Emergency Department (ED) cost per weighted activity unit (WAU)

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average ED cost / WAU $7,292 $6,753 $6,986 $7,071
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE NON-ADMITTED COST PER WEIGHTED ACTIVITY UNIT
Rationale

This indicator is a measure of the cost per WAU compared with the state (aggregated) 
target, as approved by the Department of Treasury, which is published in the 2019-20 
Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

The measure ensures that a consistent methodology is applied to calculating and 
reporting the cost of delivering non-admitted activity against the state’s funding 
allocation. Non-admitted services play a pivotal role within the spectrum of care 
provided to the WA public, therefore it is imperative that non-admitted service 
provision	is	monitored	to	ensure	the	efficient	delivery	of	safe	and	high-quality	care.

Target

The 2019-20 target is $6,992 per weighted activity unit. 

Result

In 2019-20, the average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit (WAU) met target 
(see Table 20). 

Table 20: Average Non-Admitted cost per weighted activity unit (WAU)

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average Non-Admitted  
cost / WAU $6,035 $5,828 $5,872 $6,992

Outpatient activity is predominately allied health and nursing services, with 
less specialist outpatient services, resulting in a lower cost per WAU. 
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE COST PER BED-DAY IN SPECIALISED  
MENTAL HEALTH INPATIENT SERVICES
Rationale

Specialised mental health inpatient services provide patient care in authorised 
hospitals and designated mental health units located within hospitals. In order to 
ensure quality of care and cost effectiveness, it is important to monitor the unit cost of 
admitted	patient	care	in	specialised	mental	health	inpatient	services.	The	efficient	use	
of hospital resources can help minimise the overall costs of providing mental health 
care and enable the reallocation of funds to appropriate alternative non-admitted care.

Target

The 2019-20 target is $1,942 per bed-day.

Result

In 2019-20, average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient services 
did not meet target, as seen in Table 21. 

Table 21: Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient services

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average cost / bed-day in 
specialised mental health 
inpatient unit

$2,186 $1,728 $1,669 $2,128 $1,942

WA Country Health Service did not meet the target for average cost per bed-day in 
specialised mental health inpatient services because of additional costs associated 
with	the	location	of	rural	hospitals	and	the	high	fixed	cost	component	of	maintaining	
small scale specialised services, noting that mental health inpatient bed-day activity 
decreased in 2019-20. In 2019-20 WACHS has continued to invest in the patient 
journey to ensure high quality mental health services are provided.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 1 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE COST PER TREATMENT DAY OF NON-ADMITTED 
CARE PROVIDED BY MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
Rationale

Public community mental health services consist of a range of community-based 
services such as emergency assessment and treatment, case management, day 
programs, rehabilitation, psychosocial, residential services and continuing care. The 
aim of these services is to provide the best health outcomes for the individual through 
the	provision	of	accessible	and	appropriate	community	mental	health	care.	Efficient	
functioning	of	public	community	mental	health	services	is	critical	to	ensure	that	finite	
funds	are	used	effectively	to	deliver	maximum	community	benefit.

Public community-based mental health services are generally targeted towards people 
in the acute phase of a mental illness who are receiving post-acute care. This 
indicator provides a measure of the cost effectiveness of treatment for public 
psychiatric patients under public community mental healthcare (non-admitted/
ambulatory patients).

Target

The 2019-20 target is $539 per treatment day.

Result

In 2019-20, WA Country Health Service average cost per treatment day of  
non-admitted care provided by mental health services has not met the target as can 
be seen in Table 22. 

Table 22: Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by mental 
health services

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average cost / treatment day of  
non-admitted care provided by  
mental health services

$591 $570 $542 $539
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Effectiveness indicators

RESPONSE TIMES FOR EMERGENCY AIR-BASED PATIENT 
TRANSPORT SERVICES (PERCENTAGE OF EMERGENCY AIR-
BASED INTER-HOSPITAL TRANSFER MEETING THE STATEWIDE 
CONTRACT TARGET RESPONSE TIME FOR PRIORITY 1 CALLS)
Rationale

To ensure Western Australians receive the care and medical transport services they 
need, when they need it, WA Country Health Service (WACHS) has entered into a 
contractual relationship to deliver emergency air-based patient transport services to 
the WA public. This collaboration ensures that patients have access to an effective 
aeromedical and inter-hospital patient transfer service to ensure the best possible 
health outcomes for patients requiring urgent medical treatment through rapid 
response.

Response times for patient transport services have a direct impact on the speed with 
which a patient receives appropriate medical care and provide a good indication of the 
efficiency	and	effectiveness	of	patient	transport	services.	Adverse	effects	on	patients	
and the community are reduced if response times are reduced.

Calls	are	assigned	a	priority	(1	to	3)	by	the	service	provider,	to	ensure	that	conflicting	
flight	requests	are	dealt	with	in	order	of	medical	need	and	to	allow	operations	
coordinators	to	task	aircraft	and	crews	in	the	most	efficient	means	possible	to	meet	
these needs. The priority system in place is as follows:

•	 Priority	1	refers	to	life-threatening	emergencies,	where	the	flight	departs	in	the	
shortest possible time (subject to weather and essential safety requirements). 

•	 Priority	2	refers	to	urgent	medical	transfer,	where	the	flight	departs	promptly	with	
flight	planning	requirements	met	on	the	ground.

•	 Priority	3	refers	to	elective	transfer,	where	flight	tasked	to	make	best	use	of	
resources and crew hours.

Through surveillance of this measure over time, the effectiveness of patient transport 
services can be determined. This facilitates further development of targeted strategies 
and improvements to operational management practices aimed at ensuring optimal 
restoration to health for patients in need of urgent medical care.

Target

The	2019-20	target	is	≥	80%.	

Results

In 2019-20, WA Country Health Service did not met the target as can be seen in  
Table 23. 

Table 23: Response times for emergency air-based patient transport services

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target (%)

Response times for priority 1 calls 78.9% 81.8% 77.2% ≥	80%

The Western Australian COVID-19 response impacted the contracted provider’s 
response times and capacity across the state from February 2020 onwards, 
specifically	extending	preparation	and	decontamination	times.	Single	patient	transfers	
were maintained and this important infection control policy also impacted response 
times. In addition, there was an increase to the overall demand for Priority 1 transport 
during 2019-20.

WA Country Health Service continues to actively engage with the contracted provider 
in emergency air-based inter-hospital transfers to ensure the best care is provided to 
rural and remote communities.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Effectiveness indicators

PERCENTAGE OF PATIENTS WHO ACCESS EMERGENCY 
SERVICES AT A SMALL RURAL OR REMOTE WESTERN 
AUSTRALIAN HOSPITAL AND ARE SUBSEQUENTLY  
DISCHARGED HOME
Rationale

Small country hospitals provide emergency care services, residential aged care 
services and limited acute medical and minor surgical services in locations close to 
home for country residents and the many visitors to the regions.

This measure indicates whether small rural and remote hospital emergency services 
provide the level of care required to meet the needs of the community. Utilising health 
services	with	the	outcome	of	returning	home	(where	clinically	justified)	is	indicative	of	
effective service delivery.

Target

The 2019-20 target is 91.2%.

Results

In 2019-20, WA Country Health Service did not meet the target as can be seen in 
Table 24.  

Table 24: Percentage of patients who access emergency services at a small rural or 
remote WA hospital and are subsequently discharged home

2017-18 (%) 2018-19 (%) 2019-20 (%) Target (%)

Percentage of patients  
discharged home 84.5 84.7 85.0 91.2

The health needs of the patient are the top priority in any decision on treatment 
location. 
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE COST PER BED-DAY FOR SPECIALISED  
RESIDENTIAL CARE FACILITIES, FLEXIBLE CARE (HOSTELS) 
AND NURSING HOME TYPE RESIDENTS
Rationale

WA Country Health Service provides long-term care facilities for rural patients 
requiring 24 hour nursing care. This healthcare service is delivered to high and low 
dependency	residents	in	nursing	homes,	hospitals,	hostels	and	flexible	care	facilities,	
and	constitutes	a	significant	proportion	of	the	activity	within	the	WA	Country	Health	
Service jurisdictions where access to non-government alternatives is limited.

Target

The 2019-20 Target is $315.

Results

In	2019-20	average	cost	per	bed-day	for	specialised	residential	care	facilities,	flexible	
care (hostels) and nursing home type residents did not meet target, as shown in  
Table 25.

Table 25: Average cost per bed-day for specialised residential care facilities,  
flexible	care	(hostels)	and	nursing	home	type	residents

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average cost per 
bed-day $526 $557 $538 $582 $315

Performance in this indicator can be variable based on demand for aged care 
residential placements. There is a community expectation that residential aged care 
facilities operated by the WA Country Health Service will remain open and maintained, 
regardless of occupancy. 
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE COST PER PERSON OF DELIVERING POPULATION 
HEALTH PROGRAMS BY POPULATION HEALTH UNITS
Rationale

Population health units support individuals, families and communities to increase 
control over and improve their health.

With the aim of improving health, population health works to integrate all activities of 
the health sector and link them with broader social and economic services and 
resources by utilising the WA Health Promotion Strategic Framework 2017–2021. This 
is based on the growing understanding of the social, cultural and economic factors 
that contribute to a person’s health status.

Target

The 2019-20 Target for WA Country Health Service is $238.

Results

In 2019-20, average cost per person of delivering population health programs by 
population health units did not meet target as per Table 26. 

Table 26: Average cost per person of delivering population health programs by 
population health units

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average cost per person 
for  population health $238 $247 $289 $238

Population Health comprises health promotion, primary care, education and research. 
Rural and remote population estimates used in this KPI have been revised down for 
2019-20, which combined with additional costs related to COVID-19 response and 
preparation, contributing to a higher average cost per person. The previously 
published result for 2017-18 ($273) and 2018-19 ($291) has been restated following 
refinement	to	Outcomes	Based	Management	(OBM)	cost	allocations.
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Efficiency indicators

COST PER TRIP OF PATIENT EMERGENCY AIR-BASED 
TRANSPORT, BASED ON THE TOTAL ACCRUED COSTS OF 
THESE SERVICES PER THE TOTAL NUMBER OF TRIPS
Rationale

To ensure Western Australians in rural and remote areas receive the care they need, 
when they need it, strong partnerships have been forged within the healthcare 
community through a collaborative agreement between WA Country Health Service 
and the contracted service provider. This collaboration ensures that patients in rural 
and remote areas have access to an effective emergency air-based transport service 
that aims to ensure the best possible health outcomes for country patients requiring 
urgent medical treatment and transport services.

Target

The 2019-20 Target is $7,624.

Results

In 2019-20, the cost per trip of patient emergency air-based transport based on the 
total accrued costs of these services per the total number of trips met the target, as 
seen in Table 27.

Table 27: Cost per trip of patient emergency air-based transport, based on the total 
accrued costs of these services per the total number of trips 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Cost per trip of emergency  
air-based transport $7,121 $7,049 $6,882 $7,624
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE COST PER TRIP OF PATIENT ASSISTED TRAVEL 
SCHEME (PATS)

Rationale

The WA health system aims to provide safe, high-quality healthcare to ensure 
healthier, longer, and better quality lives for all Western Australians.

PATS provides a subsidy towards the cost of travel and accommodation for eligible 
patients travelling long distances to seek certain categories of specialist medical 
services. The aim of PATS is to help ensure that all Western Australians can access 
safe, high-quality healthcare when needed.

Target

The 2019-20 Target is $463.

Results

In 2019-20 the average cost per trip of Patient Assisted Travel Scheme (PATS) did not 
meet target, as per Table 28. 

Table 28: Average cost per trip of Patient Assisted Travel Scheme (PATS)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average Cost per trip of 
PATS $438 $440 $446 $482 $463

The increase in the average cost per trip of PATS during 2019-20 was impacted by 
decreased PATS trips in the last months of 2019-20, as a result of COVID-19 
restrictions on elective surgery, outpatient appointments and intrastate travel. The cost 
of	air	travel	rose	significantly,	and	limited	flight	availability	also	increased	
accommodation costs and surface travel expenses. 
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Key performance indicators
Outcome 2 - Efficiency indicators

AVERAGE COST PER RURAL AND REMOTE POPULATION 
(SELECTED SMALL RURAL HOSPITALS)

Rationale

The WA health system aims to provide safe, high-quality healthcare to ensure 
healthier, longer, and better quality lives for all Western Australians.

The Independent Hospital Pricing Authority’s (IHPA) key role is to determine the 
annual	National	Efficient	Price	(NEP)	and	National	Efficient	Cost	(NEC)	for	Australian	
public	hospital	services.	The	NEC	is	used	when	activity	levels	are	not	sufficient	for	
funding based on activity, such as in the case of small rural hospitals. In these cases, 
services are funded by a block allocation based on size and location. Public hospitals 
are block funded where there is an absence of economies of scale that mean some 
services	would	not	be	financially	viable	under	Activity	Based	Funding.	

Small rural hospitals provide an essential level of access to services for rural and 
remote communities. These hospitals have relatively low patient activity and have high 
fixed	costs	therefore	it	is	appropriate	to	measure	efficiency	based	on	population	
numbers as opposed to unit of patient activity.

In the calculation of this indicator, ‘rural and remote’ population has been calculated 
using the total WA Country Health Service population.

Target

The 2019-20 Target is $422.

Results

In 2019-20, average cost per rural and remote population (selected small rural 
hospitals) did not meet target (see Table 29). 

Table 29: Average cost per rural and remote population (selected small rural hospitals)

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target ($)

Average cost per rural and remote 
population $377 $421 $443 $422

Rural and remote population estimates used in this KPI have been revised down for 
2019-20, which together with increased investment in areas such as telehealth has 
contributed to a higher average cost per population.  WA Country Health Service is 
committed to providing safe and sustainable small hospital services across Western 
Australia. The previously published result for 2017-18 ($401) and 2018-19 ($455) has 
been	restated	following	refinement	to	Outcomes	Based	Management	(OBM)	cost	
allocations.
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Ministerial directives
Treasurer’s Instruction 903 (12) requires disclosing information about Ministerial directives relevant to 
the setting of desired outcomes or operational objectives, the achievement of desired outcomes or 
operational	objectives,	investment	activities	and	financial	activities.

The WA Country Health Service did not receive any Ministerial directives related to this requirement.
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PRICING POLICY
The National Health Reform Agreement sets the policy framework for the charging of 
public hospital fees and charges. Under the Agreement, an eligible person who 
receives public hospital services as a public patient in a public hospital or a publicly 
contracted bed in a private hospital is treated ‘free of charge’. This arrangement is 
consistent with the Medicare principles which are embedded in the Health Services 
Act 2016 (WA). 

The majority of hospital fees and charges for public hospitals are set under Schedule 
1 of the Health Services (Fees and Charges) Order 2016 and are reviewed annually. 
The following informs WA public hospital patients fees and charges for: 

Nursing Home Type Patients
The state charges public patients who require nursing care and/or accommodation 
after the 35th day of their stay in hospital, providing they no longer need acute care 
and they are deemed to be Nursing Home Type Patients. The total daily amount 
charged is no greater than 87.5 per cent of the current daily rate of the single aged 
pension and the maximum daily rate of rental assistance. 

Compensable or ineligible patients
Patients who are either ‘private’ or ‘compensable’ and Medicare ineligible (overseas 
residents) may be charged an amount for public hospital services as determined by 
the state. The setting of compensable and ineligible hospital accommodation fees is 
set close to, or at, full cost recovery. 

Private patients (Medicare eligible Australian residents)
The	Commonwealth	Department	of	Health	regulates	the	Minimum	Benefit	payable	by	
health funds to privately insured patients for private shared ward and same day 
accommodation. The Commonwealth also regulates the Nursing Home Type Patient 
‘contribution’ based on March and September pension increases. To achieve 

consistency with the Commonwealth Private Health Insurance Act 2007, the state sets 
these	fees	at	a	level	equivalent	to	the	Commonwealth	Minimum	Benefit.

Veterans
Hospital charges of eligible war service veterans are determined under a separate 
Commonwealth-State agreement with the Department of Veterans’ Affairs. Under this 
agreement, the Department of Health does not charge medical treatment to eligible 
war service veteran patients, instead medical charges are fully recouped from the 
Department of Veterans’ Affairs. 

The following fees and charges also apply:

•	 The	Pharmaceutical	Benefits	Scheme	regulates	and	sets	the	price	of	
pharmaceuticals supplied to outpatients, patients on discharge and for day admitted 
chemotherapy patients. Inpatient medications are supplied free of charge. 

• The Dental Health Service charges to eligible patients for dental treatment are 
based on the Department of Veterans’ Affairs Fee Schedule of dental services for 
dentists and dental specialists. Eligible patients are charged the following  
co-payment rates:

– 50 per cent of the treatment fee if the patient holds a current Health Care Card or 
Pensioner Concession Card

– 25 per cent of the treatment fee if the patient is the current holder of one of the 
above cards and receives a near full pension or an allowance from Centrelink or 
the Department of Veterans’ Affairs.

There	are	other	categories	of	fees	specified	under	Health	Regulations	through	
Determinations, which include the supply of surgically implanted prostheses, Magnetic 
Resource Imaging services and pathology services. The pricing for these hospital 
services is determined according to their cost of service.

Other financial disclosures
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CAPITAL WORKS
Completed
Table 30: Capital works completed in 2019-20

Project Name

Estimated Total 
Cost in 2019-20

($ ‘000)

Albany Hospice Carpark 659

Bunbury, Narrogin and Collie Hospital- Pathology 6,665

Country Staff Accommodation-Stage 3 27,408

Digital Innovation 5,252

East Kimberley Development Package 38,607

Government	Office	Accommodation	Reform	Program-	 
Bennett Street 660

Kalgoorlie Regional Resource Centre 57,230

Strengthening Cancer Services in Regional Western Australia- 
Geraldton Cancer Centre 3,768

Strengthening Cancer Services in Regional Western Australia- 
Narrogin Cancer Centre 2,000

Country Staff Accommodation-Stage 4 8,124

Kalgoorlie Renal Hostel completed 2020.
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Broome Regional Resource Centre - Redevelopment Stage 14 41,811 41,811 - Completed 
Busselton Health Campus 4 114,983 114,983 - Completed
Carnarvon Aged Care 2 16,577 16,577 - Oct-21 See footnotes
Carnarvon Health Campus Redevelopment4 25,282 25,282 - Completed
Country Transport Initiatives 1 1,760 1,760 - Various See footnotes
District Hospital Investment Program 2,4 160,004 160,004 - Completed
Derby Community Health Service4 3,672 3,672 - Oct-21
Eastern Wheatbelt District (Including Merredin) Stage 1 7,881 7,881 - Completed 
Esperance Health Campus Redevelopment 1,4 31,848 31,848 - Completed
Geraldton Health Campus Redevelopment 73,336 73,336 - 2024
Harvey Health Campus Redevelopment 4 12,410 12,410 - Completed
Hedland Regional Resource Centre - Stage 2 4 136,237 136,237 - Completed
Karratha Health Campus - Development 1,2,4 173,118 173,118 - Completed See footnotes

Narrogin Helipad 800 800 - Nov-20
Newman Health Service Redevelopment 4 47,427 47,427 - Feb-23
Nickol Bay Hospital Demolition 7,760 7,760 - Completed
Onslow Health Service Redevelopment 2, 4 36,409 36,409 - Various See footnotes

CAPITAL WORKS (cont.)
In Progress
Table 31: Capital works in progress in 2019-20

Project Name

Estimated Total 
Cost in 2019-20 

($’000)

Reported in 
2018-19 
($’000)

Variance  
($’000)

Expected 
Completion Date

2018-19 and 2019-20 
variation to cost 

explanation (>=10%)
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Primary Health Centres 2,4 32,331 32,331 - Various
Remote Indigenous Health 4 24,168 24,168 - Various
Renal Dialysis and Support Services 4 44,269 44,269 - Various
Renal Dialysis 1,950 1,950 - Completed  
Small Hospitals & Nursing Posts 2,4 95,969 95,969 - Completed  
Strengthening Cancer Services - Northam Cancer Centre 3,500 3,500 - Completed  
Strengthening Cancer Services - Regional Cancer Patient Accommodation 4 4,430 4,430 - Various  
Tom Price Hospital Redevelopment 5,250 5,250 - TBA  
Upper Great Southern District (including Narrogin) Stage 1 10,497 10,497 - Completed  
WA Country Health Service Picture Archive Communication System -  
Regional Resource Centre 4

6,233 6,233 - Completed  

Notes:
(a) The above information is based upon the:
 1. 2019-20 published budget papers
 2. 2018-19 published budget papers.
(b) Completion timeframes are based upon a combination of known dates at the time of reporting.
(c) Projects listed above as ‘completed’ may still be in the defects period.
(d) The footnotes that apply to individual projects are:
 1. Transfer of funding between projects.
 2. Royalties for Regions Funding changes.
 3. Impacted as part of Whole of Government Capital Audit.
 4. Excludes amounts that will not be capitalised, therefore the ETC may vary from that reported in the 2018-19 Budget.

CAPITAL WORKS (cont.)
In Progress
Table 31: Capital works in progress in 2019-20

Project Name

Estimated Total 
Cost in 2019-20 

($’000)

Reported in 
2018-19 
($’000)

Variance  
($’000)

Expected 
Completion Date

2018-19 and 2019-20 
variation to cost 

explanation (>=10%)
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EMPLOYMENT PROFILE
Government	agencies	are	required	to	report	a	summary	of	the	number	of	employees	by	category	compared	with	the	preceding	financial	year.	Table	32	shows	the	number	of	 
WA Country Health Service full-time equivalent employees for 2018-19 and 2019-20.

Table 32: WA Country Health Service total full-time employees by category

Category Definition 2018-19 2019-20

Administration and clerical Includes all clerical-based occupations together with patient-facing (ward) clerical support staff. 1,687 1,768

Agency Includes full-time equivalent employees engaged via an external agency for the following occupational  
categories: administration and clerical, medical support, hotel services, site services, medical salaried. 159 205

Agency nursing Includes workers engaged on a ‘contract for service’ basis. Does not include workers employed by NurseWest. 154 158

Assistants in nursing Support registered nurses and enrolled nurses in delivery of general patient care. 77 80

Dental nursing Includes registered dental nurses and dental clinic assistants. 0 0

Hotel services Includes catering, cleaning, stores/supply, laundry and transport occupations. 1,229 1,250

Medical salaried
Includes all salary-based medical occupations including interns, registrars and specialist medical practitioners. 
Includes medical sessional staff. Excludes Contract Medical Practitioners (i.e. Locums and Visiting Medical 
Practitioners on an MSA).

448 473

Medical support Includes	all	allied	health	and	scientific/	technical	related	occupations. 900 924

Nursing Includes all nursing occupations. Does not include agency nurses. 3,073 3,177

Site services Includes engineering, garden and security-based occupations. 157 159

Other categories Includes Aboriginal and ethnic health worker related occupations. 140 144

TOTAL 8,024 8,338

1. Data Source: HR Data Warehouse. 
2. The FTE figures provided are based on actual (paid) Year-to-Date FTE.
3. The FTE represents the average FTE usage over the financial year. It is calculated on the average hours worked during the period divided by the Standard Full time Hours as per the  
     Agreements. Total hours can include ordinary time, overtime, all leave categories, public holidays and time in lieu. 
4. The previously reported Medical Sessional grouping has been removed and is now being reported under the Medical salaried grouping. 

Other financial disclosures
Annual Report

WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2019–20125



STAFF DEVELOPMENT
The WA Health Recruitment, Selection and 
Appointment Policy and Procedure is contained within 
the WA Health Employment Framework and provides 
the	requirements	and	standard	processes	specific	to	
recruitment, selection and appointment, secondment, 
transfer and temporary deployment (acting) in  
WA Health, in accordance with the relevant Western 
Australian public sector standards and/or legislative 
requirements. 

The Commissioner’s Instruction No. 1 Employment 
Standard and the Commissioner’s Instruction No. 2 
Filling a Public Sector Vacancy establishes the 
minimum standards of merit, equity, and probity that 
must	be	applied	when	filling	a	vacancy.		WA	Country	
Health Service is committed to ensuring the timely 
recruitment of skilled candidates to vacancies in 
regional areas. 

WA Country Health Service is committed to building a 
strong, skilled and growing Aboriginal health workforce 
across all levels in the organisation. A key strategy to 
increase the Aboriginal workforce in the WA health 
system is through the application of Section 51 of the 
Equal Opportunity Act (1984).  

WA Country Health Service provides a learning and 
development framework that ensures the delivery of 
safe, high quality and consumer-centred care services. 
This is achieved by supporting and facilitating learning 
programs that enable the development and 

maintenance of professional skills. Ongoing skills 
development and learning assists us to attract and 
retain a competent workforce that is aligned with 
service needs. To assist the workforce in understanding 
their	role	specific	mandatory	training	requirements,	a	
Learning Framework structure is in place across the 
organisation. The Framework areas include Nursing 
and Midwifery, Medical Services, Healthcare Support 
staff, Managers, Allied Health and Emergency 
Management roles. The use of a consistent Learning 

Management System enables an organisation wide 
governance approach to the management, publication 
and reporting of mandatory training and development. 
Enhancements to governance practices ensures cost 
effective delivery of training of programs. 

The WA Country Health Service continues to expand its 
use of the innovative Command Centre that provides 
staff in regional and remote locations access to 
specialists delivering training to support clinical skills 
development.
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INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
Responsibility for industrial relations is delineated by an Industrial Relations Policy MP 
0025/16 established under the Employment Policy Framework issued by the System 
Manager pursuant to Section 26 of the Health Services Act 2016.

The Department of Health as System Manager is responsible for WA health  
system-wide industrial relations matters including negotiation and registration of 
industrial instruments. WA Country Health Service is responsible for the application of 
the WA Public Sector legislative and regulatory framework which regulate employment 
and industrial relations, management of misconduct matters, representation and 
advocacy in industrial tribunals and courts, engagement with unions and other 
external stakeholders in industrial matters. 

A	new	industrial	agreement	for	enrolled	nurses	was	negotiated	and	finalised.	
Negotiations	have	commenced	for	medical	practitioners,	hospital	salaried	officers	and	
support workers. However, these negotiations have been delayed due to the impact of 
the	COVID-19	response.	There	was	no	significant	industrial	disputation	in	the	year	
under review.

WORKERS COMPENSATION
The WA Workers’ Compensation system is a scheme established by the State 
Government and exists under the statute of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981. 

The WA Country Health Service injury management system has been reviewed during 
2019-20, resulting in a review and publishing of updated Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management procedures. WA Country Health Service is committed to 
supporting injured workers progress to resume their full range of duties in their 
pre-injury role, as soon as medically appropriate. This approach, including an early 
intervention focus, aims to result in optimal claim outcomes for the injured worker and 
the organisation.

In 2019-20, a total of 268 workers’ compensation claims were made (see Table 33).

Table 33: Number of WA Country Health Service workers’ compensation claims  
in 2019-20

Employee category
Number of claims 

in 2019-20

Nursing Services/Dental Care Assistants 100

Administration and Clerical 28

Medical Support 30

Hotel Services 98

Medical (salaried) 2

Site Services 10

Total 268

Note: For the purposes of the Annual Report, Employee categories are defined as:
• administration and clerical – includes executive, administration staff, ward clerks, 

receptionists and clerical staff.
• medical support – includes physiotherapists, speech pathologists, medical imaging 

technologists, pharmacists, occupational therapists, dietitians and social workers
• hotel services – includes cleaners, caterers, and patient service assistants
• site services – includes handypersons, security officers, store people and electricians.
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CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS
At	the	date	of	reporting,	no	senior	officer	or	Board	member,	or	firms	of	which	senior	
officers	or	Board	members	are	members,	or	entities	in	which	senior	officers	or	Board	
members have substantial interest, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts 
with the WA Country Health Service other than normal contracts of employment 
service.
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UNAUTHORISED USE OF CREDIT CARDS
WA Country Health Service uses Purchasing Cards for purchasing goods and services 
to	achieve	savings	through	improved	administrative	efficiency	and	more	effective	cash	
management. The Purchasing Card is a personalised credit card that provides a clear 
audit trail for management.

WA Country Health Service credit cards are provided to employees who require it as 
part of their role. Credit cards are not for personal use by the cardholder. Should a 
cardholder use a credit card for personal purposes, they are required to submit a 
Notice	of	Personal	Expense	(Form	625-2)	to	the	accountable	authority	within	five	
working days of becoming aware of the transaction and refund the total amount of 
expenditure.

There were 31 transactions in the period where credit cards were inadvertently used 
for personal purposes. All transactions were refunded before the end of the reporting 
period.

Table 34: Credit card personal use expenditure in 2019-20

Credit card personal use expenditure
1 July 2019 to 
30 June 2020

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting 
period $4,187.85

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the 
due	date	(within	five	working	days) $4,148.35

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the 
period	(after	five	working	days) $39.50

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at 
the end of the reporting period. $0.00
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ADVERTISING
In accordance with section 175Z of the Electoral Act 1907, WA Country Health Service 
incurred a total advertising expenditure of $176,104 in 2019-20 (see Table 35 below). 
There was no expenditure in relation to advertising agencies, polling or direct mail 
organisations.

Table 35: Summary of WA Country Health Service advertising for 2019-20

Summary of advertising Amount ($)

Advertising agencies $0

Market research organisations $124,500

Polling organisations $0

Direct mail organisations $0

Media advertising organisations $51,604

Total advertising expenditure $176,104

The organisations that provided advertising services and the amount paid to each are 
detailed in Table 36.

Table 36: Organisations that provided advertising services

Person, agency or organisation name Amount ($)

Advertising agencies $0

Market research organisations

Patient Opinion (Care Opinion) $124,500

Polling organisations $0

Direct mail organisations $0

Media advertising organisations

Australasian College of Emergency Medicine $3,025

Australian New Zealand College of Anaesthetists $3,905

Initiative Media Australia $7,742

Royal Australasian and New Zealand College of 
Obstetrics and Gynaecologists $5,305

Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatry $3,712

Royal Australian College of General Practitioners $2,618

Studio Orange Pty Ltd $3,310

Tonic Health Media Pty Ltd $6,498

Total $176,104

Note: Values of less than $2,500 are not listed although the amount is included in the total.
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DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN
The WA Country Health Service recognises the importance of ensuring that all our 
staff deepen their understanding and connection in the areas of service delivery and 
workforce participation for people with a disability. Recognising the innate dignity of 
each person, we seek to create a culture where the engagement and support of 
people with disability is a daily reality.

Our Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2015-2020 was developed in consultation 
with our consumers, staff and key stakeholders to provide strategies for the  
WA Country Health Service to enable access, support increased independence, 
opportunities and inclusion for people with disability. The 2015-20 plan outlined the 
key	priorities	over	a	five-year	period	and	built	on	our	past	achievements.	

The WA Country Health Service remains focused on reducing barriers to access and 
employment for people with disability. A new 2020-2025 Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan is currently in development and will build on an existing framework to 
highlight our commitment to ensuring that people with disability have the same 
opportunities to fully access the range of health services, facilities and information 
available in the public health system, and to participate in public consultation. 

The 2020-2025 Disability Access and Inclusion Plan will address relevant legislative 
and	regulatory	changes,	seek	to	address	barriers	to	access	and	reflect	contemporary	
values and practices, such as striving for inclusion and meeting more than the 
minimum compliance with access standards.

Amongst a range of inclusion activities, we will do this by: 

• ensuring that all capital works projects comply with the minimum access, egress 
and amenity levels set out in the Building Code of Australia, and all infrastructure 
improvements and redevelopments are undertaken with a view to universal access;

• providing information to staff who are arranging events that will ensure that events 
are accessible to people with disabilities; 

• providing disability awareness training as a recommended module of the  
WA Country Health Service induction program for all staff; 

• ensuring people can provide feedback in a range of ways, including by Care 
Opinion, which is an independent online consumer feedback platform with 
accessibility functions;

• ensuring that information on patient rights and responsibilities and feedback options 
are displayed at WA Country Health Service sites and that this information, as well 
as patient health information, can be made available in alternative formats; and

• facilitating the use of interpreters and technology aids to improve access to 
information	for	people	who	speak	limited	English,	have	difficulty	speaking,	hearing,	
seeing and/or reading.

In accordance with the Disability Services Act 1993, a progress report has been 
submitted to the Disability Services Commission outlining the progress against the 
priorities set out in the 2019-2020 WA Country Health Service plan. 
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COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND  
ETHICAL CODES
The WA Country Health Service values and encourages quality, integrity and justice, 
and we strive to ensure these values are represented in all that we do. 

The WA Country Health Service is committed to complying with the Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management (the Standards), the Western Australian 
Public Sector Commission’s Code of Ethics and WA Health Code of Conduct.  
WA Country Health Service raises awareness of these Standards and Code of 
Conduct and Ethics by providing information to new employees as part of induction 
and orientation programs; by including a compliance statement in all Job Description 
Forms; through mandatory training in Accountable and Ethical Decision Making, 
Aboriginal Cultural Awareness eLearning programs and the Management Development 
Program; through policies and procedures; and by publishing information in 
newsletters, on Notice Boards and on our intranet. 

Human	resource	officers	provide	a	range	of	consultancy	and	advisory	services	to	
managers and employees to ensure they are aware of and manage their 
responsibilities in relation to the Standards, together with processing services provided 
by Health Support Services (payroll and recruitment). Centralised oversight of the 
recruitment	and	selection	process,	including	notification	of	the	outcome	of	recruitment	
processes ensures that all applicants are provided information about their rights to 
claim a breach of the Standards.

Complaints alleging non-compliance with the Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct are 
reviewed, investigated and monitored by WA Country Health Service Industrial 
Relations in consultation with Human Resources.

Applications made for breach of Standards review, the outcome of claims, and number 
of complaints relating to non-compliance with the ethical codes is provided in Table 37 
(next page).
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Table 37: Summary of Breach of Standards Claims 2019-20

Recruitment 
selection and 
appointment Transfers Secondment

Performance 
management Redeployment Termination

Temporary 
deployment

(acting)
Grievance 
Resolution Total

(i)  Total claims (include all claims lodged whether resolved internally or referred to the Public Sector Commission)

Claims lodged 2019-20 19 0 0 0 0 1 0 6 26
Claims carried over from previous 
financial	year 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 8 9

Total claims handled in 2019-20 19 0 0 0 1 1 0 14 35

(ii)  Outcome of claims handled

Withdrawn in agency 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 11

Resolved in agency 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Still pending in agency 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3

Referred to Public Sector Commission 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 12 19

Total claims handled in 2019-20 19 0 0 0 1 1 0 14 35
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 1992 gives all Western Australians 
a right of access to information held by the WA Country Health Service. The types of 
information held by the organisation include:  
• reports on health programs and projects
•	 briefings	for	Minister	for	Health,	Board	and	Executive	staff
• health circulars, policies, standards and guidelines
• health articles and discussion papers
• newsletters, magazines, bulletins and pamphlets
• health research and evaluation reports
• epidemiological, survey and statistical data/information
• publications relating to health planning and management
• committee meeting minutes
• administrative correspondence
• legislative reporting and compliance documents
• health infrastructure records
•	 financial	and	budget	reports
• staff personnel records
• patient records created from episodes of care

Members of the public can access some of the above information from the WA 
Country Health Service website (www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au). Members of the 
public who do not have internet access can obtain hard copy documents for free or a 
nominal fee outside of the Freedom of Information process.
Access to information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 must be made in 
writing and can be lodged via email, sent by post or delivered in person. The written 
request	must	provide	sufficient	detail	to	enable	the	application	to	be	processed,	
including contact details and an Australian address for correspondence.
In the case of an application for amendment or annotation of personal information it is 
required that the request include: 
• detail of the matters in relation to which the applicant believes the information is 

inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or misleading
• the applicant’s reasons for holding that belief
• detail of the amendment that the applicant wishes to have made.

For applications seeking non-personal information there is a fee payable at the time of 
submission. The WA Country Health Service has a Freedom of Information coordinator 
for each region. Contact details, including postal and email addresses can be sourced 
from www.healthywa.health.wa.gov.au.

All requests for information can be granted, partially granted or may be refused in 
accordance with the Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 1992. The 
applicant	can	appeal	if	dissatisfied	with	the	process,	the	reasons	provided	and	in	the	
event of an adverse access decision. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2020, WA Country Health Service dealt with 3,335 
applications for information, of which 2,896 applications were granted full or partial 
access and 115 were refused (Table 38).

Table 38: Applications for information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA), 
2019-20

Applications for information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA)

Number of applications carried over from 2018-19 254

Number of applications received in 2019-20 3,081

Total applications active in 2019-20 3,335

Number of applications granted – full access 1,147

Number of applications granted – partial or edited access 1,749

Number of applications withdrawn by applicant 64

Number of applications refused 115

Number of applications in progress 255

Other applications 5

Total applications dealt with for 2019-20 3,335

RECORDKEEPING PLANS
WA	Country	Health	Service	has	an	agency-specific	Recordkeeping	Plan	(RKP)	and	
supporting framework approved by the State Records Commission, which address the 
geographic challenges of country WA. This includes information on the recordkeeping 
system, record archiving and disposal arrangements, policies, practices and processes 
that comply with the State Records Act 2000. 

Resources, advice and guidance regarding recordkeeping are made available to all 
staff through the intranet, staff newsletters and training sessions. Strategies to ensure 
employees are aware and comply with the RKP include online recordkeeping and 
awareness and systems training. In 2019-20, over 1,990 new employees completed 
the mandatory online Recordkeeping Awareness Training course, which is included in 
the WA Country Health Service induction program. Just fewer than 10,000 staff have 
now completed this training course with compliance rates close to 100%.  The 
efficiency	and	effectiveness	of	the	training	program	is	reviewed	on	a	regular	basis	via	
trainee feedback and assessments. In 2019-20, new training modes were introduced 
through virtual classroom sessions and the hosting of information webinars using 
Microsoft Teams.  Regular communication with end users of the recordkeeping system 
is	maintained	through	targeted	training	sessions	including	‘master	classes’	for	specific	
user groups and updates. In addition, improved automated reporting has been 
implemented to ensure that managers have timely access to compliance information. 
As a result of the program’s continued success across the WA Country Health Service, 
over 1,053,550 records were created in the Electronic Document and Records 
Management System (EDRMS) during 2019-20, which represented an increase of 
over 36% from the previous year. Over 880 users completed the EDRMS training 
program in 2019-2020 and total active users has now exceeded 2,500. The EDRMS 
content and functionality is reviewed regularly and further automated processes were 
implemented in this period. This includes the tracking and transfer of approved 
electronic	invoices	which	has	improved	recordkeeping	compliance	and	efficiencies	in	
payment processing.
The WA Country Health Service Recordkeeping Plan was reviewed in 2018 and has 
been approved by the State Records Commission with the next review due in August 
2023.
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SENIOR OFFICERS
Senior	officers	and	their	area	of	responsibility	for	the	WA	Country	Health	Service	as	at	30	June	2020	are	listed	in	Table	39.
Table	39:	WA	Country	Health	Service	senior	officers

  Area of responsibility Title Name Basis of appointment
WA Country Health Service Chief Executive Mr Jeffrey Moffet Term contract
Operations Chief	Operating	Officer Ms Margaret Denton Term Contract
Innovation and Development Executive Director Ms Robyn Sermon Term Contract
Strategy and Change Executive Director Ms Melissa Vernon Acting
Nursing and Midwifery Executive Director Ms Marie Baxter Term Contract
Medical Services Executive Director Dr Phil Montgomery Term Contract
Medical Services Executive Director Dr Andrew Jamieson Term Contract
Business Services Executive Director * Mr Tim McKimmie Acting
Mental Health Executive Director Ms	Paula	Chatfield Term Contract
Health Programs Executive Director Ms Margaret Abernethy Acting
People, Capability and Culture Executive Director Mr Sean Conlan Acting
Infrastructure and Environment Executive Director Mr Robert Pulsford Substantive
Regional Operations Regional	Director	Goldfields Mr Peter Tredinnick Acting
Regional Operations Regional Director Great Southern Ms Geraldine Ennis Substantive
Regional Operations Regional Director Kimberley Ms Rebecca Smith Term contract
Regional Operations Regional Director Midwest Mr Jeffrey Calver Term contract
Regional Operations Regional Director Pilbara Ms Margi Faulkner Term contract
Regional Operations Regional Director Southwest Ms Kerry Winsor Substantive
Regional Operations Regional Director Wheatbelt* Ms Rachele Humbert (Ferrari) Acting
Office	of	the	Chief	Executive Director Ms Tracy Rainford Substantive
Finance Director Mr John Arkell Substantive
Aboriginal Health Strategy Director Mr Russell Simpson Substantive
*Note: In addition to the above in place at 30 June 2020, throughout the 2019-20 financial year Mr Felix Hudson was Acting Executive Director Business Services  
from June – December 2019 and Ms Reginal Michel-Huessy was Acting Regional Director Wheatbelt from December 2019 – March 2020
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND INJURY MANAGEMENT
Commitment to occupational safety, health and injury management
The WA Country Health Service is committed to providing a safe workplace to 
achieve high standards in safety and health for its employees, contractors, visitors 
and members of the community. WA Country Health Service follows an integrated 
risk management approach to occupational safety and health (OSH) that is 
underpinned by policies and procedures in accordance with the Occupational Safety 
and Health Act 1984, the Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996 and the 
Code of Practice on Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian 
Public Sector.

WA Country Health Service takes a proactive approach to OSH by establishing 
clear policies, strategies and monitoring systems. Hazard and risk management 
processes include the use of Safety Risk Report forms, workplace inspections, risk 
assessments and Job Hazard Analysis. 

Occupational safety and health documents are available online to all staff through 
HealthPoint and occupational safety and health intranet pages. 

Occupational violence in health care is a serious concern for the organisation.  
WA Country Health Service is implementing the Preventing and Managing 
Occupational Violence Strategy 2019-2023 to achieve high standards of safety and 
consistency across our sites.  

Consultation
Consultation on safety and health matters occurs with safety and health 
representatives and the formation of safety and health committees. Safety and 
health representatives provide a valued conduit for occupational health and safety 
matters to assist in identifying and effectively manage safety risks.

Compliance with occupational safety, health and injury management
WA Country Health Service maintains a comprehensive injury management system for 
the rehabilitation of injured employees and to facilitate return to work programs.  This 
service is guided by the requirements of both the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 and the Workers’ Compensation Code of Practice (Injury 
Management) 2005. 

This service is provided by occupational health and safety and injury management 
staff and includes claims lodgement, assistance and processing, early intervention, 
return to work programs and claims management. This ensures a high level of support 
is provided to injured workers and their managers.
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Occupational safety, health assessment and performance indicators

The annual performance reported for the WA Country Health Service in relation to 
occupational safety, health and injury for 2019-20 is summarised in Table 40.

Table 40: Occupational safety, health and injury performance, 2017-18 to 2019-20 

Measure 
Actual Results Results against target

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Target Comments
Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 Target achieved 

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 2.64 2.25 2.39 0 or 10% reduction on the previous three (3) years) Target achieved

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 34.0 36.0 37.0 0 or 10% reduction on the previous three (3) years) Target not achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

i) Within 13 weeks 43% 45% 38% Greater than or equal to 80% return to Target not achieved 

ii) Within 26 weeks 49% 49% 43% work within 26 weeks. Target not achieved 

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities 88% 86% 86% Greater than or equal to 80% Target achieved

Note: Performance is based on a three-year trend and as such the comparison base 
year is two years prior to the current reporting year (ie. current year is 2019-20 and 
comparison base year is 2017-18)
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SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY
The WA Country Health Service is committed to substantive equality for Western 
Australians living in country Western Australia through the implementation of the WA 
Health Policy Framework for Substantive Equality. Our commitment to recognising the 
diversity	of	our	consumers,	employees	and	other	stakeholders	is	reflected	in	our	
organisational values, our policies and procedures. 
We are committed to addressing and preventing systemic discrimination by adjusting 
policies,	procedures	and	practices	to	meet	the	specific	needs	of	certain	groups	in	the	
community. This includes, but is not limited to, people with a disability, Aboriginal people, 
people from culturally diverse backgrounds and their families and carers. This includes:
• Providing strategies to increase independence, opportunities and inclusion for people 

with disability. Detailed strategies are outlined in the WA Country Health Service 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2015–2020. 

• Continuing to focus on improving the health outcomes of Aboriginal people through a 
coordinated approach to the planning, funding and delivery of Aboriginal health 
programs. We continue to grow and support our Aboriginal health workforce in all areas 
including professional streams, and by growing a non-Aboriginal workforce that 
understands and responds to the needs of Aboriginal people.

In 2019-20 the WA Country Health Service contributed to substantive equality in the 
following areas:
• As at June 2020, WA Country Health Service employed a total of 461 Aboriginal people, 

equating to 4.5% of our workforce. This is above the 3.2% target set by the Public 
Sector Commission for WA Health.

• Development of the WA Country Health Service Aboriginal Health Strategy 2019-2024, 
which outlines the organisation’s approach to improve health outcomes for country 
Aboriginal people in WA by making ‘Aboriginal health everybody’s business’.

• Development of, and reporting against an Action Plan to Implement the WA Aboriginal 
Health and Wellbeing Framework 2018-2020 outlining the services and initiatives that 
contribute to implementation of the WA Aboriginal Health and Wellbeing Framework 
2015-2030. 

• Continued implementation of Aboriginal Health Programs renamed ‘Strengthening 
Aboriginal Health Program’ from 1 July 2020, in partnership with Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Health Services, across regional WA, several metropolitan based 
organisations	and	not-for-profit	organisations.

• Continued implementation of the Aboriginal Comprehensive Primary Health Care 
Program in partnership with Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services across 
regional Western Australia.

• Provision of grant funding to facilitate secretariat support to the Regional Aboriginal 
Health Planning Forums.  

• Continued implementation of the Aboriginal Mentorship Program and Aboriginal Entry 
Level Employment Program. 

• Appointment of Regional Aboriginal Health Consultants in the Midwest, Kimberley,  
Great	Southern,	Goldfields	and	Wheatbelt,	and	currently	recruiting	to	positions	in	the	
Pilbara and South West.

• As of 1 June 2020, 92% of WA Country Health Service employees had completed the 
Department of Health’s Aboriginal Cultural eLearning Package.

• Expanded the Country Health Connection Meet and Greet service to provide services 
from 6.00am to 10.00pm Monday to Friday and as required on the weekends. 

• Continued to manage the Elizabeth Hansen Autumn Centre, a 32 bed residential hostel 
accommodating Aboriginal people who require specialist medical treatment and their 
carers’, travelling from remote and regional communities.

• Progressing the State Government commitment to the provision of culturally appropriate 
accommodation for Aboriginal patients and their carers required to travel to the 
metropolitan area for specialist health care.

• Continued our longstanding participation and support of a range of state and national 
forums, including the Statewide Aboriginal Health Network and the WA Aboriginal Health 
Partnership Forum.

• Continued our engagement with key stakeholders, agencies and partners, including the 
Aboriginal Health Council of WA, Commonwealth Department of Health, WA Primary 
Health Alliance, Rural Health West and Metropolitan Health Service Providers.
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Summary of Board and committees remuneration
The total annual remuneration for each Board or committee is listed below in Table 41. For details of individual Board or committee members, please refer to Appendix 2.
Table 41: Summary of State Government Boards and committees within the WA County Health Service in 2019–20

Board/committee name
Total  

remuneration
WA Country Health Service Board $430,030
SUB TOTAL $430,030
WA Country Health Service Human Research Ethics Committee $43,023
SUB TOTAL $43,023

Medical Advisory Committees
Albany Hospital Medical Advisory Committee $0
Blackwood Hospital Medical Advisory Committee $1,287
Bunbury Hospital Medical Advisory Committee $0
Busselton Hospital Medical Advisory Committee $1,401
Carnarvon Medical Advisory Committee $0
Central Great Southern Medical Advisory Committee $3,300
Denmark Medical Advisory Committee $7,319
Donnybrook Hospital Medical Advisory Committee $0
Eastern Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee $2,276
Esperance Medical Advisory Committee $0
Exmouth Medical Advisory Committee $0
Geraldton Medical Advisory Committee $0
Margaret River Medical Advisory Committee $945
Pilbara Medical Advisory Committee $0
Plantagenet-Cranbrook Medical Advisory Committee $7,317
Southern Wheatbelt  Medical Advisory Committee $0
Warren District Hospital Medical Advisory Committee $2,052
Western Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee $0
SUB TOTAL $25,897

Board/committee name
Total  

remuneration
District Health Advisory Councils
Blackwood District Health Advisory Council $1,951
Broome District Health Advisory Council $0
Bunbury District Health Advisory Council $2,380
Central Great Southern District Health Advisory Council $5,683
Derby and Surrounding Communities District Health Advisory Council $1,980
East Pilbara District Health Advisory Council $1,389
Eastern Wheatbelt District Health Advisory Council $2,694
Gascoyne District Health Advisory Council $0
Geraldton District Health Advisory Council $630
Goldfields	District	Health	Advisory	Council $6,931
Kununurra/Wyndham and surrounding communities District Health 
Advisory Council $3,060

Leschenault District Health Advisory Council $0
Lower Great Southern District Health Advisory Council $540
Midwest District Health Advisory Council $2,660
Naturaliste District Health Advisory Council $277
South East  District Health Advisory Council $0
Southern Wheatbelt District Health Advisory Council $508
Warren District Health Advisory Council (Wheatbelt) $1,309
West Pilbara District Health Advisory Council $0
Western Wheatbelt District Health Advisory Council $6,712
SUB TOTAL $38,704
TOTAL $537,654
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Appendix 1: WA Country Health Service contact details
WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE (WACHS) 
Street address: 189 Wellington Street, Perth WA 6000 
Postal address: PO Box 6680, East Perth Business Centre WA 6892 
Phone: (08) 9223 8500 
Fax: (08) 9223 8599 
Email: centralofficereception.WACHS@health.wa.gov.au 
Web: www.wacountry.health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – GOLDFIELDS
Street address: The Palms, 68 Piccadilly Street, Kalgoorlie WA 6430 
Postal address: PO Box 716, Kalgoorlie WA 6433
Phone: (08) 9080 5710 
Fax: (08) 9080 5724 
Email: WACHS-GoldfieldsExec@health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – GREAT SOUTHERN 
Street address: 84 Collie Street, Albany WA 6330 
Postal address: PO Box 252, Albany WA 6331 
Phone: (08) 9892 2672 
Fax: (08) 9842 2643 
Email: gs.ces@health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – KIMBERLEY 
Street address: 29 Coghlan Street, Broome WA 6725 
Postal address: Locked Bag 4011, Broome WA 6725 
Phone: (08) 9195 2450 
Fax: (08) 9192 5757 
Email: KHS.ExecSecretary@health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – MIDWEST 
Street address: 45 Cathedral Avenue, Geraldton WA 6530 
Postal address: PO Box 22, Geraldton WA 6531 
Phone: (08) 9956 2209 
Fax: (08) 9956 2421 
Email: CES.WACHS-Midwest@health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – PILBARA 
Street address: Level 2, 34 Colebatch Way, South Hedland WA 6722
Postal address: PMB 12, South Hedland WA 6722 
Phone: (08) 9174 1600 
Fax: (08) 9172 4167 
Email: wachspb_execservices@health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – SOUTH WEST 
Street address: Level 5, Bunbury Tower, 61 Victoria Street, Bunbury WA 6230 
Postal address: PO Box 5301, Bunbury WA 6231
Phone: (08) 9781 2350 
Fax: (08) 9781 2385
Email: execservices.wachssw@health.wa.gov.au 

WACHS – WHEATBELT 
Street address: Shop 4, 78 Wellington Street, Northam WA 6401 
Postal address: PO Box 690, Northam WA 6401 
Phone: (08) 9621 0700 
Fax: (08) 9621 0701 
Email: wheatbeltreception@health.wa.gov.au
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration
WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE BOARD

Position Name Type of remuneration Period of membership Gross remuneration

Chair Dr Neale Fong Annual 12 months $83,651

Deputy Chair Wendy Newman Annual 12 months $46,570

Member Dr Daniel Heredia Annual 12 months $46,009

Member Dr Kim Isaacs Annual 12 months $46,009

Member Michael Hardy Annual 4 months * $13,472

Member Mary Anne Stephens Annual 12 months $46,009

Member Meredith Waters Annual 12 months $46,009

Member Alan Ferris Not eligible 12 months Not Applicable

Member Kelly Howlett Annual 12 months $46,009

Member Dr Diane Mohen Annual 12 months $46,009

Member Paul Fitzpatrick Annual 2 months** $10,293

Total $430,030
Note: Includes Superannuation
*Ceased membership 15 October 2019.
**Commenced membership 14 April 2020, no prior year accrual applicable.
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration
WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE

Position Name Type of remuneration 
Period of membership 

(months) 
Gross/actual 
remuneration 

Chair Judith Allen Annual 12 months $18,303

Deputy Chair Dr Jennifer Sharp Per meeting 7 months $927

Member Associate Professor Anne Whitworth Per meeting 12 months $2,781

Member Dr Katrina Spilsbury Per meeting 10 months $2,472

Member Tresslyn Smith Per meeting 12 months $1,854

Member Ruth Webb-Smith Per meeting 12 months $2,163

Member Dr Donald Reid Per meeting 12 months $2,472

Member Therese Hadland Per meeting 12 months $927

Member Julia Barber Per meeting 12 months $2,781

Member Jeanette De Klerk Per meeting 8 months $1,236

Member Reverend Canon Geoffrey Paul Chadwick Per meeting 12 months $2,472

Member Natalie Rudling Per meeting 12 months $2,163

Member Katrina Boldt Per meeting 12 months $2,472

Ex-officio	Member Russell Simpson Not eligible 12 months Not Applicable

Ex-officio	Member	 Dr Peter Barratt Not eligible 12 months Not Applicable

Total $43,023
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration
MEDICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Albany Hospital Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Tom Bowles Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Carly Roxburgh Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Phillip Marmion Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Tom Brough Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Brendan Carson Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Edward Yeboah Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr James Dent Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Barbara King Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Juan Clark Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Barbara Marquand Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0

 

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Blackwood Hospital Medical Advisory Council

Chair Dr Michael Hoar Per meeting 12 months $684

Deputy  
Chairperson Dr William Michael Dewing Per Meeting 12 months $60

Member Dr Neil Wells Per Meeting 6 months $0

Member Dr Jonathan Mark Morling Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Andrew Luc Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Loryn Geyer Per Meeting 11 months $0

Member Dr Mildred Chiwara Per Meeting 1 month $0

Member Dr Gupreet Singh Not Eligible 6 months $0

Member Dr Allison Johns Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jeremy Higgins Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Anne-Maree Martino Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Helen Stuart Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Tamsen Robertson Not Eligible 8 months $0

Member Kym Sandilands Not Eligible 8 months $0

Member Kate Lefebvre Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr	Christopher	Griffin Not Eligible 5 months $0

Total $1,287
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Bunbury Hospital Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Stephen Hinton Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Adam Coulson Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Stephen Hartwig Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Geoffrey Hawking Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Vincent Chan No Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Ravi Krishnamurthy Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Allison Newman Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Benjamin Cunningham Not Eligible 2 Months $0

Member Dr	Christopher	Griffin	 Not Eligible 10 Months $0

Member Denise Clement Not Eligible 5 Months $0

Member Dr Iain Charles Stuart 
Gilmore Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Esther Knight-Terlouw Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Lila Stephens Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Jacinta Anne Cover Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Vicki Charters Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Bill Beresford Not Eligible 6 Months $0

Member Dr Nikhil Agrawal Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Donald Coid Not Eligible 3 Months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Bunbury Hospital Medical Advisory Committee

Member Dr Nicholas Newman Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Allen Chong Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Esther Knight-Terlouw Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Parthasarathy Ramesh Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Richard Saker Not Eligible 3 Months $0

Member Dr Allison Johns Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Natalia Magana Not Eligible 2 months $0

Ex-Officio	
Member Kerry Winsor Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-	Officio	
Member Dr Geoffrey Williamson Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-	Officio	
Member Glen Matters Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-	Officio	
Member Jo Moore Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-	Officio	
Member Cindy Stainton Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-	Officio	
Member Naomi Lillywhite Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Total $0
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Busselton Hospital Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Sarah Moore Per meeting 12 months $1,401

Deputy Chair Dr Patrick Mulhern Not Eligible 8 months $0

Member Dr Anne Giele Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Donna Hill Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr V Pushpalingam Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Miles Earl Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Francis Loutsky Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Geoff Hunt Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Martin Ibach Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Rachel Jackson Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Chris Kruk Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Mark Holloway Not Eligible 10 months $0

Member Dr Sandra Rennie Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Maria O'Shea Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Gerhard Erasmus Not Eligible 6 months $0

Member Dr Trent Healy Not Eligible 1 month $0

Member Peter Ginbey Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Mark Monaghan Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Daniel Anderson Not Eligible 12 months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Busselton Hospital Medical Advisory Committee

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Phil Chapman Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Jan Cook Not Eligible 9 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Brian Tucker Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Rhiannon Hosking Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Kerry Winsor Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Allison Johns Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $1,401

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Carnarvon Medical Advisory Committee

Chairperson Dr Geert Dijkwel Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Kees Bakker Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Batsi Chiureki Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr David Deelen Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Allan Pelkowitz Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Tamara Sweeney Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr John Woodall Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0

Annual Report

WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2019–20147



Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Central Great Southern District Health Advisory Council

Chair Dr Nickie Du Preez Per meeting 12 months $3,300

Member Dr Sam Patterson Per meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Emmon Mubbashir Per meeting 6 months $0

Member Dr Sam Weaver Per meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Shapi Mukiapini Per meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Wole Oluyede Per meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Adewale Olatunji 
(Olat) Per meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Emily Webb Per meeting 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Sharon Miskell Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Paddy Glackin Not Eligible 6 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member	 Ruth York Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Joanne Clark Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Jennifer Thompson Not Eligible 6 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Robyn Millar Not Eligible 5 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member	 Karen Anstey Not Eligible 7 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Jean Daly Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Meihavan Singh Not Eligible 4 months $0

Total $3,300

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Denmark Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Brett Lamb Per Meeting 12 months $1,850

Member Dr Virginia Longley Per Meeting 12 months $356

Member Dr Christine Archer Per Meeting 12 months $1,124

Member Dr Hector Faulkner Per Meeting 12 months $1,518

Member Dr Sharon Jackson Per Meeting 12 months $462

Member Dr Rob Money Per Meeting 12 months $616

Member Dr Alex Sleeman Per Meeting 12 months $1,393

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Sharon Miskell Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Paddy Glackin Not Eligible 6 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Ruth York Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Joanne Clark Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Jennifer Thompson Not Eligible 6 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Julie Hollingworth Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Kylie Spencer Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Paul Fuller Not Eligible 6 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Ceinwen Gearon Not Eligible 7 months $0

Total $7,319
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Donnybrook Hospital Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Wiestke van Der 
Velden Schuijling Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Peter Rae Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Prathap Kaliaraj Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Emily Hill Per Meeting 5 months $0

Member Dr Maria Goh Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Priyanka Kumar Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Jeremy Higgins Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Lucy Murphy Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Sallyann Shaw Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Eastern Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Peter Lines Per Meeting 12 months $2,276

Member Dr Peter Barratt Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Jonathan Ruiz Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Mirielsa Nufable-Ruiz Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Caleb Chow Not Eligible 12 months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Eastern Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee

Member Dr Ifeanya-chukwu Nwoko Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Andries Van Ballegooyen Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Brian Walker Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Karen Horsley Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dale Pugh Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Robert Amm Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Joseph Cuthbertson Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $2,276

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Exmouth Medical Advisory Council

Chair Dr Vinney Joshi Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Dr John Woodall Not Eligible 8 months $0

Member Dr Dawn Reeler Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Hans Grobelaar Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr David Gaskell Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Esperance Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Jono Mbangani Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Dr Jerone Buis Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr John Spencer Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Karl Staer Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Dale Bosenberg Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Mark Mottershead Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Paddy Glackin SMP Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Greg Water A/MD Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Wim Speelman Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Richard Clingen Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Toby Pearn Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Andrew Marangou Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Andrew DeGroot Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Paul Ricciardo Not Eligible 6 Months $0

Member Dr Louise Pearn Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Graham Jacobs Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Juliette Van Hagen Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Mike Mears Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Walter Byrne Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Genevieve 
McPherson Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Geraldton Medical Advisory Council

Chair Ian Taylor Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Helko Schenk Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Katherine Templeman Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jacques Perry Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Roy Varghese Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Sara Armitage Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Anita Banks Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jonah Chieza Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jamie Robson Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jenne Love Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Yusuf Nagree Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Lorcan McGonagle Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Derek Fraser Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Allan Pelkowitz Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Margaret River Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Cameron-Crothers 
Stomps Per meeting 4 Months $0

Chair Dr Verelle Roocke Per meeting 8 Months $945

Member Dr Ray Clarke Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Cathy Milligan Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Adam Bancroft Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Bob Bucat, Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr John Collis, Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Kirsty MacGregor Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Graham Velterop Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Shaun O'Rourke Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Sharyn Bennier Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Peter Carroll Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Martin Ibach Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Nathalie Maron Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Louise Marsh Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Alan Walley Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Gareth Mann Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Katina Koukourou Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Richard Roddy Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Rebecca Vernon Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Gary Wilson Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Margaret River Medical Advisory Committee

Member Dr Emma Stephenson Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Archana Ratna Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Fintan Andrews Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Chris Thexton Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Jaimie Drysdale Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Dr Kelsey Sweeney Not Eligible 10 Months $0

Member Dr James Beetson Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Member Colin Bristow Not Eligible 1 Month $0

Member Alison Abbey Not Eligible 8 Months $0

Member Trudie Clee Not Eligible 2 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Allison Johns Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Jan Cook Not Eligible 9 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Rhiannon Hosking Not Eligible 3 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Mark Monaghan Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Marie Tweedie Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Sandy Znidarsich Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Chris Love Not Eligible 12 months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Peter English Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dr Adam Bancroft Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Ex-Officio	Member Dane Hendry Not Eligible 12 Months $0

Total $945
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Pilbara Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Ganesan Sakarapani Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Margi Faulkner Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Louise Steedman Not Eligible 03 months $0
Member Michael Birch Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Anura Padmasiri Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Andrew Savery Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member John Walker Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Justin Withnall Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Bruce Campbell Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Crystal Claite Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Brent Joubert Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Yen Koh Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Annie Lang Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Cynthia Leeuwin Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Sing Lok Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Tadz Mangwana Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Sarah McEwan Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Vafa Naderi Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Daniel Saplontai Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Wendy Sexton Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member John Van Bockxmeer Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Raj Kapadia Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Felicity Breen Not Eligible 12 months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Pilbara Medical Advisory Committee

Member Kate Poland Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Smriti Shah Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Heather Lyttle Not Eligible 12 months $0
Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Plantagenet Cranbrook Health Service - Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Victor Seah Per Meeting 12 months $1,253 
Member Dr Carol Fitzpatrick Per Meeting 12 months $1,068
Member Dr Ligia Galvez Per Meeting 12 months $1,138
Member Dr Laura Carija Per Meeting 12 months $772
Member Dr Amanda Villis Per Meeting 12 months $1,802
Member Dr Caitlen Growden Per Meeting 12 months $1,284
Member Dr Elaine Sabin Per Meeting 12 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Dr Sharon Miskell Not Eligible 3 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Dr Paddy Glackin Not Eligible 6 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Ruth York Not Eligible 3 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Joanne Clark Not Eligible 3 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Jennifer Thompson Not Eligible 6 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Julie Hollingworth Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Addie Spencer Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-Officio	member Ceinwen Gearon Not Eligible 7 months $0
Total $7,317
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Southern Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Peter Smith Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Peter Maguire Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Wynand Breytenbach Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Fauzan Rosli Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Dr Alan Kerrigan Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Harry Randhawa Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Rhonda Marques Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Huong Wei Ting Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Jenny Menasse Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Kerry Fisher Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Peter Barratt Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Kath Comparti Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Ilario Da Silva Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Guan Lim Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Dr Nnaemeka Ezeorakwe Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Megan Hardie Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Coert Erasmus Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Peter Van Maarseveen Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Olayinka Omoniyi Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Ralph Chapman Not Eligible 6 months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Southern Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee

Member Dr Yohana Kurniawan Not Eligible 1 months $0

Member Dr Clare Hardie Not Eligible 6 months $0

Member Dr Paulose Basil Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Dr Adenola Adeleye Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Warren District Medical Advisory Committee

Chairperson Dr John Rosser Davies Per Meeting 12 months $2,052

Member Dr	Paul	Griffiths Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Peter Wutchak Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Alison Turner Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Ousama Ghanem Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Lillian Daniels Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dr Allison Johns Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jodie Omodei Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Justine Kelly Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Kathy Smith Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jeremy Higgins Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Western Wheatbelt Medical Advisory Committee

Chair Dr Anna Varone Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Wes Abujalala Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Sam Al Mur Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Peter Barratt Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Tony Mylius Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Damien Zilm Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Harry Randhawa Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Marie Fox Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Shailesh Ganasegaram Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr Gavin Osgarby Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0
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DISTRICT HEALTH ADVISORY COUNCILS

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Blackwood District Health Advisory Council

Chair Philippe Kaltenrieder Per Meeting 12 months $747

Deputy Chair Lynda Harrison Per Meeting 10 months $525

Member Cate Stevenson Per Meeting 12 months $296

Member Joan Leader Per Meeting 9 months $0

Member John Nicholas Per Meeting 9 months $139

Member Liz Parker Per Meeting 9 months $0

Member Kathryn Westphal Per Meeting 1 month $0

Member Jenny Forbes Per Meeting 7 months $244

Total $1,951

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Broome and Surrounding Communities District Health Advisory Council

Chair Tracey Chamberlain Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Wendy McKinley Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Chris Mitchell Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Karen Fitzpartick Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Margaret Moore Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Cheryl Ozies Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Buna Poelina Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Eddie Bokma Not Eligible 8 months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration
Member Kuzi Sakupwanya Not Eligible 8 months $0
Member Tanya Ronaldson Not Eligible 7 months $0
Member Rochelle Brooker Per Meeting 7 months $0
Member Adam Vincent Not Eligible 12 months $0
Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Bunbury District Health Advisory Council

Chair John Gardyne Per Meeting 12 months $770
Deputy Chair Margaret Smith Per Meeting 12 months $0                                        
Member Robert Blakeman Per Meeting 12 months $700                                        
Member Emma Whisson-Bourke Per Meeting 12 months $0
Member Carol Reid Per Meeting 12 months $210
Member Lauren Jones Per Meeting 6 months $0
Member Mary Dunlop Per Meeting 8 months $700
Member Nicole James Per Meeting 12 months $0
Member Wendy Botha Not Eligible 12 months $0                                        
Member Terri Hann Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Lorraine Ellis Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Eliza Serino Not Eligible 4 months $0
Total $2,380

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Broome and Surrounding Communities District Health Advisory Council

Annual Report

WA COUNTRY HEALTH SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2019–20155



Appendix 2: Boards and committees remuneration

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Central Great Southern District Health Advisory Council

Chair Hilary Harris Per Meeting 12 months $1,118 
Deputy Chair Gladys Wells Per Meeting 12 months $824
Member Norma Hersey Per Meeting 12 months $1,475
Member Pauline Roosendaal Per Meeting 12 months $694
Member Jill Mathwin Per Meeting 12 months $974
Member Gabrielle Hansen Per Meeting 12 months $165
Member Deanne Noakes Per Meeting 12 months $433
Member Robyn Hoysted Not Eligible 12 months $0
Member Ruth York Not Eligible 3 months $0
Member Jo Clark Not Eligible 3 months $0

Member Jenny Thompson Not Eligible 6 months $0

Member Robyn Millar Not Eligible 5 months $0

Member Karen Anstey Not Eligible 7 months $0

Member Jean Daly Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Meihavan Singh Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Pauline O’Connor Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Kate Squibb Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jane Hung Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Michelle Carrington Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-officio	Member Lesley Pearson Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-officio	Member Janine Beamish Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-officio	Member Jo Crooks Not Eligible 12 months $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Central Great Southern District Health Advisory Council

Ex-officio	Member Barbara Groves Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-officio	Member Chris Conning Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-officio	Member Sonia Huggins Not Eligible 12 months $0
Ex-officio	Member Kim Shepard Not Eligible 12 months $0
Total $5,683

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Derby and Surrounding Communities District Health Advisory Committee

Chair Susan Murphy Per Meeting 10 months $1,980
Chair Nick Mildenhall Not Eligible 11 months $0
Member Annette Kogolo Not Eligible 3 months $0
Member Elsia Archer Per Meeting 11 months $0
Member Lyn Henderson Yates Not Eligible 11 months $0
Member Joanne Moore Not Eligible 11 months $0
Member Jeannie Roberts Not Eligible 11 months $0
Member Ruth Southern Not Eligible 11 months $0
Member Robyn Bowcock Per Meeting 11 months $0
Member Linda Royce Not Eligible 11 months $0
Ex	Officio	Member Andrew McGaw Not Eligible 11 months $0
Member Kylie Lawsen Not Eligible 1 month $0
Member Peter McCumstie Not Eligible 3 months $0
Total $1,980
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

East Pilbara District Health Advisory Council

Chair Gloria Jacob Per Meeting 12 months $1,389

Deputy Chair Tanya Mills Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Len Adidi Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dennise Allen Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Lee Crosbie Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Areta Ellis Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Margi Faulkner Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Julie Heath Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Winny Henry Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Simone McKinlay Not Eligible 4 months $0

Member Hon Fredrick Riebeling Not Eligible 8 months $0

Member Gan Sakarapani Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Liz Starling Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Louise Steedman Not Eligible 5 months $0

Member Linda Waters Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Rebekah Worthington Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $1,389

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Eastern Wheatbelt District Health Advisory Council

Chair Onida Truran Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Alan McAndrew Per Meeting 8 months $849

Member Lynne White Per Meeting 11 months $1,174

Member Sandra Waters Per Meeting 12 months $671 

Member Mary Cowan Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Adrian Wesley Per Meeting 12 months $0

Total $2,694

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Gascoyne District Health Advisory Council

Chair Tamara Sweeney Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Jackie Cameron Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Joan Sedgwick Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Merle Dann Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member John McCleary Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Stephen Hunter Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Mark Smith Not Eligible 5 months $0

Member Lydia Young Not Eligible 2 months $0

Member Sharon Jones Not Eligible 2 months $0

Member Sarah Kelly Not Eligible 8 months $0

Total $0
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Geraldton Hospital District Health Advisory Council

Chair Donald Rolston Per Meeting 12 months $350

Member Margaret Pike Per Meeting 12 months $280

Member Debra Buckle Per Meeting 1 Month $0

Member Merrilyn Agnew Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Glenn Jones Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Peter Bennett Per Meeting 2 months $0

Member Sharon Jones Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Ali Parsons Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Rae Peel Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Pam Syme Not Eligible 2 months $0

Total $630

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Goldfields	District	Health	Advisory	Council

Chair Keith Cowan Per Meeting 12 Months $1,225

Member Hayley Dowson Per Meeting 12 Months $1,418

Member Dianne Paddon Per Meeting 12 Months $788

Member Greg Baxter Per Meeting 12 Months $525

Member Debbie Van Luxemborg Per Meeting 12 Months $630

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Goldfields	District	Health	Advisory	Council

Member Kirsty McCluskey Per Meeting 12 Months $1,155

Member Natasha Edgecombe Per Meeting 12 Months $1,190

Member Margaret Christie Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Total $6,931

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Kununurra/Wyndham and Surrounding Communities District Health Advisory Council

Chair Maxine Middap Per Meeting 12 months $3,060

Member Donna Hindmarsh Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Dr James Harris Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Terry Howe Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Robyn Long Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Donna Hindmarsh Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Sister Marcella Hegarty Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Virginia O’Neil Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Peter Frewen Per Meeting 12 month $0

Member Andrew McGaw Not Eligible 6 months $0

Total $3,060
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Leschenault District Health Advisory Council

Chair Colin Beauchamp Per Meeting 1 month $0

Chair Amanda Lovitt Per Meeting 11 months $0

Deputy Chair e Geoff Wilks Per Meeting 1 month $0

Deputy Chair Anne Clifford Per Meeting 1 month $0

Member  Derrick Simpson  Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Anne Briggs Per Meeting 1 month $0

Member Michelle Smith Per Meeting 1 month $0

Member Thomas Reardon Per Meeting 1 month $0

Member Bob Lowther Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Ben Rose Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Lesley Ugle Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Lower Great Southern District Health Advisory Council

Chair Rodger Bull Per Meeting 12 months $540

Deputy Chair Irene	Montefiore Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Elizabeth Hamilton Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Denise Kaye Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Ann Dunlop Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Ruth McLean Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Margaret Gill Per Meeting 11 months $0

Member Jo Crook Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Juan Clark Not Eligible 12 months $0

Member Ruth York Not Eligible 3 months $0

Member Joanne Clark Not Eligible 3 months $0

Member Jenny Thompson Not Eligible 6 months $0

Member Amber Giblett Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $540
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Midwest District Health Advisory Council

Chair Graeme Bedford Per Meeting 12 months $280

Deputy Chair Iris Annear Per Meeting 12 months $350

Member Merle Isbister Per Meeting 12 months $350

Member Steph Bligh-Lee Per Meeting 12 months $280

Member Joanne Hirsch Per Meeting 12 months $420

Member Noel Fallon Per Meeting 12 months $420

Member Joanne Hirsch Per Meeting 12 months $560

Total $2,660

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Naturaliste District Health Advisory Council

Chair Elizabeth Jones Per Meeting 12 months $70                                            

Deputy Chair Max Kewish Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Kenneth May Per Meeting 5 months $0

Member Yen Hawkes Per Meeting 9 months $207

Member Tanya Gillett Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Jennifer Richards Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Lorrae Loud Not Eligible 12 months $0

Total $277

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

South East District Health Advisory Council

Chair Meredith Waters Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Zandy Bonney Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Joanne Aberle Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Tahneisha Wynne Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Kathleen Fowler Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Pam Gardner Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Pamela Kerr Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Sue Meyer Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Ellen Saltmarsh Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Jennifer Woods Per Meeting 3 months $0

Member Gabrielle Lilley Per Meeting 12 Months $0

Member Lynette Whitby Per Meeting 2 months $0

Total $0
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Southern Wheatbelt District Health Advisory Council

Chair Stan Sherry Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Bronwen O’Sullivan Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Geoff Hodgson Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Moya Carne Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Frank Heffernan Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Amanda Milton Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Deborah Clarke Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Lindsay Smoker Per Meeting 12 months $508

Member Alan McAndrew Per Meeting 12 months $0

Total $508

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Warren District Health Advisory Council 

Chairperson Gordon Smith Per Meeting 12 months $1,309

Deputy Chairperson Sue Priddis Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Elizabeth Bartholomaeus Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Wayne Herdigan Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Kathy Yovkoff Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Lesley Polley Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Jodi Johnson Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Jill Walker Per Meeting 11 months $0

Ex-officio	Member	 Jayde Darin Not Eligible 11 months $0

Total $1,309
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Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

West Pilbara District Health Advisory Council

Chair Jo Halpin Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Phaedra Fenner Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Winnsome Henry Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dee Van Beek Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Adriana Hendly Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Deborah Stockton Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Sonia Spiers Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Mary Lovett Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Eileen Wyatt Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Janette Bevan Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Judy Hill Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Yvonne Partington Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dot Abbott Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Judith Biegel Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Lucy Esgin Per Meeting 12 months $0

Total $0

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of 

membership
Gross 

remuneration

Western Wheatbelt District Health Advisory Council

Chair Irene Mills Per Meeting 12 months $557

Deputy Chair Jan Court Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Georgina Mackintosh Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dianne Hooper Per Meeting 6 months $210

Member Sandra Randell Per Meeting 12 months $952

Member Cynthia McMorran Per Meeting 12 months $360

Member Keith Murray Per Meeting 12 months $1,807

Member Patricia Walters Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Dianne Kelly Per Meeting 4 months $523

Member Michelle Cockman Per Meeting 12 months $551

Member Kerrie Roberts Per Meeting 12 months $0

Member Michelle Thompson Per Meeting 12 months $740

Member Alison Barnard Per Meeting 6 months $259

Member Julian Krieg Per Meeting 12 months $753

Total $6,712
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8 WACHS’ 2020 Finalists for the WA Nursing and Midwifery Excellence Awards pictured with Marie Norris, Executive Director Nursing and Midwifery WA Country Health 
Service (2020) Zoe Croot, WACHS Kimberley, Excellence in Rural and Remote Health; Sally Thomas, WACHS Kimberley, Excellence in Rural and Remote Health;  
Bernadette Garnier, WACHS Wheatbelt, Excellence in Aboriginal Health; Andre Tay, WACHS Midwest, Excellence in Aboriginal Health; Larissa McInerney,  
WACHS Great Southern, Excellence in Midwifery; Kasey Biggar, WACHS South West, Excellence in Midwifery; Lindsey McCall, WACHS Great Southern,  
Graduate	of	the	Year;	Kylie	Ekins,	WACHS	Goldfields,	Excellence	in	Leadership;	Naomi	Sprigg	dos	Santos,	WACHS	Goldfields	Population	Health	-	Excellence	in	Primary,	
Public and Community Care; Lauren Van Der Linde & Chantelle Pears, WACHS Pilbara Population Health - Excellence in Person Centred Care - Team Award: Health 
Hub Team; Bridie Costelloe & Tracy Hunter, WACHS Pilbara Telechemotherapy Service - Excellence in Person Centred Care - Team Award; Prabeesh Prasannan Pillai, 
Prathima Narain & Kerry Wilcox, WACHS Kimberley Ambulance Service (nurse led) - Excellence in Person Centred Care; and Team Award: Wheatbelt Midwifery Group 
Practice – WACHS Wheatbelt - Consumer Appreciation Award.

13 WACHS at a Glance - Australian Bureau of Statistics Estimated Resident Population data (2018) - Catalogue No. 3235.0 - Regional Population by Age and Sex, 
Population	Estimates	by	Age	and	Sex,	Local	Government	Areas	(ASGS	2018),	2018.	Note:	Aboriginal	population	figures	based	on	proportions	reported	in	2016	ABS	
Estimated Residential Population Data as data by region is not yet available for 2018.

13 WACHS at a Glance – Emergency Department Attendances - Emergency Department Data Collection, Purchasing and System Performance Division, Department of 
Health WA, Extracted on31 July 2020. Admissions and Discharges - Hospital Morbidity Data Collections (HMDC) and Wait List Data Collection, Extracted on 31th July 
2020.	Births	in	Country	Hospitals	-	Midwives	Notification	System	and	Birth	Notification	Dataset,	Extracted	on	3rd	August	2020.	Elective	Surgery	Waitlist	patients	seen	
- Hospital Morbidity Data Collections (HMDC) and Wait List Data Collection, Extracted on 31th July 2020 (Elective Surgery Wait List reportable (surgical) cases as per 
the reference document ESWLDC Commonwealth Non-reportable Procedures). Outpatient appointments - Non-Admitted Patient Activity and Wait List Data Collection 
(NAPAAWL DC) Extracted on 30th July 2020.
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14–15 International Year of the Nurse and Midwife: 

Graduates of Government Hospital Kalgoorlie, 1937. Back Row: E. Harler, A. Freeman, -. Johnston, A. Ward; Front Row: J. Winzar, M. Glass, M. Stone, B. Mohen,  
D. Culmsee. Hobbs, V. (1980). But Westward Look. UWA Press, p161. Reproduced with permission from UWA Press.

The early Coolgardie Hospital 1894. Hobbs, V. (1980). But Westward Look. UWA Press, p31. reproduced with permission from UWA Press.

Coolgardie Hospital staff, 1897. Hobbs, V. (1980). But Westward Look. UWA Press, p32. Reproduced with permission from UWA Press.

Pearl Ashwin (now Baumgarten), Meekatharra Hospital, 1958. This photo was taken shortly after Pearl was awarded the Daisy Bates Award for Civic Achievement.  
Pearl worked as a Nurse’s Assistant in Meekatharra and worked at Carnarvon Hospital. Pearl came home to Meekatharra late in her life to be cared for on country.  
State Library of Western Australia Image Number BA368/6/275; Storylines Project 2015. Image reproduced with consent from Pearl’s family.

Nurses quarters Coolgardie Hospital 1898. Hobbs, V. (1980). But Westward Look.  UWA Press, p31. Reproduced with permission from UWA Press.

Nurses arrive by train from Perth at Merredin Army Hospital Site, 1943. The 21st Australian General Hospital was relocated from Gaza Ridge near Tobruck to Merredin to 
care for injured and recuperating soldiers. Located in Merredin for strategic reasons and because a reliable supply of fresh water was available. Local knowledge states 
that the hospital was constructed as part of a base for counter-attack on Perth and Fremantle, should the metropolitan area have been taken by the Japanese during 
World War II. See also http://inherit.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/Public/Inventory/Details/7c29c7ae-0d23-4021-97af-7d22d925a4f6 Australian War Memorial Photograph 
Collection, Faithfull, Arthur John, Australian War Memorial. Image Number 052742. 

Matron	of	the	21st	Australian	General	Hospital	at	Merredin,	Major	E.	A	Fall	(left)	and	Captain	E.	B.	in	front	of	the	Office	of	the	Matron	In	Charge	(1943).	Australian	War	
Memorial Photograph Collection, Faithfull, Arthur John, Australian War Memorial. Image Number 053101.

Sister McPherson with the landrover in which she drove from Perth to Fitzroy Crossing (date unknown). National Archives of Australia. Call number A1200, L54090.

Halls Creek nursing and administration staff, 1989. Halls Creek Shire Register. State Library of Western Australia Image Number BA1343/8/7

Andrea Rieusset, Nurse Practitioner with Klade Thomas at Fitzroy Crossing, 2018. Andrea was awarded Nurse of the Year in 2019. Andrea was celebrated for her 
determination to make a difference with vulnerable people in the Kimberley. Andrea has worked tirelessly for women and children experiencing family and domestic 
violence in Kimberley communities. WA Country Health Service Image.

Geraldton midwives Hamish Darby and Bradley Mackintosh with new arrival Olivar Foster, 2019. WA Country Health Service Image.

Tara Lambert and Michele Lambert at the Bunbury COVID Clinic, 2020. WA Country Health Service Image.
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17 Connecting care to country WA – Emergency Telehealth Service (ETS) activity July 2018 – June 2020. ETS data disclaimer: Data Source WebEOC; extracted on the 
03/08/2020. This data does not include MH ETS, ITS, MH or STS Occasions of Service. It also excludes events where SEPARATED_DESTINATION is Did Not Wait and 
the ETS_PRIORITY is MH 1-5.

 18 Connecting care to country WA – Inpatient Telehealth Service (ITS) activity January 2018 – June 2020. ITS data disclaimer: Data Source WebEOC; extracted on the 
04/08/2020. WebEOC data is collected manually and analysed in Microsoft Excel. ITS service provision commenced on 1st January 2018 to limited sites, with restricted 
service availability hours. ITS became available 24/7 from 5th November 2019.

  19 Connecting care to country WA- Mental Health ETS Service activity July 2019 – June 2020. MH ETS Data Disclaimer: Data Source WebEOC; extracted on the 
03/08/2020. Data is collected manually and analysed in Microsoft Excel. Figures do not include instances where the Patient Did Not Wait to be assessed or where the 
site	was	directed	back	to	local	MH	Services	in	the	first	instance.	MH	ETS	service	provision	commenced	on	15th	July	2019	with	24/7	availability	

 20 Connecting care to country WA - Outpatient Telehealth Activity Chart 1: WACHS Outpatient Telehealth Activity 2018-19 and 2019-20. Data source: Outpatient Collection 
WACHS Business Intelligence Unit

Appendix 3: References and data sources
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